VISA 2021/164662-8980-0-PC L'apposition du visa ne peut en aucun cas servir d'argument de publicité Luxembourg, le 2021-03-26 Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier

# OFI FUND

# Société d'investissement à capital variable (SICAV)

# PROSPECTUS March 2021

A LUXEMBOURG UNDERTAKING FOR COLLECTIVE INVESTMENT IN TRANSFERABLE SECURITIES

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

### CONTENTS

| 1.   | Important Information   |    |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|------|---|----|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 2.   | The Board of Directors  | 4  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 3.   | Management and Administration                                 | 4  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 4.   | Glossary  | 5  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 5.   | Introduction  | 6  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 6.   | The Management Company7Principal Distributor8                 |    |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 7.   | Principal Distributor   |    |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 8.   | The Investment Advisors                                       |    |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 9.   | The Investment Managers                                       | 10 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 10.  | The Administration, Registrar and Transfer Agent              | 10 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 11.  | The Depositary and Principal Paying Agent                     | 11 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 12.  | Investment Objectives   | 12 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 13.  | 13. Summary of the Sub-Funds                                  |    |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 14.  | Risk Factors  | 21 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 15.  | Shares  | 25 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 16.  | 16. How to Subscribe for, Convert, Transfer and Redeem Shares |    |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 17.  | 17. Price Information   |    |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 18.  | Dividends   | 40 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 19.  | Taxation  | 42 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Арре | endix 1 I. Investment Guidelines and Restrictions             | 45 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|      | II. Investment Techniques and Instruments                     | 49 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|      | III. Risk Management Process                                  | 53 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|      | IV. Pooling   | 53 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|      | V. Net Asset Value per Share Calculation                      | 54 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Арре | endix 2 A. General Information                                | 57 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|      | B. Documents available for inspection                         | 59 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|      | C. Meetings of, and Reports to Shareholders                   | 60 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|      | D. Charges and Expenses                                       |    |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|      | E. Total Expense Ratio  |    |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|      | F. Benchmarks Regulation                                      | 61 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|      | G. "Article 8" Disclosure Annex                               |    |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|      | H. "Article 9" Disclosure Annex                               | 63 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|      | I. "Article 6" Disclosure Annex                               | 67 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Арре | endix 3 Investment Managers                                   | 69 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Арре | endix 4 Application Form                                      | 70 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|      |   |    |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

### **1. IMPORTANT INFORMATION**

The Directors have taken all reasonable care to ensure that the information contained in this Prospectus is, to the best of their knowledge and belief, in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything material to such information.

**OFI FUND**, an open-ended investment company with variable capital (société d'investissement à capital variable), is governed by Part I of the Luxembourg law of 17 December 2010 relating to undertakings for collective investment as amended and qualifies as a UCITS within the meaning of Article 1 (2) of the Directive. Registration of the Company in any jurisdiction does not require any authority to approve or disapprove the adequacy or accuracy of this Prospectus or the securities and portfolios held by the Company.

Subscriptions for Shares of the Company are accepted on the basis of this Prospectus and the most recent audited annual report of the Company and the most recent semi-annual report of the Company (if more recent than such annual report). Subscriptions for Shares are subject to acceptance by the Company.

A KIID for each available Class of Shares of each Sub-Fund of the Company shall be made available to investors free of charge prior to their subscription for Shares. Prospective investors must consult the KIID for the relevant Class of Shares and Sub-Fund in which they intend to invest.

No dealer, salesperson or any other person is authorized to give any information or make any representations other than those contained in this Prospectus and the other documents referred to herein in connection with the offer made hereby, and, if given or made, such information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the Company or its representatives.

Prospective purchasers of Shares should inform themselves as to the legal requirements, exchange control regulations and applicable taxes in the countries of their citizenship, residence or domicile, and should consult with their own financial adviser, stockbroker, solicitor or accountant as to any questions concerning the contents of this Prospectus.

This Prospectus may be translated into other languages. In the event that there is any inconsistency or ambiguity in relation to the meaning of any word or phrase in any translation, the English text shall prevail except to the extent (but only to the extent) required by the law of any jurisdiction where the Shares are sold, that in an action based upon disclosure in a Prospectus in a language other than English, the language of the Prospectus on which such action is based shall prevail and all disputes as to the terms thereof shall be governed by and construed in accordance with Luxembourg law.

The Company has not been registered under the United States Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, or any similar or analogous regulatory scheme enacted by any other jurisdiction except as described herein.

In addition, the Shares have not been registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or under any similar or analogous provision of law enacted by any other jurisdiction except as described herein.

The Shares may not be and will not be offered for sale, sold, transferred or delivered in the United States of America, its territories or possessions or to any "US Person" (as defined hereafter), except in a transaction which does not violate the securities laws of the United States of America.

This Prospectus may not be delivered in the United States of America, its territories or possessions to any prospective investor.

FATCA provisions impose a reporting to the US Internal Revenue Service ("**IRS**") of certain FATCA US Persons' direct and indirect ownership of non-US accounts and non-US entities. Failure to provide the requested information will lead to a 30% withholding tax applying to certain U. source income (including dividends and interest) and gross proceeds from the sale or other disposal of property that can produce US source interest or dividends.

On 28 March 2014, Luxembourg signed an intergovernmental agreement (the "**IGA**") with the United States which was implemented by the amended Luxembourg law dated 24 July 2015 (the "**FATCA Law**") in order to facilitate compliance of entities like the Company, with FATCA and avoid the above-described US withholding tax. Under the IGA, some Luxembourg entities like the Company may have to provide the Luxembourg tax authorities with information on the identity, the investments and the income received by their investors and their controlling persons. The Luxembourg tax authorities will then automatically pass the information on to the IRS.

Under the IGA, the Company will be required to obtain information on the shareholders and if applicable, inter alia, disclose the name, address and taxpayer identification number of certain FATCA US Persons that own, directly or indirectly, shares of the Company, as well as information on the balance or value of the investment.

This prospectus does not constitute an offer or solicitation by any person in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is not lawful or in which the person making such offer or solicitation is not qualified to do so. This prospectus does not constitute an offer or solicitation to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation.

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

|  | 2. THE BOARD  | OF DIRECTORS  |  |
|--|---|---|--|
| Jean-Pierre GRIMAUD – Cl<br>Directeur Général – OFI Ass<br>Jean-Marie MERCADAL – D<br>Directeur Général Délégué –<br>Franck DUSSOGE – Directo<br>Directeur Général Délégué –<br>Paul Le BIHAN – Director<br>Directeur Général – UMR<br>Karine Delpas – Director<br>Responsable de la politique | set Management<br>Director<br>- OFI Asset Management<br>or  |   |  |
|  | <b>3. MANAGEMENT AI</b>   | ND ADMINISTRATION   |  |
| Registered Office:<br>Management Company:  | 28-32, Place de la Gare<br>L-1616 Luxembourg<br>OFI LUX   | <ul> <li>Authorised Auditors of<br/>the Management Company:</li> </ul>                        | PricewaterhouseCoopers,<br>Société coopérative<br>2, rue Gerhard Mercator - BP 1443                      |
|  | 10-12 boulevard F.D. Roosevelt<br>L-2450 Luxembourg   |   | L-1014 Luxembourg  |
| Board of Directors of the<br>Management Company:   | Christophe LEPITRE - Chairman<br>Directeur Général Adjoint  | <ul> <li>Investment Advisors:</li> </ul>  | OFI Asset Management<br>20-22, rue Vernier<br>F-75017 Paris  |
|  | OFI Asset Management<br>Jean-Marie MERCADAL - Director<br>Directeur Général Délégué   | <ul> <li>Depositary and Principal<br/>Paying Agent:</li> </ul>                                | Société Générale Bank & Trust<br>11, Avenue Emile Reuter<br>L-2420 Luxembourg                            |
|  | OFI Asset Management<br>Vincent RIBUOT - Director<br>Directeur Général<br>OFI Investment Solutions<br>Jean-Pierre GRIMAUD - Director<br>Directeur Général | <ul> <li>Administration,<br/>Domiciliation and Registrar<br/>&amp; Transfer Agent:</li> </ul> | Société Générale Bank & Trust<br>(operational center)<br>28-32, Place de la Gare<br>L-1616 Luxembourg    |
|  | OFI Asset Management<br>Arnaud HIRSCH - Director<br>Conducting Officer  | Principal Distributor:  | OFI Asset Management<br>20-22, rue Vernier<br>F-75017 Paris  |
|  | OFI LUX<br>Tristan DESCLOS DE LA FONCHAIS –<br>Directeur Général Adjoint Finances et<br>Patrimoine  | Authorised Auditors:  | PricewaterhouseCoopers,<br>Société coopérative<br>2, rue Gerhard Mercator - BP 1443<br>L-1014 Luxembourg |
|  | MATMUT<br>Charles VAQUIER -<br>Independent Director   | <ul> <li>Legal Advisors:</li> </ul>   | Arendt & Medernach S.A.<br>41A, avenue J.F. Kennedy<br>L-2082 Luxembourg                                 |
|  | Thierry VALLET – Director<br>Directeur des investissements<br>Groupe MACIF  |   |  |
|  | Christophe FRESPUECH – Director<br>Directeur du développement<br>OFI Asset Management   |   |  |

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

### 4. GLOSSARY

"2010 Law" means the Luxembourg law of 17 December 2010 on undertakings for collective investment as amended from time to time.

"Business Day" means a bank business day in Luxembourg, unless otherwise stated.

"Class of Shares" means a class of Shares within each Sub-Fund which may differ from other classes of Shares within the same or another Sub-Fund in respect of the type of investor, its distribution policy or such other features as the Directors may determine.

"Company" means OFI FUND.

"CSSF Circular 11/512" means the CSSF Circular 11/512 of 30 May 2011 determining the (i) presentation of the main regulatory changes in risk management following the publication of CSSF Regulation 10-4 and ESMA clarifications, (ii) further clarifications from the CSSF on risk management rules and (iii) the definition of the content and format of the risk management process to be communicated to the CSSF.

"Dealing Day" means any Valuation Day on which subscription, redemption or conversion requests are accepted by the Company.

"Directive" means Directive 2009/65/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 July 2009 on the coordination of laws, regulations and administrative provisions relating to undertakings for collective investment in transferable securities (UCITS) as amended by Directive 2014/91/EU of 23 July 2014 as regards depositary functions, remuneration policies and sanctions ("UCITS V Directive").

"Directors" means the board of directors of the Company.

"Eligible Investment Universe" means all the European securities of companies of all market capitalization and rated by the Investment Manager on the basis of the investment criteria listed in the investment policy of the relevant Sub-Fund. Such Eligible Investment Universe shall be reviewed by the Investment Manager on a quarterly basis.

"EU" means the European Union.

"FATCA" means the Foreign Account Tax Compliance provisions of the US Hiring Incentives to Restore Employment Act enacted in March 2010.

"Group of Companies" means companies belonging to the same body of undertakings and which must draw up consolidated accounts in accordance with Council Directive 83/349/EEC of 13 June 1983 on consolidated accounts or according to recognized international accounting rules.

"Institutional Investor" means institutional investors, as defined by guidelines or recommendations issued by the Luxembourg supervisory authority from time to time and referred to in Article 174 of the 2010 Law.

"KIIDs" means key investor information documents, as defined in the 2010 Law.

"Member State" means a member state of the EU.

"MiFID II Rules" means Directive 2014/65/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 May 2014 on markets in financial instruments and amending Directive 2002/92/EC and Directive 2011/61/EU (the "MiFID II Directive"), and Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 May 2014 on markets in financial instruments and amending Regulation (EU) No 648/2012.

"Money Market Instruments" means instruments normally dealt in on the money market which are liquid, and have a value which can be accurately determined at any time.

"Net Asset Value per Share" of each class of Shares shall be determined as of any Valuation Day by dividing the net assets of the Company attributable to each class of Shares, being the value of the portion of the assets less the portion of liabilities attributable to such class, on any such Valuation Day, by the number of Shares in the relevant class then outstanding.

"Newly Industrialised Countries" ("NIC") means countries whose economies have not yet reached a developed country's status but have, in a macroeconomic sense, outpaced their developing counterparts, namely, South Africa, China, Hong Kong, India, Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, Thailand, Mexico, Brazil and Turkey.

"Non-eligible Investors" means, in respect of class I Shares investors who are not Institutional Investors, and in respect of all Shares, US Persons.

"OECD" means the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.

"Other Regulated Market" means a market which is regulated, operates regulatory and is recognized and open to the public, namely a market (i) that meets the following cumulative criteria: liquidity; multilateral order matching (general matching of bid and ask prices in order to establish a single price); transparency (the circulation of complete information in order to give clients the possibility of tracking trades, thereby ensuring that their orders are

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

executed on current conditions); (ii) on which the securities are dealt in at a certain fixed frequency; (iii) which is recognized by a state or by a public authority which has been delegated by that state or by another entity which is recognized by that state or by that public authority such as a professional association and (iv) on which the securities dealt are accessible to the public.

"Other State" means any State of Europe which is not a Member State, and any State of America, Africa, Asia, Australia and Oceania.

#### "Reference Currency of the Company" means the EURO.

"Regulatory Authority" or "CSSF" means the Luxembourg authority or its successor in charge of the supervision of the undertakings for collective investment in the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg.

"Regulated Market" means a regulated market according to the MiFID II Directive. A list of regulated markets according to the MiFID II Directive is regularly updated and published by the European Securities and Markets Authority.

"Regulation" means the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2016/438 of 17 December 2015 supplementing the Directive with regard to obligations of depositaries.

"Safe-keeping Delegate" means any entity appointed by the Depositary, to whom Safe-keeping Services (as defined in the Depositary Agreement) have been delegated in accordance with article 34bis of the 2010 Law and articles 13 to 17 of the Regulation.

"Shares" means the shares of any class of the Company issued and outstanding from time to time.

"Sub-Fund" means a specific portfolio of assets which is invested in accordance with a particular investment objective.

"Sustainability Risk" means an environmental, social or governance event or condition that, if it occurs, could cause an actual or a potential material negative impact on the value of the investments made by a Sub-Fund.

#### "Transferable Securities" means:

- · equities and other securities equivalent to equities;
- · bonds and other debt instruments;
- any other negotiable securities which carry the right to acquire any such transferable securities by subscription or exchanges, with the exclusion of techniques and instruments.

"UCITS" means an undertaking for collective investment in transferable securities within the meaning of the Directive.

"US Person" means (i) any natural person resident in the United States of America, its territories and/or possessions and/or the District of Columbia (hereinafter called the "United States"); or (ii) any corporation or partnership organized or incorporated under the laws of the United States or, if formed by one or more US Persons principally for the purpose of investing in the Company, any corporation or partnership organized or incorporated under the laws of any other jurisdiction; or (iii) any agency or branch of a foreign entity located in the United States; or (iv) any estate of which any executor or administrator is a US Person; or (v) any trust of which any trustee is a US Person; or (vi) any discretionary account or similar account (other than an estate or trust) held by a dealer or other fiduciary for the benefit or account of a US Person; or (vii) any non-discretionary account or similar account (other than an estate or trust) held by a dealer or other fiduciary for the benefit or account of a US Person; or (vii) any discretionary account or similar account (other than an estate or trust) held by a dealer or other fiduciary for the benefit or account of a US Person; or (vii) any discretionary account or similar account (other than an estate or trust) held by a dealer or other fiduciary organised, incorporated or (if an individual) resident in the United States; or (ix) any employee plan sponsored by an entity described in clause (ii) or (iii) or including as a beneficiary any person described in clause (i); or (x) any other person whose ownership or purchase of the Company's securities would involve the Company in a public offering within the meaning of Section 7(d) of the United States Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, the rules and regulations thereunder and/or the relevant pronouncement of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission or informal written advice by its staff; and (xi) any US person that would fall within the ambit of the FATCA provisions ("FATCA US Person").

"Valuation Day" means any Business Day except days on which any market on which a substantial portion of the relevant Sub-Fund's investments is traded is closed or days when normal dealings on any market are suspended. For further details please refer to Chapter 16 "How to Subscribe for, Convert, Transfer and Redeem Shares".

#### **5. INTRODUCTION**

#### **STRUCTURE**

The Company is a multi-compartment investment company incorporated under the laws of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg in the form of a *société anonyme*, organised as a *société d'investissement à capital variable* (SICAV) and qualifying as a UCITS fund under Part I of the 2010 Law. As a multicompartment company (that is, an "umbrella fund"), the Company provides shareholders with access to a range of separate Sub-Funds. The Sub-Funds invest in a diversified range of Transferable Securities throughout the major markets of the world and/or other financial assets permitted by law and managed in accordance with their specific investment objectives as further set out in Chapter 12 "Investment Objectives". Shareholders are able

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

to switch between Sub-Funds to re-align their investment portfolio to take into account changing market conditions, subject to the provisions of Chapter 16 "How to Subscribe for, Convert, Transfer and Redeem Shares" hereafter.

The Company shall be considered as one single entity. With regard to third parties, in particular towards the Company's creditors, each Sub-Fund shall be exclusively responsible for all liabilities attributable to it.

OFI LUX has been appointed as the Management Company to the Company.

#### **FORM AND OWNERSHIP OF SHARES**

Class R, R EUR H, RF EUR, RF EUR H, I, I EUR H, I CHF H, I-XL, G-I, G-R, F and OFI ACTIONS ECONOMIE POSITIVE Shares are issued in registered form only and ownership of Shares will be reflected on the share register of the Company. Confirmation of registration of Shares will be sent to each shareholder.

Where the Principal Distributor or any Sub-Distributor, acting as nominee, subscribes in its name and on behalf of an investor, such an investor shall be entitled at any time to claim direct title to the Shares.

#### Share Price Calculation

The purchase price for all classes of Shares in each Sub-Fund shall be equal to the Net Asset Value per Share of such classes on the applicable Valuation Day, plus a sales charge, if applicable, as set out in Chapter 15 "Shares". The redemption prices for all classes of Shares in each Sub-Fund shall be equal to the Net Asset Value per Share of such classes on the applicable Valuation Day, less a redemption charge, if applicable, as set out in Chapter 15 "Shares". The redemption Day, less a redemption charge, if applicable, as set out in Chapter 15 "Shares". Purchase and redemption prices are calculated on each Valuation Day.

#### > PURCHASE OF SHARES

The Management Company has appointed OFI Asset Management to act as Principal Distributor. The Principal Distributor may undertake to negotiate various distribution contracts with other companies, intermediaries and other appropriate institutions (the "Sub-Distributors").

Applications for Shares in any Sub-Fund which are made through a Sub-Distributor must be sent by the Sub-Distributor to the Registrar & Transfer Agent. The application procedure is set out in Chapter 16 "How to Subscribe For, Convert, Transfer and Redeem Shares", hereafter.

#### > SETTLEMENT

Settlement for any application must be made as set out in Chapter 16 "How to Subscribe For, Convert, Transfer and Redeem Shares", hereafter.

#### **CURRENCY OF PURCHASE**

Payment can be made in the currency of the selected class of Shares of a Sub-Fund or in any other currency which can be readily exchanged for the currency of the selected class of Shares of a Sub-Fund. The necessary foreign exchange transaction will be arranged on behalf of the investor and at the expense of the investor by the Registrar & Transfer Agent or the Principal Distributor.

### 6. THE MANAGEMENT COMPANY

The Company has appointed OFI LUX to serve as its designated management company (the "Management Company") in accordance with the 2010 Law pursuant to a management company services agreement executed with effect as of 14 December 2016 (the "Management Company Services Agreement").

Under this agreement, the Management Company provides (i) investment management services, (ii) advice services, (iii) administrative agency, corporate and domiciliary agency, and registrar and transfer agency services and (iv) marketing, principal distribution and sales services to the Company, subject to the overall supervision and control of the board of directors of the Management Company.

OFI LUX has been incorporated on 26 April 2006 as a public limited company (*société anonyme*) for an unlimited period of time under the laws of the Grand-Duchy of Luxembourg. Its articles have been published in the *Mémorial* on 13 July 2006. Its share capital amounts to EUR 200,000.- and has been fully paid-up. It is registered on the official list of Luxembourg management companies governed by Chapter 15 of the 2010 Law.

OFI LUX has also been appointed to act as Management Company for the SICAV OFI Invest as well as for the SICAV Single Select Platform.

The Management Company is in charge of the day-to-day operations of the Company.

In fulfilling its responsibilities set forth by the 2010 Law and the Management Company Services Agreement, it is permitted to delegate all or a part of its functions and duties to third parties, provided that it retains responsibility and oversight over such delegates. The appointment of third parties is subject

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

to the approval of the Company and the Regulatory Authority. The Management Company's liability shall not be affected by the fact that it has delegated its functions and duties to third parties.

The Management Company has delegated the following functions to third parties: investment management, advice, central administration, marketing and distribution.

The Management Company shall at all times act in the best interests of the shareholders and according to the provisions set forth by the 2010 Law, the Prospectus and the Articles.

The Management Company Services Agreement provides for a term of unlimited duration and may be terminated by either party upon three months' prior written notice. For its services, the Company will pay monthly compensation to the Management Company at the annual rates set forth in the section "Charges and Expenses".

Subject to the overall responsibility of the board of directors, the Management Company will provide or procure for each Sub-Fund investment management services pursuant to the Management Company Services Agreement. Pursuant to such agreement, the Management Company has agreed to provide or procure for the Company the management services necessary for its operations.

In order to implement the investment policies of each Sub-Fund, the Management Company has delegated the management of the assets of each Sub-Fund to the Investment Manager pursuant to an Investment Management Agreement.

The Management Company shall perform monitoring functions over the Sub-Funds' assets entrusted to the Investment Manager, including the compliance by the Company with the overall investment policy and investment restrictions, provided however that the Directors shall also be in charge of ensuring compliance with the overall investment policy and investment restrictions.

For the purpose of diversifying investment styles, the Management Company intends to or has appointed several investment managers (individually an "Investment Manager" and collectively the "Investment Managers") to provide investment management services in relation to each Sub-Fund's assets.

Among others, the Management Company shall have the responsibility of the selection of the Investment Managers, based on their proven expertise and/or strategies in a specific field of asset management, the allocation of assets for investment amongst them and shall perform monitoring functions over the Sub-Funds' assets entrusted to these Investment Managers, including the compliance by the Company with the overall investment policy and investment restrictions, provided however that the board of directors of the Management Company shall also be in charge of ensuring compliance with the overall investment restrictions.

The Management Company has requested to be assisted to monitor compliance by the Investment Managers with the overall investment guidelines and restrictions by Société Générale Bank & Trust Luxembourg, which has accepted to perform such monitoring duties on the terms agreed in the Administration, Registrar and Transfer Agent Agreement between the Management Company and Société Générale Bank & Trust Luxembourg, and as may be further agreed between the parties.

#### Remuneration Policy:

As a wholly owned subsidiary of OFI Asset Management, the Management Company applies the remuneration policy of OFI Group. Further to the provisions of the Directive 2014/91 Directive (the "UCITS V") Directive, the Group updated its remuneration policy in order to enhance a sound and effective risk management, to discourage an excessive risk-taking which is incoherent with the risk profiles of the Group and to reduce as much as possible any conflict of the interest between the Group entities and the investors. The Group's remuneration policy is in line with the business strategy, objectives, values and interests of the Management Company, the UCITS that it manages and of the investors of this UCITS and includes measures to avoid conflicts of interest. It identifies at first place its applicability framework: this includes all categories of staff whose activities impact the risk profile of the Group. More precisely, the remuneration policy covers risk takers at the level of the Group: asset managers, CIO, Directors of the executive committee, employees responsible for the control functions, and any employees receiving total remuneration that takes them into the same remuneration bracket as any of the aforementioned categories. The Group's remuneration policy establishes an appropriate balance between the fixed and the variable components of the global remuneration and is based on a number of gualitative and guantitative criteria, applied differently for risk takers, senior management and control functions. The assessment of performance is set in a multi-year framework appropriate to the holding period recommended to the investors of the UCITS funds managed by the Management Company in order to ensure that the assessment process is based on longer-term performance of the Company and its investment risks and that the actual payment of performance-based components of remuneration is spread over the same period. The Group's remuneration policy has been established by the Group's strategic committee which is composed by representatives of the Group's shareholders. It is in charge of the definition and the implementation of the remuneration policy. The details of the up-to-date Remuneration Policy, including but not limited to, a description of how remuneration and benefits are calculated, will be available at (http://www.ofilux.lu/index\_uk.php) and a paper copy will be made available free of charge upon request from the registered office of the Management Company.

### 7. PRINCIPAL DISTRIBUTOR

Under an Amended and Restated Principal Distribution Agreement executed with effect as of 14 December 2016, OFI Asset Management has been appointed to act as principal distributor of the Shares of each class in each Sub-Fund (the "Principal Distributor").

### PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

OFI Asset Management having its registered office at 20-22, rue Vernier, 75017 Paris, France. OFI Asset Management provides investment services to institutional, corporate or third party investors. With more than Euro 66 billion assets under management, OFI Asset Management offers a full range of investment solutions: traditional and alternative investments, multimanagement, fund manager selection, absolute return, credit, discretionary managed accounts. OFI Asset Management benefits from the support of its solid shareholders base composed by the main French Mutual Insurance Companies.

The Principal Distributor may delegate at its own costs such functions as it deems appropriate under the Amended and Restated Principal Distribution Agreement to any other Sub-Distributor permitted to be a Sub-Distributor of the Shares by the competent authority in the jurisdiction of the Sub-Distributor.

The Company, the Management Company and the Principal Distributor will at all times comply with any obligations imposed by any applicable laws, rules and regulations with respect to money laundering prevention and, in particular, with the law dated 12 November 2004 on the combat against money laundering and terrorist financing, the Grand-Ducal decree dated 1 February 2010, CSSF Regulation No 12-02 dated 14 December 2012 and CSSF Circular 13/556 on money laundering, as they may be amended or revised from time to time.

The Principal Distributor will comply with the requirements of the MiFID II Rules.

The Principal Distributor and the Sub-Distributors may be involved in the collection of subscription, conversion and redemption orders on behalf of the Company and any of the Sub-Funds and may, in that case, subject to local law in countries where Shares are offered and with the agreement of the respective Shareholders, provide a nominee service to investors purchasing Shares through them. The Principal Distributor and the Sub-Distributors may only provide such a nominee service to investors if they are (i) professionals of the financial sector subject to supervision and are resident in (a) a member state of the European Economic Area or (b) of the EU or (c) have adopted money laundering rules equivalent to those imposed by Luxembourg law in order to prevent the use of financial system for the purpose of money laundering or (ii) professionals of the financial sector being a branch or qualifying subsidiary of an eligible intermediary referred to under (i), provided that such eligible intermediary is, pursuant to its national legislation or by virtue of a statutory or professional obligation pursuant to a group policy, obliged to impose the same identification duties on its branches and subsidiaries situated abroad. Investors shall have the possibility, upon request, to invest directly in the Company without using a nominee service. Investors may elect to make use of such nominee service pursuant to which the nominee will hold the Shares in its name for and on behalf of the investors, who shall be entitled at any time to claim direct title to the Shares, and who, in order to empower the nominee to vote at any general meeting of shareholders, shall provide the nominee with specific or general voting instructions to that effect.

The Principal Distributor has the right to transfer Shares held by it for its own account in satisfaction of applications by Shareholders for subscription of Shares and to purchase Shares for its own account in satisfaction of redemption requests received by the Principal Distributor from Shareholders. In such cases, it may not price subscriptions and repurchase orders addressed to it on less favourable terms than those that would be applied to such orders had they been directly processed by the Company or the Registrar & Transfer Agent and it must regularly notify to the Registrar & Transfer Agent the orders executed by them where such orders relate to registered securities, in order to ensure (i) that the data relating to investors are updated in the register of shareholders and (ii) that the confirmations of investment may be forwarded to the new investors.

The Amended and Restated Principal Distribution Agreement may be terminated by either party at any time, without penalty, on giving 30 days' prior written notice thereof delivered or dispatched by registered mail by the one to the other party.

#### 8. THE INVESTMENT ADVISORS

Under an Amended and Restated Advice Agreement executed with effect as of 14 December 2016 OFI Asset Management has undertaken to provide investment management advice services to the Management Company.

The Investment Advisor may, subject to the approval and responsibility of the board of directors of the Management Company, sub-delegate its powers.

The Investment Advisor provides the board of directors of the Management Company with advice, reports and recommendations in connection with the management of the assets of the Sub-Funds and shall advise the board of directors of the Management Company as to the selection of the securities and other assets constituting the portfolios of these Sub-Funds.

OFI Asset Management, having its registered office at 20-22, rue Vernier, 75017 Paris, has been incorporated in France on 17 February 1992. As of 31 December 2015, its capital amounted to EUR 42,000,000.-. Its licensed code is GP 92-12.

In consideration for its services, the Management Company shall, out of its fee, pay a service fee to OFI Asset Management, which is payable monthly in arrears and calculated as a percentage figure of the average net assets of the Sub-Funds managed, as determined from time to time in the Advice Agreement. If any fees are paid to OFI Asset Management out of the net assets of any Sub-Fund, such fees shall be deducted from the Management Company's service fee and may not in the aggregate exceed the Maximum Management Charge in relation to the relevant Class of Shares set out in Chapter 15 "Shares" hereinafter.

The Amended and Restated Advice Agreement may be terminated by either the Management Company or OFI Asset Management, upon 30 days' prior written notice to the other party, given by registered mail with acknowledgement of receipt.

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

### **9. THE INVESTMENT MANAGERS**

The Management Company has entered into Investment Management Agreements with each of the Investment Managers listed in Appendix 3. At present OFI Asset Management has been appointed as sole Investment Manager in relation to the Sub-Funds.

The Investment Management Agreements were signed for an unlimited duration unless and until terminated by either party upon prior 30 days' notice to the other parties, given by registered mail with acknowledgement of receipt. An Investment Manager may, from time to time, be replaced by another Investment Manager, in which case the denomination of the Sub-Fund will be changed and Appendix 3 updated. This Prospectus will be updated prior to any appointment of a new Investment Manager.

Each of the Investment Managers has been selected by the Management Company upon its proven expertise and/or strategies in a specific field of professional asset management.

Each of the Investment Managers shall apply to the relevant Sub-Fund's assets under its management such investment policy, limitations, financial techniques and instruments as specified in this Prospectus or such further restrictions as instructed by an authorised officer from the Management Company, from time to time. The overall investment guidelines and restrictions set forth in Appendix 1 of this Prospectus take precedence over any other guidelines and restrictions are conflicting with the investment guidelines and restrictions set forth in the Prospectus.

The management of the assets of the Company is effected under the control and the responsibility of the Management Company.

While the Investment Managers are at all times subject to the direction of the Management Company, the various Investment Management Agreements provide that the Investment Managers are responsible for the management of the assets allocated to them by the Management Company. The responsibility for making decisions to buy, sell or hold a particular asset rests with the Investment Manager concerned. The Investment Managers, in providing portfolio management for the Company, will consider analysis from various sources, make the necessary investment decisions and place transactions accordingly.

Each Investment Manager is entitled to receive from the Management Company, in relation to the management of the assets of each Sub-Fund allocated to it, a fee payable monthly in arrears, calculated as a percentage figure of the average daily net assets of the relevant Sub-Fund(s) under its management, as specified from time to time in the relevant Investment Management Agreement. If any fees are paid to the Investment Managers out of the net assets of any Sub-Fund, such fees shall be deducted from the Management Company's service fee and may not in the aggregate exceed the Maximum Management Charge in relation to the relevant Class of Shares set out in Chapter 15 "Shares" hereinafter. The Investment Managers may effect transactions or arrange for the effecting of transactions through brokers with whom they have "soft commission" arrangements. The benefits provided under such arrangements will assist the Investment Managers in the provision of investment services to the Company. Specifically, the Investment Managers may agree that a broker shall be paid a commission in excess of the amount another broker would have charged for effecting such transaction as long as the broker agrees to provide "best execution" to the Company and, in the good faith judgment of the Investment Managers the amount of the commissions is reasonable in relation to the value of the brokerage and other services provided or paid for by such broker. Such services, which may take the form of research services, quotation services, news wire services, portfolio and trade analysis software systems, special execution and clearance capabilities, may, in addition to being used for the Company, also be used by the Investment Managers in connection with transactions in which the Company will not participate.

The soft commission arrangements are subject to the following conditions: (i) the Investment Manager will act at all times in the best interest of the Company when entering into soft commission arrangements; (ii) the services provided will

be in direct relationship to the activities of the Investment Manager; (iii) brokerage commissions on portfolio transactions for the Company will be directed by the Investment Manager to broker-dealers that are entities and not to individuals; (iv) the Investment Manager will provide reports to the Directors with respect to soft commission arrangements including the nature of the services it receives; and (v) the existence of soft commission arrangements shall be disclosed in the annual report.

### **10. THE ADMINISTRATION, REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT**

The Management Company has undertaken under the Management Company Services Agreement to provide the Company with certain administration services, including calculation of the Net Asset Value, assisting in the preparation and filing of financial reports, domiciliation services and registrar and transfer agency services.

The Management Company has delegated certain administration services to Société Générale Bank & Trust Luxembourg (the "Administration, Registrar and Transfer Agent") pursuant to an Administration, Registrar and Transfer Agent Agreement executed with effect as of 14 December 2016 entered into between the Management Company and the Administration, Registrar and Transfer Agent.

In consideration for its services, the Administration, Registrar and Transfer Agent shall be paid a fee as determined from time to time in the Administration, Registrar and Transfer Agent Agreement. The Administration, Registrar and Transfer Agent Agreement may be terminated by either the Management Company or the Administration, Registrar and Transfer Agent upon three months' prior written notice.

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

### **11. THE DEPOSITARY AND PRINCIPAL PAYING AGENT**

Société Générale Bank & Trust Luxembourg has been appointed as the Company's depositary and paying agent (the "Depositary").

The Depositary will assume its functions and duties in accordance with articles 33 to 37 of the 2010 Law and the Regulation. The relationship between the Company and the Depositary is subject to the terms of a depositary and paying agent agreement entered into for an unlimited period of time (the Depositary Agreement). Each party to the Depositary Agreement may terminate it upon a ninety (90) calendar days' prior written notice.

In accordance with the 2010 Law, and pursuant to the Depositary Agreement, the Depositary carries out, inter alia, the safe-keeping of the assets of the Company as well as the monitoring of the cash flows and the monitoring and oversight of certain tasks of the Company.

The Depositary may delegate Safe-keeping Services (as defined in the Depositary Agreement) to Safe-keeping Delegates under the conditions stipulated in the Depositary Agreement and in accordance with article 34bis of the 2010 Law and articles 13 to 17 of the Regulation. A list of the Safe-keeping Delegates is available on <a href="https://www.securities-services.societegenerale.com/uploads/tx\_bisgnews/Global\_list\_of\_sub\_custodians\_for\_SGSS\_2018-15\_01.pdf">https://www.securities-services.societegenerale.com/uploads/tx\_bisgnews/Global\_list\_of\_sub\_custodians\_for\_SGSS\_2018-15\_01.pdf</a>.

The Depositary is also authorized to delegate any other services under the Depositary Agreement other than Oversight Services and Cash Monitoring Services (as defined in the Depositary Agreement).

The Depositary is liable to the Company for the loss of Held In Custody Assets (as defined in the Depositary Agreement and in accordance with article 18 of the Regulation) by the Depositary or the Safe-keeping Delegate. In such case, the Depositary shall be liable to return a Held In Custody Assets of an identical type or the corresponding amount to the Company without undue delay, unless the Depositary can prove that the loss arose as a result of an external event beyond its reasonable control, the consequences of which would have been unavoidable despite all reasonable efforts to the contrary. In performing any of its other duties under the Depositary Agreement, the Depositary shall act with all due skill, care and diligence that a leading professional custodian for hire engaged in like activities would observe. The Depositary is liable to the Company for any other losses (other than loss of Held In Custody Assets described above) as a result of negligence, bad faith, fraud, or intentional failure on the part of the Depositary (and each of its directors, officers, servants or employees).

The liability of the Depositary as to Safe-keeping Services shall not be affected by any delegation as referred to in article 34bis of the 2010 Law or excluded or limited by agreement.

In case of termination of the Depositary Agreement, a new depositary shall be appointed. Until it is replaced, the resigning or, as the case may be, removed depositary shall take all necessary steps for the safeguard of the interests of the Shareholders.

The Depositary is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Société Générale, a Paris-based credit institution. The Depositary is a Luxembourg public limited company registered with the Luxembourg trade and companies register under number B 6061 and whose registered office is situated at 11, avenue Emile Reuter, L-2420 Luxembourg. Its operational center is located 28-32, place de la Gare, L-1616 Luxembourg. It is a credit institution in the meaning of the law of 5 April 1993 relating to the financial sector, as amended.

The Depositary is not responsible for any investment decisions of the Company or of one of its agents or the effect of such decisions on the performance of a relevant Sub-Fund.

In addition, Société Générale Bank & Trust Luxembourg will act as the Company's principal paying agent. In that capacity, Société Générale Bank & Trust Luxembourg will have as its principal function the operation of procedures in connection with the payment of distributions and, as the case may be, redemption proceeds on the Shares of the Company.

Up-to-date information regarding the above information will be made available to investors on request.

In all circumstances the Depositary shall, in carrying out its functions of depositary, act honestly, fairly, professionally and independently and solely in the interest of the Company and its Shareholders in accordance with article 37 of the 2010 Law.

In this respect, the Depositary has in place a policy for the prevention, detection and management of conflicts of interest resulting from the concentration of activities in Société Générale's group or from the delegation of functions to other Société Générale entities or to an entity linked to the Management Company.

In this respect, Société Générale Bank & Trust Luxembourg in its capacity, in one hand, as depositary and paying agent and, on the other hand, as administrative, registrar and transfer agent of the Company (i) has established, implemented and maintains operational an effective conflicts of interest policy; (ii) has established a functional, hierarchical and contractual separation between the performance of its depositary functions and the performance of other tasks and (iii) proceeds with the identification as well as the management and adequate disclosure of potential conflicts of interest in the manner described in the preceding paragraph.

The Depositary is not allowed to carry out activities with regard to the Company that may create conflicts of interest between the Company, the Shareholders and the Depositary itself, unless the Depositary has properly identified any such potential conflicts of interest, has functionally and hierarchically

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

separated the performance of its depositaries tasks from its other potentially conflicting tasks, and the potential conflicts of interest are properly identified, managed, monitored and disclosed to the Shareholders.

In that respect, the Depositary has in place a policy for the prevention, detection and management of conflicts of interest resulting from the concentration of activities in Société Générale's group or from the delegation of safekeeping functions to other Société Générale entities or to an entity linked to the Management Company.

This conflict of interest management policy intends to:

- Identify and analyse potential conflict of interest situations
- Record, manage and track conflict of interest situations by:

(i) Implementing permanent measures to manage conflicts of interest including the separation of tasks, the separation of reporting and functional lines, the tracking of insider lists and dedicated IT environments;

(ii) Implementing, on a case-by-case basis:

(a) Appropriate preventive measures including the creation of an ad hoc tracking list and new Chinese Walls, and by verifying that transactions are processed appropriately and/or by informing the clients in question;

(b) Or, by refusing to manage activities which may create potential conflicts of interest.

Thus, the Depositary in its capacity, in one hand, as depositary and paying agent and, on the other hand, as administrative, registrar and transfer agent of the Company has established a functional, hierarchical and contractual separation between the performance of its depositary functions and the performance of those tasks outsourced by the Company.

Regarding the delegation of the Depositary's safekeeping duties to a company linked to other Société Générale entities or to an entity linked to the Management Company, the policy implemented by the Depositary consists of a system which prevents conflicts of interest and enables the Depositary to exercise its activities in a way that ensures that the Depositary always acts in the best interests of the Company. The prevention measures consist, specifically, of ensuring the confidentiality of the information exchanged, the physical separation of the main activities which may create potential conflicts of interest, the identification and classification of remuneration and monetary and non-monetary benefits, and the implementation of systems and policies for gifts and events.

### **12. INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES**

### **General Investment Considerations**

The Company aims to provide a choice of Sub-Funds investing in a range of Transferable Securities and such other financial assets permitted by law. The objective of the Sub-Funds is to achieve a long-term total return by investing principally in a broad range of equities, equity-linked securities and bonds according to the investment policy of each Sub-Fund as set out in Chapter 13 "Summary of the Sub-Funds" hereinafter.

The Directors may, at their discretion, alter investment objectives provided that any material change in the investment objectives is notified to shareholders at least one month prior to effecting such a change in order to enable shareholders to request redemption or conversion of their Shares, free of charge, during such period. In addition, this Prospectus shall be updated accordingly.

For hedging purposes, the Company may seek to protect the asset value of the different Sub-Funds through hedging strategies consistent with the Sub-Funds' investment objectives by utilising techniques and instruments, in particular currency options, forward contracts and futures contracts, within the limits provided in the Appendix 1, section II "Investment Techniques and Instruments". In addition, each Sub-Fund may hold on an ancillary basis liquid assets.

For the purposes of efficient portfolio management of the assets of the Sub-Funds and investment purposes, the Sub-Funds may use financial derivative instruments as further set out in the investment policy of the relevant Sub-Fund such as derivatives on equities, derivatives on interest rates, derivatives on currencies, derivatives on indices and contracts for differences.

Even under unusual circumstances, they should not result in a violation of the investment objectives or in a change of the investment characteristics of a Sub-Fund. The board of directors shall decide whether a Sub-Fund may either make use of (i) the commitment approach, (ii) an absolute or (iii) a relative value-at-risk approach in relation to the limitation of its global exposure. The exposure may further be increased by transitory borrowings not exceeding 10% of the assets of a Sub-Fund.

The method used for the determination of the level of leverage of all the Sub-Funds is the commitment approach except for OFI FUND - Euro Breakeven Inflation whose level of leverage is calculated according to Value-at-Risk (VaR) approach.

The Sub-Funds must comply with the limits and restrictions set forth under Appendix 1, section I "Investment Guidelines and Restrictions".

#### > PORTFOLIO RISK MANAGEMENT

In order to protect its present and future assets and liabilities against currency fluctuation, the Sub-Fund may enter into transactions the object of which is the purchase or sale of forward foreign exchange contracts, the purchase or sale of currency call or put options, the forward purchase or sale

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

of currencies or the exchange of currencies on a mutual agreement basis provided that these transactions be made either on exchanges or over-thecounter with first class financial institutions specialising in these types of transactions and being participants of the over-the-counter markets.

Shareholders should understand that all investments involve risk and there can be no guarantee against loss resulting from an investment in any Sub-Fund(s), nor can there be any assurance that the Sub-Fund(s) investment objectives will be attained. The Management Company does not guarantee the performance or any future return of the Company or any of its Sub-Funds.

#### > PROFILE OF THE TYPICAL INVESTOR

OFI FUND – RS Global Convertible Bond, OFI FUND – Euro Breakeven Inflation, OFI FUND – RS Act4 Social Impact, OFI FUND – RS Act4 Positive Economy and OFI FUND – RS Actions Européennes

The Sub-Funds are suitable for investors considering an investment in assets of both a conservative and risky nature. Although potential losses of the Sub-Funds are expected to be moderate, the investor should however be able to accept temporary losses, in particular due to the target geographical area. In particular, OFI FUND – Euro Breakeven Inflation is suitable for investors having an investment horizon of 3 years.

Class R Shares are offered to retail investors.

Class R EUR H Shares are hedged shares denominated in Euro offered to retail investors.

Class RF EUR Shares are reserved for investors subscribing via distributors or intermediaries:

- that are subject to national legislation prohibiting all retrocessions to distributors,
  - that provide an independent advisory service as defined by the European MiFID II Rules,
- that provide an individual portfolio management service under a discretionary portfolio management agreement,
- in OFI FUND Euro Breakeven Inflation and OFI FUND RS Act4 Positive Economy.

Class RF EUR H Shares are hedged shares reserved for investors subscribing via distributors or intermediaries:

- that are subject to national legislation prohibiting all retrocessions to distributors,
- that provide an independent advisory service as defined by the European MiFID II Rules,
- that provide an individual portfolio management service under a discretionary portfolio management agreement,

in OFI FUND - RS Global Convertible Bond.

Class I Shares are offered to institutional investors.

Class I EUR H Shares are hedged shares denominated in Euro offered to institutional investors.

Class I CHF H Shares are hedged shares denominated in Swiss Franc offered to institutional investors.

Class I-XL Shares are offered to institutional investors who invest at least EUR 10,000,000.- in the relevant Sub-Funds and at least EUR 50,000,000.- in the Sub-Fund OFI FUND – RS Actions Européennes.

Class F Shares were offered for sale until 31 December 2015 to investors in the Sub-Funds OFI FUND – RS Act4 Social Impact (at that time: Euro Small Cap), OFI FUND – RS Act4 Positive Economy (at that time: SSP – OFI Euro Smaller Companies and SSP – OFI European Smaller Companies) who invested at least EUR 10,000,000.- and are currently not offered for new subscriptions. Holders of Class F Shares will be however allowed to subscribe to Class F Shares only when such subscription follows a redemption that has taken place the same business day and only for the same number of shares.

Class G-I Shares are available to institutional investors, investing with the assistance of the Company's authorised distributors in the Federal Republic of Germany and Austria.

Class G-R Shares are available to retail investors, investing with the assistance of the Company's authorised distributors in the Federal Republic of Germany and Austria.

Class OFI ACTIONS ECONOMIE POSITIVE Shares are reserved to the distribution channels of MACIF/MUTAVIE.

Shareholders should consult the Chapters 15 and 16 of this Prospectus in order to be informed which shares classes are available in each Sub-Fund.

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

### **13. SUMMARY OF THE SUB-FUNDS**

#### > OFI FUND – RS GLOBAL CONVERTIBLE BOND

The objective of this Sub-Fund is to outperform its reference benchmark the Refinitiv Convertible Bond Global Focus Index by investing mainly in convertible bonds and synthetic convertible bonds listed or dealt in on Regulated Markets or Other Regulated Markets in the world.

In order to achieve its investment objective, this Sub-Fund will base its investments on fundamental financial and extra-financial research in the selection of individual securities for long term positions.

The consideration of material ESG issues is incorporated into the investment analysis and decision-making processes in order to better assess investment opportunities and manage risk with a view toward generating sustainable, long-term returns. ESG refers to environmental, social and governance factors relevant to an investment which may have a financial impact on that investment and affect the performance of a portfolio (to varying degrees across companies, sectors, regions, asset classes and over time). Examples of ESG factors include: carbon emissions, water scarcity, waste management, biodiversity, labour management, gender diversity, health & safety, product safety, data privacy & security, executive remuneration, board independence, shareholder rights, and bribery and corruption.

The Investment Manager shall not include the following companies in the investment universe, companies:

- directly or indirectly owning thermal coal mines or developing new coal-based power generation capacity; and
- that seriously or repeatedly violate one or more of the ten principles of the United Nations Global Compact, corresponding to "very high" level controversies.

As part of the securities selection process, the Investment Manager shall exclude from the Eligible Investment Universe of the Sub-Fund the 20% of securities which do not have the best sustainable and social responsible investments ratings compared to the other securities which have been selected, and shall monitor this 20% ratio on a daily basis.

At least 90% of the portfolio holdings will undergo a sustainability analysis following ESG criterion. The ratings are calculated by the Investment Manager using third party data as a base. The equity securities selection process is available on the following website: <u>https://www.ofi-am.fr/en/isr</u>.

The Sub-Fund's assets may be invested on an ancillary basis in common stocks of companies, including common stocks resulting from the conversion of convertible bonds, depending on market conditions. The Sub-Fund may also hold cash or cash equivalents up to 30% of its assets.

It is expected that, in relation to securities mentioned above, the Sub-Fund will, on an ancillary basis, invest in new issues for which application for listing on a stock exchange or Other Regulated Market will be sought and achieved within one year of the issue, in accordance with the requirements set out in Appendix 1, Section I "Investment Guidelines and Restrictions", A) (4).

The Sub-Fund will be actively managed and the Investment Manager has the discretion to buy and sell investments on behalf of the Sub-Fund within the limits of the investment objective and policy.

The Sub-Fund will use the Benchmark index Refinitiv Convertible Bond Global Focus as a reference benchmark. The reference benchmark will be used as an indicator to measure past performance of the Sub-Fund and in the calculation of outperformance fees.

It is expected that convertible bonds within the Sub-Fund may be components of the reference benchmark, however to determine the portfolio composition the Investment Manager has full discretion in relation to the individual or sectorial weightings of the convertible bonds that are components of the reference benchmark. The Investment Manager will also use its full discretion to invest in companies or sectors not included in the Benchmark in order to take advantage of specific investment opportunities.

The investment strategy implies that the portfolio holdings may deviate from the reference benchmark. This deviation may be significant and is likely to be a key element explaining the extent to which the Sub-Fund can outperform the Refinitiv Convertible Bond Global Focus (ticker Bloomberg UCBIFX14 Index).

The Sub-Fund will not invest in contingent convertible securities ("CoCos"), ABS/MBS, distressed securities and securities in default.

The Sub-Fund will invest in financial derivative instruments for investment purposes and efficient portfolio management in accordance with the requirements set out in Appendix 1, Section I "Investment Guidelines and Restrictions", A) (7).

The Sub-Fund will in particular use futures on indices and interest rate, futures, options and swap agreements (which may be listed or over-the-counter) and may also enter into currency forward contracts. The counterparties to OTC financial derivative instruments will be selected among financial institutions from OECD member states (for the most part/predominantly EU, the United Kingdom and Switzerland), incorporated with the main legal form of each jurisdiction (SA in France, GmbH in Germany and Switzerland, Plc or Ltd in the United Kingdom, etc.) subject to prudential supervision (such as credit institutions or investment firms) and specialised in the relevant type of transaction, being of good reputation and having a minimum rating of "BBB –". The identity of the counterparties will be disclosed in the Annual Report. The counterparties will have no discretion over the composition or management of the portfolio of the Sub-Fund or the underlying assets of the financial derivative instruments.

The Sub-Fund will enter into securities lending transactions for such percentage of assets as set out in Appendix 1, Section II, sub-section D. The Sub-Fund will not enter into (i) repurchase or reverse repurchase agreements, (ii) securities borrowings, (iii) buy-sell back transactions or sell-buy back transactions, and (iv) total return swaps.

The Sub-Fund will be denominated in Euro.

This Sub-Fund uses the commitment approach to monitor and measure the global exposure.

The Sub-Fund promotes environmental or social characteristics in the sense of the Article 8 of the SFDR (please see Appendix 2 G).

#### > OFI FUND – EURO BREAKEVEN INFLATION

The objective of this Sub-Fund is to outperform its reference benchmark the Markit iBoxx Breakeven Euro-Inflation France, Germany & Italy Index by investing in fixed income securities, *e.g.* bonds and inflation indexed bonds, issued by governments, of Eurozone countries, listed or dealt in on Regulated Markets or Other Regulated Markets and denominated in Euro.

The Sub-Fund's policy is to take advantage of future rising inflation rates without providing exposure to real interest rates by implementing a breakeven inflation strategy. The break-even rate is applied to bonds and refers to the difference between the yield on a nominal fixed-rate bond and the real yield on an inflation-linked bond (such as a Treasury inflation-protected security, or Tips) of similar maturity and issuer.

At least 80% of the Sub-Fund's net assets shall be regularly invested in Euro denominated inflation-indexed fixed income securities, in principle of maturities between 5 and 20 years, issued by governments of the Eurozone. The Investment Manager may however invest at its sole discretion in instruments of shorter or longer maturities. The average rating of these fixed income securities will remain investment grade and will be in the range of the ratings of France, Germany and Italy.

The Sub-Fund may also hold cash or cash equivalents up to 20% of its net assets.

The Sub-Fund will be managed with sensitivity to the real interest rate that will normally vary between -0,5 and 0,5. The sensitivity to the real interest rates is measured by a change in the NAV per Share of the Sub Fund for a change of 1% of the real interest rates.

The Sub-Fund will be managed with sensitivity to the inflation breakeven that will vary between 7 and 11.

The Sub-Fund will be actively managed and the Investment Manager has the discretion to buy and sell investments on behalf of the Sub-Fund within the limits of the investment objective and policy.

The Sub-Fund will use the Benchmark index Markit iBoxx Breakeven Euro-Inflation France, Germany & Italy Index as a reference benchmark. The reference benchmark will be used as an indicator to measure past performance of the Sub-Fund and in the calculation of outperformance fees.

It is expected that equity securities within the Sub-Fund may be components of the reference benchmark, however to determine the portfolio composition the Investment Manager has full discretion in relation to the individual or country weightings of the fixed income securities that are components of the reference benchmark.

The investment strategy implies that the portfolio holdings may deviate from the reference benchmark. This deviation may be significant and is likely to be a key element explaining the extent to which the Sub-Fund can outperform the Markit iBoxx Breakeven Euro-Inflation France, Germany & Italy Index (ticker Bloomberg IBXXBK13 Index).

The Sub-Fund will not invest in contingent convertible securities ("CoCos"), ABS/MBS, distressed securities and securities in default.

It is expected that, in relation to securities mentioned above, this Sub-Fund will, on an ancillary basis, invest in new issues for which application for listing on a stock exchange or Other Regulated Market will be sought and achieved within one year of the issue, in accordance with the requirements set out in Appendix 1, Section I, "Investment Guidelines and Restrictions", A) (4).

Uses of investment techniques and instruments is allowed for the purpose of gaining exposure to the market pursuant the Sub-Fund's strategy but also during the initial funding and times of large cash inflows, or for the purpose of reducing exposure to the market. The Sub-Fund will invest in financial derivative instruments in accordance with the requirements set out in Appendix 1, Section I "Investment Guidelines and Restrictions", A) (7).

The Sub-Fund will enter into securities lending transactions for such percentage of assets as set out in Appendix 1, Section II, sub-section D. The Sub-Fund will not enter into (i) repurchase or reverse repurchase agreements, (ii) securities borrowings, (iii) buy-sell back transactions or sell-buy back transactions, and (iv) total return swaps.

The Sub-Fund will in particular use derivative instruments such as futures on interest rates, and swap agreements (which may be listed or over-thecounter). The counterparties to OTC financial derivative instruments will be selected among financial institutions from OECD member states (for the most part/predominantly EU, the United Kingdom and Switzerland), incorporated with the main legal form of each jurisdiction (SA in France, GmbH in Germany and Switzerland, Plc or Ltd in the United Kingdom, etc.) subject to prudential supervision (such as credit institutions or investment firms) and specialised in the relevant type of transaction, being of good reputation and having a minimum rating of "BBB –". The identity of the counterparties will be disclosed

in the Annual Report. The counterparties will have no discretion over the composition or management of the portfolio of the Sub-Fund or the underlying assets of the financial derivative instruments.

The Sub-Fund will be denominated in Euro.

The Sub-Fund's exposure to derivative instruments will be covered and will be risk managed using the Value-at-Risk ("VaR") approach methodology in accordance with applicable law and relevant CSSF circulars on risk measurement.

The calculation method for the leverage is the sum of the (risk adjusted) notionals of the derivatives. The expected level of leverage of the Sub-Fund typically does not exceed 200% of the net assets of the Sub-Fund. However, under certain circumstances the level of leverage might exceed the aforementioned level.

According to the applicable law and relevant CSSF circulars, the Sub-Fund uses Absolute VaR, with the limit of 20% of the Sub-Fund's assets under management, with a confidence level of at least 99%, using a 20 day (one month) holding period, to measure global risk (global exposure) linked to derivative instruments.

The Sub-Fund does not (i) promote environmental or social characteristics in the sense of the Article 8 of the SFDR nor (ii) have sustainable investment as its objective in the sense of the Article 9 of the SFDR (please see Appendix 2 I).

### > OFI FUND – RS ACT4 SOCIAL IMPACT

The objective of this Sub-Fund is to outperform its reference benchmark the Stoxx Europe 600 Net Return by investing in quoted equity securities of companies, domiciled and listed in Regulated Markets or Other Regulated Markets within the European Economic Area and the United Kingdom. To that end the Sub-Fund will select socially responsible companies with good performance outlook and which are engaged with their stakeholders such as employees, suppliers, clients or governments. The Investment Manager will be bound by these investment criteria.

In order to achieve its investment objective, this Sub-Fund will base its investments on fundamental financial and extra-financial research in the selection of individual securities for long term positions.

The consideration of material ESG issues is incorporated into the investment analysis and decision-making processes in order to better assess investment opportunities and manage risk with a view toward generating sustainable, long-term returns. ESG refers to environmental, social and governance factors relevant to an investment which may have a financial impact on that investment and affect the performance of a portfolio (to varying degrees across companies, sectors, regions, asset classes and over time). Examples of ESG factors include: carbon emissions, water scarcity, waste management, biodiversity, labour management, gender diversity, health & safety, product safety, data privacy & security, executive remuneration, board independence, shareholder rights, and bribery and corruption.

The Investment Manager shall not include the following companies in the investment universe, companies:

- directly or indirectly owning thermal coal mines or developing new coal-based power generation capacity; and
- that seriously or repeatedly violate one or more of the ten principles of the United Nations Global Compact, corresponding to "very high" level controversies.

As part of the equity securities selection process, the Investment Manager shall exclude from the Eligible Investment Universe of the Sub-Fund the 20% of equity securities which do not have the best sustainable and social responsible investments ratings compared to the other equity securities which have been selected, and shall monitor this 20% ratio on a daily basis.

Simultaneously, the Investment manager shall only select stocks targeting positive social impact. Social impact shall be measured through a social impact scoring based on 5 criteria: Mission, Workforce, Social Progress, Added Value breakdown and Social Inclusion. To that end, the Investment Manager shall exclude from the Eligible Investment Universe of the Sub-Fund the 20% of equity securities which do not have the best social impact ratings compared to the other equity securities which have been selected, and shall monitor this 20% ratio on a daily basis.

At least 90% of the portfolio holdings will undergo a sustainability analysis following ESG criterion. The ratings are calculated by the Investment Manager using third party data as a base. The equity securities selection process is available on the following website: <u>https://www.ofi-am.fr/en/isr</u>.

The Sub-Fund's strategy remains discretionary depending on the Investment Manager's market anticipation. As companies following social impact objectives might encompass a broad range of market capitalisations, the policy of the Sub-Fund is to invest in all kinds of market capitalisations with neither sector, country nor benchmark allocation constraints.

At least 75% of the Sub-Fund's net assets shall be permanently invested in common stock of companies having their registered office, quoted or carrying out their business predominantly in the European Economic Area or in the United Kingdom.

Up to 25% of the Sub-Fund's net assets may be invested in Swiss equity securities.

The Sub-Fund may invest up to 10% of its net assets in debt securities or in other types of equity securities, including ADRs, GDRs, convertibles bonds and warrants on equity securities listed on or dealt in Regulated Markets or Other Regulated Markets.

The Sub-Fund may also hold cash or cash equivalents up to 20% of its net assets.

The Sub-Fund may be exposed to all European Economic Area, United Kingdom and Switzerland markets and currencies. Additionally, the Sub-Fund may be exposed to other OECD currencies for up to 5% of its assets.

The Sub-Fund will be actively managed and the Investment Manager has the discretion to buy and sell investments on behalf of the Sub-Fund within the limits of the investment objective and policy.

The Sub-Fund will use the Benchmark index Stoxx Europe 600 Net Return as a reference benchmark. The reference benchmark will be used as an indicator to measure past performance of the Sub-Fund and in the calculation of outperformance fees.

It is expected that equity securities within the Sub-Fund may be components of the reference benchmark, however to determine the portfolio composition the Investment Manager has full discretion in relation to the individual or sectorial weightings of the equity securities that are components of the reference benchmark. The Investment Manager will also use its full discretion to invest in companies or sectors not included in the Benchmark in order to take advantage of specific investment opportunities.

The investment strategy implies that the portfolio holdings may deviate from the reference benchmark. This deviation may be significant and is likely to be a key element explaining the extent to which the Sub-Fund can outperform the Stoxx Europe 600 Net Return (ticker Bloomberg SXXR Index).

The Sub-Fund will not invest in contingent convertible securities ("CoCos"), ABS/MBS, distressed securities and securities in default.

It is expected that, in relation to securities mentioned above, this Sub-Fund will, on an ancillary basis, invest in new issues for which application for listing on a stock exchange or Other Regulated Market will be sought and achieved within one year of the issue, in accordance with the requirements set out in Appendix 1, Section I, "Investment Guidelines and Restrictions", A)(4).

This Sub-Fund uses the commitment approach to monitor and measure the global exposure.

Uses of investment techniques and instruments are allowed for hedging purposes and for efficient portfolio management. The Sub-Fund will invest in financial derivative instruments in accordance with the requirements set out in Appendix 1, Section I "Investment Guidelines and Restrictions", A) (7) of the Prospectus. The Sub-Fund will in particular use listed derivative instruments such as call or put options and/or futures on transferable securities and financial indices.

The Sub-Fund will not enter into (i) repurchase or reverse repurchase agreements, (ii) securities lending and securities borrowings, (iii) buy-sell back transactions or sell-buy back transactions, and (iv) total return swaps.

The Sub-Fund will not invest in OTC derivatives other than currency forward contracts. The counterparties to OTC financial derivative instruments will be selected among financial institutions from OECD member states (for the most part/predominantly EU, the United Kingdom and Switzerland), incorporated with the main legal form of each jurisdiction (SA in France, GmbH in Germany and Switzerland, Plc or Ltd in the United Kingdom, etc.) subject to prudential supervision (such as credit institutions or investment firms) and specialised in the relevant type of transaction, being of good reputation and having a minimum rating of "BBB –". The identity of the counterparties will be disclosed in the Annual Report. The counterparties will have no discretion over the composition or management of the portfolio of the Sub-Fund or the underlying assets of the financial derivative instruments.

The Sub-Fund will be denominated in Euro.

The Sub-Fund has sustainable investment as its objective in the sense of the Article 9 of the SFDR (please see Appendix 2 H).

#### > OFI FUND – RS ACT4 POSITIVE ECONOMY

The objective of this Sub-Fund is to outperform its reference benchmark the Stoxx Europe 600 Net Return by investing in quoted equity securities of companies, domiciled and listed in Regulated Markets or Other Regulated Markets within the European Economic Area and the United Kingdom. In order to achieve its investment objective, this Sub-Fund will base its investments on fundamental research in the selection of individual securities for long positions.

To that end the Sub-Fund will select companies with good performance outlook and which contribute to the "Positive Economy" define by four thematic, energy transition, natural resources preservation, heath/safety/wellness and social inclusion. As part of the equity securities selection process, the Investment Manager shall only invest in equity securities of companies which generate at least 20% of their turnover from one of the four thematic listed above, in order to generate a positive social and environmental impact.

The consideration of material ESG issues is incorporated into the investment analysis and decision-making processes in order to better assess investment opportunities and manage risk with a view toward generating sustainable, long-term returns. ESG refers to environmental, social and governance factors relevant to an investment which may have a financial impact on that investment and affect the performance of a portfolio (to varying degrees across companies, sectors, regions, asset classes and over time). Examples of ESG factors include: carbon emissions, water scarcity, waste management, biodiversity, labour management, gender diversity, health & safety, product safety, data privacy & security, executive remuneration, board independence, shareholder rights, and bribery and corruption.

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

The Investment Manager shall not include the following companies in the investment universe, companies:

- directly or indirectly owning thermal coal mines or developing new coal-based power generation capacity; and
- that seriously or repeatedly violate one or more of the ten principles of the United Nations Global Compact, corresponding to "very high" level controversies.

As part of the equity securities selection process, the Investment Manager shall also exclude from the eligible investment universe of the Sub-Fund the 20% of equity securities which do not have the best sustainable and social responsible investments ratings compared to the other equity securities which have been selected, and shall monitor this 20% ratio on a daily basis.

At least 90% of the portfolio holdings will undergo a sustainability analysis following ESG criterion. The ratings are calculated by the Investment Manager using third party data as a base. The equity securities selection process is available on the following website: <u>https://www.ofi-am.fr/en/isr</u>.

The Sub-Fund's strategy remains discretionary depending on the Investment Manager's market anticipation. The Investment Manager might also use in the same discretionary manner its expertise on extra-financial analysis to select investments.

At least 75% of the Sub-Fund's net assets shall be permanently invested in common stock of companies having their registered office, quoted or carrying out their business predominantly in the European Economic Area or in the United Kingdom.

Up to 25% of the Sub-Fund's net assets may be invested in Swiss equity securities.

As companies following positive economy objectives might encompass a broad range of financial sectors and market capitalisations, the policy of the Sub-Fund is to invest in all kinds of market capitalisations with no sector or benchmark allocation constraint.

The Sub-Fund may also hold cash or cash equivalents up to 20% of its net assets.

The Sub-Fund may be exposed to all European Economic Area, United Kingdom and Switzerland markets and currencies. Additionally, the Sub-Fund may be exposed to other OECD currencies for up to 5% of its assets.

The Sub-Fund will be actively managed and the Investment Manager has the discretion to buy and sell investments on behalf of the Sub-Fund within the limits of the investment objective and policy.

The Sub-Fund will use the Benchmark index Stoxx Europe 600 Net Return as a reference benchmark. The reference benchmark will be used as an indicator to measure past performance of the Sub-Fund and in the calculation of outperformance fees.

It is expected that equity securities within the Sub-Fund may be components of the reference benchmark, however to determine the portfolio composition the Investment Manager has full discretion in relation to the individual or sectorial weightings of the equity securities that are components of the reference benchmark. The Investment Manager will also use its full discretion to invest in companies or sectors not included in the Benchmark in order to take advantage of specific investment opportunities.

The investment strategy implies that the portfolio holdings may deviate from the reference benchmark. This deviation may be significant and is likely to be a key element explaining the extent to which the Sub-Fund can outperform the Stoxx Europe 600 Net Return (ticker Bloomberg SXXR Index).

The Sub-Fund will not invest in contingent convertible securities ("CoCos"), ABS/MBS, distressed securities and securities in default.

It is expected that, in relation to securities mentioned above, this Sub-Fund will, on an ancillary basis, invest in new issues for which application for listing on a stock exchange or Other Regulated Market will be sought and achieved within one year of the issue, in accordance with the requirements set out in Appendix 1, Section I, "Investment Guidelines and Restrictions", A)(4).

This Sub-Fund uses the commitment approach to monitor and measure the global exposure.

Uses of investment techniques and instruments are allowed for hedging purposes and for efficient portfolio management. The Sub-Fund will invest in financial derivative instruments in accordance with the requirements set out in Appendix 1, Section I "Investment Guidelines and Restrictions", A) (7) of the Prospectus. The Sub-Fund will in particular use listed derivative instruments such as single name options and/or futures on financial indices or currencies.

The Sub-Fund will not enter into (i) repurchase or reverse repurchase agreements, (ii) securities lending and securities borrowings, (iii) buy-sell back transactions or sell-buy back transactions, and (iv) total return swaps.

The Sub-Fund will not invest in OTC derivatives other than currency forward contracts. The counterparties to OTC financial derivative instruments will be selected among financial institutions from OECD member states (for the most part/predominantly EU, the United Kingdom and Switzerland), incorporated with the main legal form of each jurisdiction (SA in France, GmbH in Germany and Switzerland, Plc or Ltd in the United Kingdom, etc.) subject to prudential supervision (such as credit institutions or investment firms) and specialised in the relevant type of transaction, being of good reputation and having a minimum rating of "BBB –". The identity of the counterparties will be disclosed in the Annual Report. The counterparties will have no discretion over the composition or management of the portfolio of the Sub-Fund or the underlying assets of the financial derivative instruments.

The Sub-Fund will be denominated in Euro.

The Sub-Fund has sustainable investment as its objective in the sense of the Article 9 of the SFDR (please see Appendix 2 H).

#### > OFI FUND – RS ACTIONS EUROPEENNES

This Sub-Fund is a Feeder Fund and will as such at all times invest at least 85 % of its assets in shares of the Master Fund (OFI FUND – RS ACT4 POSITIVE ECONOMY).

The Sub-Fund may hold up to 15% of its assets in ancillary liquid assets, including cash, cash equivalents and short term bank deposits.

The objective of this Sub-Fund is to invest in the Master Fund, the objective of which is to outperform its reference benchmark the Stoxx Europe 600 Net Return by investing in quoted equity securities of companies, domiciled and listed in Regulated Markets or Other Regulated Markets within the European Economic Area and the United Kingdom. The Sub-Fund will use the Benchmark index Stoxx Europe 600 Net Return as a reference benchmark. The reference benchmark will be used as an indicator to measure past performance of the Sub-Fund.

The Sub-Fund intends to realise its investment objective by investing substantially all of its assets into the Class N Shares issued by the Master Fund and having a Maximum Management Charge set at 1%. The Master Fund will not charge any sales charges to the Sub-Fund while investing in such Class N Shares issued by the Master Fund. The Master Fund will invest in quoted equity securities of European companies. The investment objective and policy of the Master Fund, its organisation and risk profile are summarised throughout this Prospectus. The fees and expenses incurred by the Master Fund, as further described in this Prospectus (please refer to Appendix 2, section D "Charges and expenses" for all the charges and expenses that may be paid by the Master Fund and then paid by the Feeder Fund), as well as the charges related to Class N Shares are paid by the Feeder Fund and indirectly by its Shareholders which may have a negative impact on the NAV per Share of the Feeder Fund. Further, the KIID of both the Sub-Fund and the Master Fund will show information which combines the costs of both the Classes of Shares of the Feeder Fund and its corresponding Share Class of the Master Fund.

The residual assets of the Sub-Fund will consist in ancillary liquid assets, as described above, as may be required from time to time for dealing liquidity purposes and payment of costs and expenses of the Sub-Fund. The Sub-Fund intends to minimize the level of ancillary liquid assets held for these purposes. The Sub-Fund will not enter into financial derivative instruments.

If and to the extent that voting rights attached to shares of the Master Fund will be exercised on behalf of the Sub-Fund, a summary description of the strategies followed in the exercise of such rights, as well as the actions taken on the basis of those strategies, will be made available to Shareholders upon their specific request addressed to the Company.

It is expected that the performance of the Sub-Fund will be broadly in line with that of the Master Fund subject to its level of investment in the Master Fund and safe for additional fund expenses at the level of the Sub-Fund which will affect its performance.

Investors should note that investment in the Sub-Fund is not suitable for UCITS since the Sub-Fund invests at least 85% of its assets in the Master Fund.

This Sub-Fund uses the commitment approach to monitor and measure the global exposure.

The Sub-Fund will be denominated in Euro.

#### Investment policy of the Master Fund

The objective of the Master-Fund is to outperform its reference benchmark the Stoxx Europe 600 Net Return by investing in quoted equity securities of companies, domiciled and listed in Regulated Markets or Other Regulated Markets within the European Economic Area and the United Kingdom. In order to achieve its investment objective, the Master Fund will base its investments on fundamental research in the selection of individual securities for long positions.

To that end the Master Fund will select companies with good performance outlook and which contribute to the "Positive Economy" define by four thematic, energy transition, natural resources preservation, heath/safety/wellness and social inclusion. As part of the equity securities selection process, the Investment Manager shall only invest in equity securities of companies which generate at least 20% of their turnover from one of the four thematic listed above, in order to generate a positive social and environmental impact.

As part of the equity securities selection process, the Investment Manager shall also exclude from the eligible investment universe of the Master Fund the 20% of equity securities which do not have the best sustainable and social responsible investments ratings compared to the other equity securities which have been selected, and shall monitor this 20% ratio on a daily basis.

The Master Fund's strategy remains discretionary depending on the Investment Manager's market anticipation. The Investment Manager might also use in the same discretionary manner its expertise on extra-financial analysis to select investments.

At least 75% of the Master Fund's net assets shall be permanently invested in common stock of companies having their registered office, quoted or carrying out their business predominantly in the European Economic Area or in the United Kingdom.

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

Up to 25% of the Master Fund's net assets may be invested in Swiss equity securities.

As companies following positive economy objectives might encompass a broad range of financial sectors and market capitalisations, the policy of the Master Fund is to invest in all kinds of market capitalisations with no sector or benchmark allocation constraint.

The Master Fund may also hold cash or cash equivalents up to 20% of its net assets.

The Master Fund may be exposed to all European Economic Area, United Kingdom and Switzerland markets and currencies. Additionally, the Master Fund may be exposed to other OECD currencies for up to 5% of its assets.

The Master Fund will be actively managed and the Investment Manager has the discretion to buy and sell investments on behalf of the Master Fund within the limits of the investment objective and policy.

The Master Fund will use the Benchmark index Stoxx Europe 600 Net Return as a reference benchmark. The reference benchmark will be used as an indicator to measure past performance of the Master Fund and in the calculation of outperformance fees.

It is expected that equity securities within the Master Fund may be components of the reference benchmark, however to determine the portfolio composition the Investment Manager has full discretion in relation to the individual or sectorial weightings of the equity securities that are components of the reference benchmark. The Investment Manager will also use its full discretion to invest in companies or sectors not included in the Benchmark in order to take advantage of specific investment opportunities.

The investment strategy implies that the portfolio holdings may deviate from the reference benchmark. This deviation may be significant and is likely to be a key element explaining the extent to which the Master Fund can outperform the Stoxx Europe 600 Net Return (ticker Bloomberg SXXR Index).

The Master Fund will not invest in contingent convertible securities ("CoCos"), ABS/MBS, distressed securities and securities in default.

It is expected that, in relation to securities mentioned above, the Master Fund will, on an ancillary basis, invest in new issues for which application for listing on a stock exchange or Other Regulated Market will be sought and achieved within one year of the issue, in accordance with the requirements set out in Appendix 1, Section I, "Investment Guidelines and Restrictions", A)(4).

The Master Fund uses the commitment approach to monitor and measure the global exposure.

Uses of investment techniques and instruments are allowed for hedging purposes and for efficient portfolio management. The Master Fund will invest in financial derivative instruments in accordance with the requirements set out in Appendix 1, Section I "Investment Guidelines and Restrictions", A) (7) of the Prospectus. The Master Fund will in particular use listed derivative instruments such as single name options and/or futures on financial indices or currencies.

The Master Fund will not enter into (i) repurchase or reverse repurchase agreements, (ii) securities lending and securities borrowings, (iii) buy-sell back transactions or sell-buy back transactions, and (iv) total return swaps.

The Master Fund will not invest in OTC derivatives other than currency forward contracts. The counterparties to OTC financial derivative instruments will be selected among financial institutions from OECD member states (for the most part/predominantly EU, the United Kingdom and Switzerland), incorporated with the main legal form of each jurisdiction (SA in France, GmbH in Germany and Switzerland, PIc or Ltd in the United Kingdom, etc.) subject to prudential supervision (such as credit institutions or investment firms) and specialised in the relevant type of transaction, being of good reputation and having a minimum rating of "BBB –". The identity of the counterparties will be disclosed in the Annual Report. The counterparties will have no discretion over the composition or management of the portfolio of the Master Fund or the underlying assets of the financial derivative instruments.

The Sub-Fund will be denominated in Euro.

The Sub-Fund has sustainable investment as its objective in the sense of Article 9 of the SFDR (please see Appendix 2 H).

The Directors of the Company have decided that, in respect of all Sub-Funds, not more than 10% of the assets of any Sub-Fund may in the aggregate be invested in UCITS or UCIs.

### **14. RISK FACTORS**

### **GENERAL**

An investment in the Company involves certain risks. The investments within each Sub-Fund are subject to the risk that the NAV per Share of each Sub-Fund will fluctuate in response to changes in economic conditions, interest rates, and the market's perception of the securities held by the Subthat the Funds; accordingly, no be given investment objectives will be achieved. assurance can

#### Investing in Equity Securities

Investing in equity securities may offer a higher rate of return than those in short term and longer term debt securities. However, the risks associated with investments in equity securities may also be higher, because the investment performance of equity securities depends upon factors which are difficult to predict. Such factors include the possibility of sudden or prolonged market declines and risks associated with individual companies. The fundamental risk associated with any equity portfolio is the risk that the value of the investments it holds might decrease in value. Equity security values may fluctuate in response to the activities of an individual company or in response to general market and/or economic conditions. Historically, equity securities have provided greater long-term returns and have entailed greater short-term risks than other investment choices. The investments in securities of newer companies may be riskier than the investments in more established companies.

The investments in warrants involve a greater degree of risk, as the greater volatility in the prices of warrants may result in greater volatility in the price of Shares.

Investors should be aware that the value of the Shares may fall as well as rise and a Shareholder on transfer or redemption of Shares or liquidation may not get back the amount initially invested. There can be no assurance that the investment objectives of the Sub-Fund will be achieved.

#### Investment in Mid and Small Cap securities

To the extent a Sub-Fund invests in securities of medium sized and small capitalization companies, such Sub Funds' investments in smaller, newer companies may be riskier than investments in larger, more established companies. The stocks of medium-size and small companies are usually less stable in price and less liquid than the stocks of larger companies.

#### > INVESTMENTS IN DEBT SECURITIES

Debt securities are subject to the risk of an issuer's inability to meet principal and interest payments on the obligation (credit risk) and may also be subject to price volatility due to such factors as interest rate sensitivity, market perception of the creditworthiness of the issuer and general market liquidity (market risk).

#### > INVESTMENT IN EMERGING MARKETS

For the Sub-Funds authorised to invest in emerging markets, investors should be aware that some markets in which Sub-Funds may invest are emerging markets subject to periods of growth, instability and change. The activity of custodian banks is not as developed in emerging countries and this may lead to difficulties in the liquidation and registration of transactions. The stock exchanges concerned are smaller and more volatile than the stock markets of more developed countries. A small number of issuers account for a large share of market capitalisation and quotation value of these exchanges. In the past, some of these exchanges have experienced substantial volatility of prices or were closed unexpectedly and for long periods of time. There is no guarantee that such events will not be repeated.

In emerging markets there is the risk of political or economic changes which could unfavourably influence the value of a Sub-Fund's investment. In these regions, the risk that the main investment objective, i.e. appreciation of capital, will not be achieved is even more substantial.

#### INVESTMENT IN RUSSIA AND UKRAINE

Equity investments in Russia and Ukraine are currently subject to certain risks with regard to the ownership and custody of securities. This results from the fact that no physical share certificates are issued and ownership of securities is evidenced by entries in the books of a company or its registrar (which is neither an agent nor responsible to the Depositary, other than by the local regulation).

No certificates representing shareholdings in Russian and Ukrainian companies will be held by the Depositary or any of its local correspondents or in an effective central depositary system.

The National Settlement Depository ("NSD") acquired a central securities depository ("CSD") license from the Russian regulator, the FSFM, in November 2012 and has now become an eligible CSD in Russia by establishing electronic links with the 40 registrars in the Russian Federation and

implementing all the requirements detailed in the CSD Law. Over the weekend of March 30 and 31, 2013, the NSD renamed all its registrar securities accounts to CSD eligible securities accounts. These CSD securities accounts are reconciled on a daily basis; irrevocable and finality of settlement is executed by the NSD, with the records of the CSD securities accounts prevailing over the records held by the registrars. Only the NSD has exclusive rights to operate CSD securities accounts with the registrars.

In September 2012, the NSD became the sole settlement depository for all trading on the Moscow Exchange MICEX-RTS for the Main, Standard and Classic trading segments. The NSD as CSD is mandatory for equities of Open Joint Stock Companies ("OJSC") traded on-exchange; equities of OJSC traded OTC with a prospectus of issuance (i.e. placed by open subscription, or placed by closed subscription if number of shareholders >500); units of investment funds traded on-exchange and all bonds issued in the form of a global certificate. These securities are held in an NSD CSD account.

With the full implementation of the NSD as the central securities depository for all Russian securities instruments, including Russian equities, J.P. Morgan has conducted an assessment of the NSD and has determined that it meets the eligibility requirements for all Russian instruments under U.S. SEC rule 17f-7, which is a benchmark for the assessment of depository risk. The CSD now has legal title of the securities and its records prevail – similar to what we see in other markets.

Although the NSD implementation has been completed and the safekeeping and settlement risk has therefore been reduced, corporate action processing remains unchanged. Issuers and registrars are still prominent in the validation and approval of documentation requirements for corporate action processing.

During 2014, the "Foreign Nominee Holder" account structure was introduced; this has reduced the amount of documentation and Know Your Client ("KYC") required from clients and moves us a little closer to legislation being adopted which will clarify standards with respect to Corporate Actions; however, it remains today that there are unclear market standards with respect to the completion and submission of corporate action elections in the Russian market due to inconsistent documentation requirements and different approval criteria that vary by registrar and/or issuer.

#### **WITHDRAWAL OF THE UNITED KINGDOM FROM THE EU**

As at the date of this Prospectus, the exit by the United Kingdom from the EU ("Brexit") has resulted in global economic and political uncertainty and it is unknown what the impact shall be on the economic or political environment of each of the United Kingdom and the EU. On 29 March 2017, the United Kingdom's government gave notice of its intention to withdraw from the EU pursuant to Article 50 on the Treaty of the EU. On 31 January 2020 at 11 p.m. (London Time), the United Kingdom exited from the EU. On the basis of the agreement for an orderly withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the EU, the United Kingdom benefits from a transitionary period, pursuant to which all EU Treaties and EU legislation still apply to the United Kingdom. This transitionary period ends on 31 December 2020. At the end of this transitionary period and in the absence of agreement determining the terms of the United Kingdom's relationship with the EU, the United Kingdom will be considered a third country as of 1 January 2021.

Negotiations have commenced seeking to determine the terms of the United Kingdom's relationship with the EU, including the terms of trade between the United Kingdom and the EU, after such transitionary period. In addition, the United Kingdom will be required to negotiate with other countries with which the United Kingdom previously traded on the basis of agreements concluded with the EU (having been members thereof).

The United Kingdom's exit from the EU may result in regulatory change for the United Kingdom since a significant portion of the United Kingdom regulatory regime is derived from EU directives and regulations. Such uncertainty could lead to a high degree of economic and market disruption and uncertainty. It is not possible to ascertain how long this period will last and the impact it will have within the European Union markets, including market value and liquidity, for securities similar to the securities in particular. Such conditions could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects of the issuer, the Investment Manager and other transaction parties. The issuer cannot predict when political stability will return, or when the market conditions relating to securities similar to the securities.

#### INDIRECT COSTS

If a Sub-Fund invests in other UCITS and/or UCIs, these investments may entail a duplication of certain fees and expenses for the shareholders such as subscription, redemption, depositary, administration and management fees.

#### > INVESTMENT IN SYNTHETIC CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Investors should be aware that the price of the underlying and the interest rate sensitivity may have an adverse impact on the value of the synthetic convertible bonds.

#### **WARRANTS**

Investors should be aware of, and prepared to accept, the greater volatility in the prices of warrants which may result in greater volatility in the price of Shares. Thus, the nature of the warrants will involve shareholders in a greater degree of risk than is the case with conventional securities.

#### > DERIVATIVE INVESTMENTS

An investment in derivatives may involve additional risks for investors. These additional risks may arise as a result of any or all of the following: (i) leverage factors associated with transactions in the Sub-Fund; and/or (ii) the creditworthiness of the counterparties to such derivative transactions; and/or (iii) the potential illiquidity of the markets for derivative instruments. To the extent that derivative instruments are utilised for speculative purposes, the overall risk of loss to the Sub-Fund may be increased. To the extent that derivative instruments are utilised for hedging purposes, the risk of loss to the Sub-Fund may be increased. To the derivative instrument and the value of the security or position which it is hedging are insufficiently correlated.

#### > INVESTMENT IN A MASTER FUND

The ability of a Feeder Fund to accept and process orders for subscription and redemption is dependent on a Master Fund. In the event that the Master Fund fails or refuses to process an order for subscription or redemption, or fails to settle an order for redemption, the Feeder Fund shall not be able to process an investor's subscription or redemption order, or pay redemption monies.

In the event that the Master Fund is closed to subscriptions and/or redemptions, or during any period in which the calculation of the net asset value per share / unit of the Master Fund has been suspended, the Feeder-Fund shall not be able to process any orders for subscription or redemptions it receives and the Directors are likely to resolve to suspend the calculation of the Net Asset Value per Share in those circumstances, in accordance with Appendix 1, Section V. "Net Asset Value Per Share calculation".

Investors should review the prospectus of the Master Fund for a full description of the circumstances in which subscriptions and/or redemptions of the Master Fund may be suspended or may otherwise refuse to accept orders for subscription or redemption.

A Feeder Fund will be subject to specific risks associated with its investment into the Master Fund as well as specific risks incurred at the level of the Master Fund and its investments. If the Master Fund invests in a particular asset category, investment strategy or financial or economic market, the Feeder Fund will then become more susceptible to fluctuations in value resulting from adverse economic conditions affecting the performance of that particular asset category, investment strategy or financial or economic market.

Therefore, before investing in Shares of the Feeder Fund, prospective investors should carefully read the description of the risk factors relating to an investment in the Master Fund, as disclosed in the prospectus of the Master Fund.

In addition to the above risk factors, prospective investors in Shares of a Feeder Fund should consider the following risks associated with the Feeder Fund's investment in a Master Fund.

#### Liquidity and Valuation Risk

It is intended that the Feeder Fund will invest substantially all of its assets in the Master Fund, save for a residual cash amount which may be required from time to time for dealing liquidity purposes and payment of costs and expenses of the Feeder Fund.

The Net Asset Value per Share of the Feeder Fund will mainly depend on the net asset value per share / unit of the Master Fund.

Consequently, the Net Asset Value per Share of the Feeder Fund may be determined only after the net asset value per share / unit of the Master Fund has been determined, and the number of Shares to be issued to, exchanged or redeemed from, an investor in the Feeder Fund may not be determined until the net asset value per share / unit of the Master Fund is determined.

The rules applied to calculate the Net Asset Value per Share of the Feeder Fund, as described above under Appendix 1, Section V. "Net Asset Value Per Share calculation", presume the Feeder Fund's ability to value its investment in the Master Fund. In valuing such investment holdings, the Feeder Fund may rely on financial information provided by the management company of the Master Fund. Independent valuation sources such as exchange listing may not be available for the Master Fund.

#### Operational and Legal Risks

The main operational and legal risks associated with the Feeder Fund's investment in the Master Fund include, without being limited to, the Feeder Fund's access to information on the Master Fund, coordination of dealing arrangements between the Company and the Master Fund, the occurrence of events affecting such dealing arrangements, the communication of documents from and to the Master Fund to and from the Feeder Fund, the coordination of the involvement of the respective depositary and auditor of the Feeder Fund and the Master Fund and the identification and reporting of investment breaches and irregularities by the Master Fund.

Such operational and legal risks will be mitigated and managed by the Depositary and the Authorised Auditors of the Company, as applicable, in coordination with the management company, the depositary, and the auditor of the Master Fund. A number of documents and/or agreements, if required, are in place to that effect, including (1) information sharing agreement between the Feeder Fund and the Master Fund, (2) an information sharing agreement between the depositary of the Feeder Fund and the depositary of the Master Fund, and (3) an information sharing agreement between the auditor of the Feeder Fund and the auditor of the Master Fund.

#### Concentration Risk and Market Risk

Given the nature of the Feeder Fund it will naturally be concentrated in the Master Fund. Therefore, concentration risks and market risks will mainly occur at the level of the Master Fund. In this respect, investors should carefully read the risks associated with an investment in the Master Fund, as described in the prospectus of the Master Fund.

#### Investment Management Risk

The investment performance of the Feeder Fund is substantially dependent on the investment performance of the Master Fund and, therefore, on the services provided by certain individuals to the Master Fund. In the event of the death, incapacity, departure, insolvency or withdrawal of these individuals, the performance of the Master Fund and, consequently, the Feeder Fund, may be adversely affected.

#### **ESG** MODEL

Investors should be aware of, and prepared to accept, that for Sub-Funds that have a sustainable management process, this process is based on using a proprietary model to determine ESG scoring. There is a risk that this model is not efficient. The performance of those Sub-Funds may therefore be below the management objective.

#### > INVESTING IN STRUCTURED INSTRUMENTS

The Sub-Funds may invest in structured products. These include interests in entities organised solely for the purpose of restructuring the investment characteristics of certain other investments. These investments are purchased by the entities, which then issue the structured products backed by or representing interests in, the underlying investments. The cash flow from the underlying investments may be apportioned amongst the newly issued products to create securities with different investment characteristics such as varying maturities, payment priorities or interest rate provisions, and the extent of the payments made with respect to structured investments depends on the amount of the cash flow from the underlying investments.

Structured products are subject to the risks associated with the underlying market or security, and may be subject to greater volatility than direct investments in the underlying market or security. Structured products may entail the risk of loss of principal and/or interest payments as a result of movements in the underlying market or security.

Structured products may be used to gain exposure to specific markets / sectors as deemed appropriate given the prevalent market conditions. Structured products may implement a view of one product / index / market or may express a view of one area versus another. The product may or may not offer an element of principal protection. OFI Asset Management may take advice from OFI Group companies when purchasing structured products; however the issuer may be a third party.

#### **CONTRACT FOR DIFFERENCES**

Contracts for differences are equity derivatives that allow users to speculate on share price movements and to benefit of trading shares or indices, without the need for ownership of the shares or indices at a small percentage of the cost of owning the shares or indices. Contracts for differences provide an opportunity for short term trading strategies. Contracts for differences are traded OTC. As contracts for differences are directly linked to the value of the underlying assets they will fluctuate depending on the market of the assets represented in the contracts for differences.

#### > OTC FINANCIAL DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND COUNTERPARTY RISK

In general, there is less government regulation and supervision of transactions in OTC markets than of transactions entered into on organised exchanges. OTC derivatives are executed directly with the counterparty rather than through a recognised exchange and clearing house. Counterparties to OTC derivatives are not afforded the same protections as may apply to those trading on recognised exchanges, such as the performance guarantee of a clearing house.

In accordance with its investment objective and policy, a Sub-Fund may trade 'over-the-counter' (OTC) financial derivative instruments such as nonexchange traded futures and options, forwards, swaps or contracts for difference. Where a Sub-Fund enters into OTC derivative transactions it is exposed to increased credit and counterparty risk, which the Sub-Manager will aim to mitigate by the collateral arrangements. However, transactions may not be fully collateralised. Fees and returns due to the Sub-Fund may not be collateralised. If a counterparty defaults, the Sub-Fund may need to sell non-cash collateral received at prevailing market prices. In such a case the Sub-Fund could realise a loss due, *inter alia*, to inaccurate pricing or monitoring of the collateral, adverse market movements, deterioration in the credit rating of issuers of the collateral or illiquidity of the market on which the collateral is traded. Difficulties in selling collateral may delay or restrict the ability of the Sub-Fund to meet redemption requests.

The Sub-Fund is subject to the risk of the insolvency of its counterparties. Entering into transactions on the OTC markets will expose the Sub-Fund to the credit of its counterparties and their ability to satisfy the terms of the contracts. In the event of a bankruptcy or insolvency of a counterparty, the Sub-Fund could experience delays in liquidating the position and significant losses, including declines in the value of its investments during the period in which the Sub-Fund seeks to enforce its rights, inability to realise any gains on its investments during such period and fees and expenses incurred in enforcing its rights. There is also a possibility that the above agreements and derivative techniques are terminated due, for instance, to bankruptcy, supervening illegality or change in the tax or accounting laws relative to those at the time the agreement was originated.

#### Risks related to the Euro Currency

Euro requires participation of multiple sovereign states forming the Euro zone and is therefore sensitive to the credit, general economic and political position of each such state including each state's actual and intended ongoing engagement with and/or support for the other sovereign states then forming the EU, in particular those within the Euro zone. Changes in these factors might materially adversely impact the value of securities that the Company and each Sub-Fund has invested in. In particular, any default by a sovereign state on its Euro debts could have a material impact on any number of counterparties and any Sub-Funds that are exposed to such counterparties.

In the event of one or more countries leaving the Euro zone, Shareholders should be aware of the redenomination risk to the Sub-Fund's assets and obligations denominated in Euro being redenominated into either new national currencies or a new European currency unit. Redenomination risk may be affected by a number of factors including the governing law of the financial instrument in question, the method by which one or more countries leave the Euro zone, the mechanism and framework imposed by national governments and regulators as well as supranational organisations and interpretation by different courts of law. Any such redenomination might also be coupled with payment and/or capital controls and may have a material impact on the ability and/or willingness of entities to continue to make payments in Euro even where they may be contractually bound to do so, and enforcement of such debts may in practice become problematic even where legal terms appear to be favourable.

#### Securities Lending, Repurchase or Reverse Repurchase Transactions

The principal risk when engaging in securities lending, repurchase or reverse repurchase transactions is the risk of default by a counterparty who has become insolvent or is otherwise unable or refuses to honour its obligations to return securities or cash to the Sub-Fund as required by the terms of the transaction. Counterparty risk is mitigated by the transfer or pledge of collateral in favour of the Sub-Fund. However, securities lending, repurchase or reverse repurchase transactions may not be fully collateralised. Fees and returns due to the Sub-Fund under securities lending, repurchase or reverse repurchase transactions may not be collateralised. In addition, the value of collateral may decline in between collateral rebalancing dates or may be incorrectly determined or monitored. In such a case, if a counterparty defaults, the Sub-Fund may need to sell non-cash collateral received at prevailing market prices, thereby resulting in a loss to the Sub-Fund.

A Sub-Fund may also incur a loss in reinvesting cash collateral received. Such a loss may arise due to a decline in the value of the investments made. A decline in the value of such investments would reduce the amount of collateral available to be returned by the Sub-Fund to the counterparty as required by the terms of the transaction. The Sub-Fund would be required to cover the difference in value between the collateral originally received and the amount available to be returned to the counterparty, thereby resulting in a loss to the Sub-Fund.

Securities lending, repurchase or reverse repurchase transactions also entail operational risks such as the non-settlement or delay in settlement of instructions and legal risks related to the documentation used in respect of such transactions.

A Sub-Fund may enter into securities lending, repurchase or reverse repurchase transactions with other companies in the same group of companies as the Management Company or Investment Manager. Affiliated counterparties, if any, will perform their obligations under any securities lending, repurchase or reverse repurchase transactions concluded with the Sub-Fund in a commercially reasonable manner. In addition, the Management Company or Investment Manager will select counterparties and enter into transactions in accordance with best execution and at all times in the best interests of the Sub-Fund and its investors. However, investors should be aware that the Management Company or Investment Manager may face conflicts between its role and its own interests or that of affiliated counterparties.

### **FATCA AND COMMON REPORTING STANDARD**

Under the terms of the FATCA Law and the CRS Law, the Company is likely to be treated as a Luxembourg Reporting Financial Institution. As such, the Company may require all investors to provide documentary evidence of their tax residence and all other information deemed necessary to comply with the above mentioned regulations.

Should the Company become subject to a withholding tax and/or penalties as a result of non-compliance under the FATCA Law and/or penalties as a result of non-compliance under the CRS Law, the value of the Shares held by the shareholders may be materially affected.

Furthermore, the Company may also be required to withhold tax on certain payments to its shareholders which would not be compliant with FATCA (i.e. the so-called foreign passthru payments withholding tax obligation).

### **15. SHARES**

#### FORMS OF HOLDING

Shares of each class have no par value, are freely transferable and, within each class, are entitled to participate equally in the profits arising in the respect of, and in the proceeds of a liquidation of, the Sub-Fund to which they are attributable. All classes of Shares are issued in registered form. Fractions of Shares may be issued up to one hundredth of a Share. Fractions of Shares have no voting rights but are entitled to participate equally in the profits arising in the respect of, and in the proceeds of a liquidation of, the Sub-Fund to which they are attributable. There are currently thirteen Classes of Shares available, namely Class R, Class R EUR H, Class RF, Class RF EUR H, Class I, Class I EUR H, Class I CHF H, Class I-XL, Class F, Class G-I, Class N, Class G-R and OFI ACTIONS ECONOMIE POSITIVE Shares. New classes of shares may be launched within an existing sub-fund at any time by decision of the Directors. Class R, Class I, and Class I-XL Shares, which shall be denominated in the reference currency of the relevant Sub-Fund and, where applicable, in US Dollar, Pound Sterling or Swiss Franc. Class N, Class R EUR H, Class RF EUR H, Cla

I EUR H, Class F, Class G-I, Class G-R and Class OFI ACTIONS ECONOMIE POSITIVE Shares shall be denominated in Euro. Class I CHF H Shares shall be denominated in Swiss Franc. The differences between these Share classes relate to the minimum investment, the initial subscription price per Share, the type of investor who is eligible to invest, the network through which investors are subscribing such shares, the charging structure applicable to each of them, their currency of denomination or the use of hedging techniques.

Class R, Class I, Class I EUR H, Class I-XL and Class F Shares may be further divided into dividend reinvested shares and/or capitalisation shares.

Class R EUR H, Class RF, Class RF EUR H, Class F, Class G-I, Class G-R Shares and OFI ACTIONS ECONOMIE POSITIVE Shares are only issued in the form of capitalisation shares.

Capitalisation shares capitalise their entire earnings whereas dividend reinvested shares declare a dividend which is immediately reinvested.

Class I Shares may also be distribution shares in the Sub-Funds OFI FUND - RS Act4 Social Impact, OFI FUND - RS Act4 Positive Economy, and OFI FUND - RS Actions Européennes (as a result, in these Sub-Funds, the Class I Shares capitalisation will be indicated as Class I-C Shares, and the Class I Shares distribution will be indicated as Class I-D Shares). Class I EUR H Shares may also be distribution shares in the Sub-Fund OFI FUND – RS Global Convertible Bond (as a result, in this Sub-Fund, the Class I EUR H Shares capitalisation will be indicated as Class I EUR H-C Shares, and the Class I EUR H Shares distribution will be indicated as Class I EUR H-D Shares). Class I EUR H Shares may also be distribution shares in the Sub-Fund OFI FUND – RS Global Convertible Bond (as a result, in this Sub-Fund, the Class I EUR H-D Shares). Class I EUR H Shares may also be distribution shares in the Sub-Fund OFI FUND – RS Actions Européennes (as a result, in this Sub-Fund, the Class I EUR H-D Shares). Class I-XL Shares may also be distribution shares in the Sub-Fund OFI FUND – RS Actions Européennes (as a result, in this Sub-Fund, the Class I-XL Shares capitalisation will be indicated as Class I EUR H-D Shares). Class I-XL Shares may also be distribution shares in the Sub-Fund OFI FUND – RS Actions Européennes (as a result, in this Sub-Fund, the Class I-XL Shares capitalisation will be indicated as Class I -XL-C Shares, and the Class I-XL Shares distribution will be indicated as Class I-XL-D Shares).

Class N Shares are only issued in the form of distribution shares in the Sub-Fund OFI FUND - RS Act4 Positive Economy (as a result, in this Sub-Fund, the Class N Shares distribution will be indicated as Class I-D Shares).

Distribution shares declare a dividend.

Within the Sub-Funds of the Company capitalization shares are denominated in Euro.

The board of directors of the Management Company has the discretion, from time to time, to waive any applicable initial minimum subscription amounts for all the Shares Classes of the Sub-Funds.

#### **CLASS R SHARES**

Class R Shares, Class R EUR H Shares, Class RF EUR Shares and Class RF EUR H Shares will be offered at the applicable Net Asset Value per Share. A sales charge of up to 3% of the Net Asset Value per Share will apply to the Class R Shares, Class RF EUR Shares and Class RF EUR H Shares. A sales charge of up to 2% of the Net Asset Value per Share will apply to the Class R EUR H Shares. The charge will be paid to the Principal Distributor or to the relevant Sub-Distributor. No redemption charge will be applicable to the Class R Shares except for the Class R EUR H Shares for which a redemption charge of up to 1% will be applicable. For certain Class RF EUR Shares and Class RF EUR H Shares, a redemption charge of up to 1% will be applicable, as set out in the chart hereinafter. Class R Shares will be denominated in the reference currency of the relevant Sub-Fund (class R Euro Share) but may also, as the case may be, be expressed in US Dollars (class R US Dollar Share) or in Pound Sterling (class R Pound Sterling Share). Class R EUR H shares, Class R F EUR Shares and Class RF EUR H Shares will be denominated in EUR. The initial minimum amount for which an investor can subscribe for the Class R Shares is EUR 1,000. The initial minimum amount for which an investor can subscribe for the Class RF EUR Shares and Class RF EUR H Shares is EUR 100. For the Class R EUR H Shares, the initial minimum amount for which an investor can subscribe is equal to the price of one Share. In the case of subscription for shares denominated in US Dollars or Pound Sterling, the initial minimum amount for which an investor can subscribe is respectively US Dollar 1,000.- or GBP 1,000.-. Class R Shares, Class R EUR H Shares and Class RF EUR Shares have a Maximum Management Charge calculated by reference to the average daily net assets of the relevant class as set out in the chart hereinafter.

In respect of the sub-fund OFI FUND - RS Act4 Social Impact, Class R Shares have a Maximum Management Charge calculated by reference to the average daily net assets of the relevant class as set out in the chart hereinafter as well as an outperformance fee of 20% over the performance of Stoxx Europe 600 Net Return EUR (SXXR Index), as further defined and described hereafter.

In respect of the sub-fund OFI FUND - RS Act4 Positive Economy, Class R Shares have a Maximum Management Charge calculated by reference to the average daily net assets of the relevant class as set out in the chart hereinafter as well as an outperformance fee of 20% over the performance of Stoxx Europe 600 Net Return EUR (SXXR Index), as further defined and described hereafter.

In respect of the sub-fund OFI FUND – RS Global Convertible Bond, Class RF EUR H Shares have a Maximum Management Charge calculated by reference to the average daily net assets of the relevant class as set out in the chart hereinafter as well as an outperformance fee of 15% of the performance over Refinitiv Convertible Bond Global Focus Hedged (EUR) – ticker UCBIFX14.

In respect of the sub-fund OFI FUND – RS Act4 Positive Economy, Class RF EUR Shares have a Maximum Management Charge calculated by reference to the average daily net assets of the relevant class as set out in the chart hereinafter as well as an outperformance fee of 20% over the performance of Stoxx Europe 600 Net Return EUR (SXXR Index), as further defined and described hereafter.

In respect of the sub-fund OFI FUND – Euro Breakeven Inflation, Class RF EUR Shares have a Maximum Management Charge calculated by reference to the average daily net assets of the relevant class as set out in the chart hereinafter as well as an outperformance fee of 20% of the performance over Markit iBox Eur Breakeven Euro-Inflation France, Germany and Italy 7-15 (ticker IBXXBK13).

#### **CLASS | SHARES**

Class I Shares, Class I EUR H Shares and Class I CHF H Shares will be offered to Institutional Investors at the applicable Net Asset Value per Share plus a sales charge of up to 1% of the Net Asset Value per Share of the class for all Sub-Funds. The charge will be paid to the Principal Distributor or to the relevant Sub-Distributor. No redemption charge will be applicable to this Class of Shares. As further described below in sub-section "Other Currency Shares", Class I Shares will be denominated in the reference currency of the relevant Sub-Fund (Class I Euro Share) but may also, as the case may be, be expressed in US Dollars (Class I US Dollar Share), in Pound Sterling (Class I Pound Sterling Share) or in Swiss Franc (Class I Swiss Franc Share). The initial minimum amount for which an investor can subscribe is EUR 50,000.- for all Sub-Funds except for the Sub-Funds OFI FUND - RS Act4 Social Impact, OFI FUND - RS Act4 Positive Economy, OFI FUND - RS Actions Européennes for which the initial amount is EUR 500,000.- In the case of subscription of Shares denominated in US Dollars, Pound Sterling or Swiss Franc, the initial minimum amount for which an investor can subscribe is respectively US Dollars 50,000.-, GBP 50,000.- or CHF 50,000.- for all Sub-Funds. In respect of Class I CHF H Shares of the Sub-Fund OFI FUND – RS Global Convertible Bond, the initial minimum amount for which an investor can subscribe is CHF 500,000.-. In respect of Class I EUR H-D Shares of the Sub-Fund OFI FUND – RS Global Convertible Bond, the initial minimum amount for which an investor can subscribe is CHF 500,000.-. Subscription to class I Shares, Class I EUR H Shares and Class I CHF H Shares have a Maximum Management Charge calculated by reference to the average daily net assets of the relevant class as set out in the chart hereinafter.

The Directors will not give effect to any issue or transfer of Shares that would result in a non-Institutional Investor becoming a Shareholder in the Class I Shares of the Company.

The Directors may, in their full discretion, prohibit the issue or the transfer of Shares, if there is not sufficient evidence that the person or company to whom the Shares are sold or transferred is an Institutional Investor for the purpose of the 2010 Law.

#### CLASS I-XL SHARES

Class I-XL Shares will be offered to Institutional Investors at the applicable Net Asset Value per Share plus a sales charge of up to 5% of the Net Asset Value per Share of the class for the relevant Sub-Funds as set out for each Sub-Fund in the chart below. The charge will be paid to the Principal Distributor or to the relevant Sub-Distributor. No redemption charge will be applicable to this Class of Shares. As further described below in sub-section "Other Currency Shares", class I-XL Shares will be denominated in Euro (class I-XL EUR shares) and / or in US Dollars (class I-XL USD shares).

The initial minimum amount for which an investor can subscribe is:

- EUR 50,000,000.- for the Sub-Fund OFI FUND RS Actions Européennes; and
- EUR 10,000,000.- for the Sub-Fund OFI FUND Euro Breakeven Inflation.

Class I-XL Shares have a Maximum Management Charge calculated by reference to the average daily net assets of this class as set out in the chart hereinafter.

The Directors will not give effect to any issue or transfer of Shares that would result in a non-Institutional Investor becoming a Shareholder in the Class I-XL Shares of the Company.

The Directors may, in their full discretion, prohibit the issue or the transfer of Shares, if there is not sufficient evidence that the person or company to whom the Shares are sold or transferred is an Institutional Investor for the purpose of the 2010 Law.

#### **CLASS F SHARES**

Class F Shares were offered for sale until 31 December 2015 to investors of the Sub-Funds OFI FUND – RS Act4 Social Impact and OFI FUND – RS Act4 Positive Economy (at that time: SSP – OFI Euro Smaller Companies and SSP – OFI European Smaller Companies) who invested at least EUR 10,000,000.- and are currently not offered for new subscriptions. Holders of Class F Shares will be however allowed to subscribe to Class F Shares only when such subscription follows a redemption that has taken place the same valuation day and only for the same number of shares.

Class F Shares will be offered to investors at the applicable Net Asset Value per Share plus a sales charge of up to 3% of the Net Asset Value per Share of the class for all Sub-Funds.

### PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

#### **CLASS N SHARES**

Class N Shares will be offered to UCITS or compartments thereof which have been approved to invest at least 85% of their assets in units of another UCITS. Class N Shares will be offered at the applicable Net Asset Value per Share plus a sales charge of up to 3% of the Net Asset Value per Share of the class. The charge will be paid to the Principal Distributor or to the relevant Sub-Distributor. No redemption charge will be applicable to this class of Shares. The Maximum Management Charge for Class N shares amounts to 1%. Class N Shares will be denominated in the reference currency of the relevant Sub-Fund (class N Euro Share) but may also, as the case may be, be expressed in US Dollars (class N US Dollar Share) or in Pound Sterling (class N Pound Sterling Share). The initial minimum amount for which an investor can subscribe for the Class N Shares is EUR 10,000.-.

In respect of the sub-fund OFI FUND - RS Act4 Positive Economy, Class N Shares have an outperformance fee of 20% over the performance of Stoxx Europe 600 Net Return (SXXR Index), as further defined and described hereafter.

#### > CLASS G-R SHARES

Class G-R Shares will be available to retail investors, investing with the assistance of the Company's authorised distributors in the Federal Republic of Germany and Austria, at the applicable Net Asset Value per Share plus a sales charge of up to 2 % of the Net Asset Value per Share of the class. No redemption charge will be applicable to this class of Shares. Class G-R Shares will be denominated in Euro. The initial minimum amount for which an investor can subscribe is equal to the price of one Share. Class G-R Shares have a Maximum Management Charge calculated by reference to the average daily net assets of the relevant class as set out in the chart hereinafter.

#### CLASS G-I SHARES

Class G-I Shares will be offered to Institutional Investors, investing with the assistance of the Company's authorised distributors in the Federal Republic of Germany and Austria, at the applicable Net Asset Value per Share plus a sales charge of up to 2 % of the Net Asset Value per Share of the class. No redemption charge will be applicable to this Class of Shares. Class G-I Shares will be denominated in Euro. The initial minimum amount for which an investor can subscribe is EUR 500,000. Class G-I Shares have a Maximum Management Charge calculated by reference to the average daily net assets of the relevant class as set out in the chart hereinafter.

The Directors will not give effect to any issue or transfer of Shares that would result in a non-Institutional Investor becoming a Shareholder in the Class G-I Shares of the Company.

The Directors may, in their full discretion, prohibit the issue or the transfer of Shares, if there is not sufficient evidence that the person or company to whom the Shares are sold or transferred is an Institutional Investor for the purpose of the 2010 Law.

The complete list of shares, together with the respective ISIN codes and the applicable dividend policy is provided in Chapter 18 "Dividends".

#### ELIGIBILITY TO THE FRENCH EQUITY SAVINGS PLAN (PLAN D'EPARGNE EN ACTIONS OR PEA)

Class OFI FUND – RS Actions Européennes, Class OFI FUND – RS Act4 Social Impact as well as Class OFI FUND – RS Act4 Positive Economy Shares are eligible to the French equity savings plan (*Plan d'Epargne en Actions or PEA*).

#### > HEDGED SHARE CLASSES

The Company will seek to hedge the Class R EUR H Shares, the Class RF EUR H Shares, the Class I EUR H Shares and Class I CHF H Shares back from the relevant Sub-Fund's investments to the currency denomination of such Sub-Fund by employing a variety of instruments described in Appendix 1 including, but not limited to, currency forwards, currency futures, currency option transactions and currency swaps. The Company will endeavour that the Class I EUR H Shares, Class R EUR H Shares, the Class RF EUR H Shares, and Class I CHF H Shares are at any time hedged at least up to 95%, having as objective to fully hedge this share class; there is however no assurance or guarantee that such hedging will be effective. Any expenses arising from such hedging transactions will be borne by the relevant hedged share class.

Hedged Share Classes are Classes of Shares to which a hedging strategy aiming at mitigating currency risk against the reference currency of the Sub-Fund is applied in accordance with ESMA 34-43-296.

At present, it is possible to subscribe for three hedged share classes denominated in Euro ("Class I EUR H", "Class R EUR H" and "Class RF EUR H Shares") within the sub-fund OFI FUND – RS Global Convertible Bond.

At present, it is possible to subscribe for one hedged share class denominated in Swiss Franc: "Class I CHF H" within the sub-fund OFI FUND – RS Global Convertible Bond.

At present, it is possible to subscribe for a hedged share class denominated in Euro "Class I EUR H" within the sub-fund OFI FUND –RS Act4 Positive Economy.

#### CLASS OFI ACTIONS ECONOMIE POSITIVE SHARES

Class OFI ACTIONS ECONOMIE POSITIVE Shares will be offered at the applicable Net Asset Value per Share plus a sales charge of up to 5% of the Net Asset Value per Share of the class. The charge will be paid to the Principal Distributor or to the relevant Sub-Distributor. No redemption charge will be applicable to this class of Shares. Class OFI ACTIONS ECONOMIE POSITIVE Shares will be denominated in the reference currency of the relevant Sub-Fund (class OFI ACTIONS ECONOMIE POSITIVE Share). There is no initial minimum subscription amount. Class OFI ACTIONS ECONOMIE POSITIVE Share). There is no initial minimum subscription amount. Class OFI ACTIONS ECONOMIE POSITIVE Shares to the average daily net assets of the relevant class as set out in the chart hereinafter.

### OTHER CURRENCY SHARES

#### **US Dollar Shares**

In circumstances where the reference currency of the Sub-Fund is not US Dollars, as indicated above in Chapter 13 "Summary of the Sub-Funds", the Company may make available Shares which are denominated in US Dollars. Subscriptions received in US Dollars shall be converted into the reference currency of the relevant Sub-Fund at the currency exchange rate prevailing on the Business Day on which the subscription price is calculated. Such rate will be obtained from an independent source. Similarly, redemption requests made in respect of the US Dollar Share class shall be processed by converting such redemption request from the reference currency of the relevant Sub-Fund at the currency of the relevant Sub-Fund at the currency exchange rate prevailing on the Business Day on which the redemption price is calculated. It should be noted that US Dollar Shares are not hedged and that as a result fluctuations in exchange rates may affect the performance of the Shares of that class independent of the performance of the relevant Sub-Fund's investments.

Where Shares of a Sub-Fund are available in a class which is priced in US Dollars rather than in Euro, investors in Shares of that class should note that the net assets of the Sub-Fund will be calculated in Euro and that for the purpose of calculating the Net Asset Value per Share of the US Dollar. Shares, the Net Asset Value per Share will be converted from Euro into US Dollar at the current exchange rate between Euro and US Dollar. Fluctuations in that exchange rate may affect the performance of the Shares of that class independent of the performance of the Sub-Fund's investments. The costs of currency exchange transactions in connection with the purchase, redemption and exchange of Shares of that class will be borne by the relevant class of Shares and will be reflected in the net assets of that class.

#### **Pound Sterling Shares**

In circumstances where the reference currency of the Sub-Fund is not Pound Sterling, as indicated above in Chapter 13 "Summary of the Sub-Funds", the Company may make available Shares which are denominated in Pound Sterling. Subscriptions received in Pound Sterling shall be converted into the reference currency of the relevant Sub-Fund at the currency exchange rate prevailing on the Business Day on which the subscription price is calculated. Such rate will be obtained from an independent source. Similarly, redemption requests made in respect of the Pound Sterling Share class shall be processed by converting such redemption request from the reference currency of the relevant Sub-Fund at the currency exchange rate prevailing on the Business Day on which the redemption price is calculated.

Where Shares of a Sub-Fund are available in a class which is priced in Pound Sterling rather than in Euro, investors in Shares of that class should note that the net assets of the Sub-Fund will be calculated in Euro and that for the purpose of calculating the Net Asset Value per Share of the Pound Sterling Shares, the Net Asset Value per Share will be converted from Euro into Pound Sterling at the current exchange rate between Euro and Pound Sterling. Fluctuations in that exchange rate may affect the performance of the Shares of that class independent of the performance of the Sub-Fund's investments. The costs of currency exchange transactions in connection with the purchase, redemption and exchange of Shares of that class will be borne by the relevant class of Shares and will be reflected in the net assets of that class.

#### **Swiss Franc Shares**

In circumstances where the reference currency of the Sub-Fund is not Swiss Franc, as indicated above in Chapter 13 "Summary of the Sub-Funds", the Company may make available Shares which are denominated in Swiss Franc. Subscriptions received in Swiss Franc shall be converted into the reference currency of the relevant Sub-Fund at the currency exchange rate prevailing on the Business Day on which the subscription price is calculated. Such rate will be obtained from an independent source. Similarly, redemption requests made in respect of the Swiss Franc Share class shall be processed by converting such redemption request from the reference currency of the relevant Sub-Fund at the currency exchange rate prevailing on the Business Day on which the redemption price is calculated.

Where Shares of a Sub-Fund are available in a class which is priced in Swiss Franc rather than in Euro, investors in Shares of that class should note that the net assets of the Sub-Fund will be calculated in Euro and that for the purpose of calculating the Net Asset Value per Share of the Swiss Franc. Shares, the Net Asset Value per Share will be converted from Euro into Swiss Franc at the current exchange rate between Euro and Swiss Franc. Fluctuations in that exchange rate may affect the performance of the Shares of that class independent of the performance of the Sub-Fund's investments. The costs of currency exchange transactions in connection with the purchase, redemption and exchange of Shares of that class will be borne by the relevant class of Shares and will be reflected in the net assets of that class.

At present, it is possible to subscribe for Class I Shares denominated in Swiss Franc (Class I Swiss Franc Share) in relation to the Sub-Fund OFI FUND – RS Global Convertible Bond.

#### LISTING

The Shares of the Sub-Funds are not presently listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

The Directors retain however the right to seek in the future a listing of the Shares on any Stock Exchange, in which case the Prospectus will be updated accordingly to reflect the relevant Stock Exchange(s).

### > CHARGES

| CLASS R                             | Charges               |            |           |  |  |
|-------------------------------------|-----------------------|------------|-----------|--|--|
| Sub-Funds                           | Sales/Exit<br>Charges | Conversion | Maxi. Mgt | Out<br>performance Fees  |  |
| OFI FUND – RS Act4 Social Impact    | Up to 3%/Nil          | Nil        | 1,60%     | 20% over performance of Stoxx Europe 600 Net Return (SXXR Index) |  |
| OFI FUND – RS Act4 Positive Economy | Up to 3%/Nil          | Nil        | 1,85%     | 20% over performance of Stoxx Europe 600 Net Return (SXXR Index) |  |

| CLASS R EUR H                         | Charges               |            |           |  |  |
|---------------------------------------|-----------------------|------------|-----------|--|--|
| Sub-Fund                              | Sales/Exit<br>Charges | Conversion | Maxi. Mgt | Out<br>performance Fees  |  |
| OFI FUND – RS Global Convertible Bond | Up to 2%/1%           | Nil        | 2,00%     | 15% of the performance over Refinitiv Convertible Bond Global Focus Hedged (EUR) – ticker UCBIFX14 |  |

| CLASS RF EUR                        | Charges               |            |           |  |  |
|-------------------------------------|-----------------------|------------|-----------|--|--|
| Sub-Funds                           | Sales/Exit<br>Charges | Conversion | Maxi. Mgt | Out<br>performance Fees  |  |
| OFI FUND – RS Act4 Positive Economy | Up to 3%/Nil          | Nil        | 1,05%     | 20% over performance of Stoxx Europe 600 Net Return (SXXR Index)   |  |
| OFI FUND – Euro Breakeven Inflation | Up to 1%/Nil          | Nil        | 1,06%     | 20% of the performance over Markit iBox Eur Breakeven Euro-Inflation France, Germany<br>and Italy 7-15 (ticker IBXXBK13) |  |

| CLASS RF EUR H                        |                       |            |           | Charges  |
|---------------------------------------|-----------------------|------------|-----------|--|
| Sub-Fund                              | Sales/Exit<br>Charges | Conversion | Maxi. Mgt | Out<br>performance Fees  |
| OFI FUND – RS Global Convertible Bond | Up to 2%/1%           | Nil        | 1,09%     | 15% of the performance over Refinitiv Convertible Bond Global Focus Hedged (EUR) – ticker UCBIFX14 |

| CLASS I                             | Charges               |            |           |  |  |  |
|-------------------------------------|-----------------------|------------|-----------|--|--|--|
| Sub-Funds                           | Sales/Exit<br>Charges | Conversion | Maxi. Mgt | Out<br>performance Fees  |  |  |
| OFI FUND – Euro Breakeven Inflation | Up to<br>1%/Nil       | Nil        | 0,96%     | 20% of the performance over Markit iBox Eur Breakeven Euro-Inflation France, Germany<br>and Italy 7-15 (ticker IBXXBK13) |  |  |
| OFI FUND – RS Act4 Social Impact    | Up to<br>3%/Nil       | Nil        | 0,80%     | 20% over performance of Stoxx Europe 600 Net Return (SXXR Index)   |  |  |
| OFI FUND – RS Act4 Positive Economy | Up to<br>3%/Nil       | Nil        | 0,95%     | 20% over performance of Stoxx Europe 600 Net Return (SXXR Index)   |  |  |
| OFI FUND – RS Actions Européennes   | Up to<br>3%/Nil       | Nil        | 0,90%     | Nil  |  |  |

| CLASS I EUR H                         |                       |            |           | Charges   |
|---------------------------------------|-----------------------|------------|-----------|---|
| Sub-Funds                             | Sales/Exit<br>Charges | Conversion | Maxi. Mgt | Out<br>performance Fees   |
| OFI FUND – RS Global Convertible Bond | Up to<br>1%/Nil       | Nil        | 1,05%     | 15% of the performance over Refinitiv Convertible Bond Global Focus Hedged (EUR) –<br>ticker UCBIFX14 |
| OFI FUND - RS Act4 Positive Economy   | Up to 3%              | Nil        | 0,95%     | 20% over performance of Stoxx Europe 600 Net Return (SXXR Index)                                      |

| CLASS I CHF H                         | Charges               |            |           |   |  |  |
|---------------------------------------|-----------------------|------------|-----------|---|--|--|
| Sub-Fund                              | Sales/Exit<br>Charges | Conversion | Maxi. Mgt | Out<br>performance Fees   |  |  |
| OFI FUND – RS Global Convertible Bond | Up to<br>1%/Nil       | Nil        | 1,00%     | 15% of the performance over Refinitiv Convertible Bond Global Focus Hedged (CHF) – ticker<br>UCBIFX28 |  |  |

| CLASS I-XL                          |                       |            |           | Charges  |
|-------------------------------------|-----------------------|------------|-----------|--|
| Sub-Funds                           | Sales/Exit<br>Charges | Conversion | Maxi. Mgt | Out<br>performance Fees  |
| OFI FUND – Euro Breakeven Inflation | Up to<br>5%/Nil       | Nil        | 0,61%     | 20% of the performance over Markit iBox Eur Breakeven Euro-Inflation France, Germany<br>and Italy 7-15 - (ticker IBXXBK13) |
| OFI FUND – RS Actions Européennes   | Up to<br>3%/Nil       | Nil        | 0,50%     | Nil  |

### PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

| CLASS F                             | Charges               |            |           |  |  |
|-------------------------------------|-----------------------|------------|-----------|--|--|
| Sub-Funds                           | Sales/Exit<br>Charges | Conversion | Maxi. Mgt | Out<br>performance Fees  |  |
| OFI FUND – RS Act4 Social Impact    | Up to<br>3%/Nil       | Nil        | 0,56%     | 20% over performance of Stoxx Europe 600 Net Return (SXXR Index) |  |
| OFI FUND – RS Act4 Positive Economy | Up to<br>3%/Nil       | Nil        | 0,55%     | 20% over performance of Stoxx Europe 600 Net Return (SXXR Index) |  |

| CLASS G I                             | Charges               |            |           |                         |  |
|---------------------------------------|-----------------------|------------|-----------|-------------------------|--|
| Sub-Funds                             | Sales/Exit<br>Charges | Conversion | Maxi. Mgt | Out<br>performance Fees |  |
| OFI FUND – RS Act4 Positive Economy   | Up to 2%/Nil          | Nil        | 1,00%     | Nil                     |  |
| OFI FUND – RS Global Convertible Bond | Up to 1%/Nil          | Nil        | 1,09%     | Nil                     |  |

| CLASS G R                           | Charges               |   |       |     |  |
|-------------------------------------|-----------------------|---|-------|-----|--|
| Sub-Funds                           | Sales/Exit<br>Charges | Conversion Maxi. Mgt Out performance Fees |       |     |  |
| OFI FUND – RS Act4 Positive Economy | Up to 2%/Nil          | Nil                                       | 1,90% | Nil |  |

| CLASS N                             | Charges               |                     |       |  |  |
|-------------------------------------|-----------------------|---------------------|-------|--|--|
| Sub-Funds                           | Sales/Exit<br>Charges | Conversion Maxi Mat |       |  |  |
| OFI FUND – RS Act4 Positive Economy | Nil                   | Nil                 | 0.05% | 20% over performance of Stoxx Europe 600 Net Return (SXXR Index) |  |

| CLASS OFI ACTIONS ECONOMIE<br>POSITIVE | Charges               |            |           |                         |  |
|--|-----------------------|------------|-----------|-------------------------|--|
| Sub-Fund                               | Sales/Exit<br>Charges | Conversion | Maxi. Mgt | Out<br>performance Fees |  |
| OFI FUND – RS Act4 Positive Economy    | Up to 5%              | Nil        | 1,40%     | Nil                     |  |

All Classes of Shares listed in this table are in existence as at the time of issue of the Prospectus. New Classes of Shares may be launched within an existing Sub-Fund at any time by decision of the Directors. In such case the above table shall be updated accordingly. Information about the charges and the characteristics of each Class of Shares is also available on the website www.ofilux.lu.

The Maximum Management Charge is the aggregate maximum of all fees that are payable monthly in arrears to the Management Company for investment management services as well as to the Investment Managers.

The fees paid directly to the Investment Managers by the Company in relation to the relevant Class of Shares are deducted from the fees paid to the Management Company.

The Sales Charge is the subscription fee which is paid by investors to the Principal Distributor or to the relevant Sub-Distributor in order to subscribe for Shares in the Company. The Sales Charge may be waived by the Principal Distributor or the relevant Sub-Distributor at their entire discretion.

The Conversion Charge is a charge which may be levied at discretion by the Principal Distributor or the relevant Sub-Distributor (if authorised by the Principal Distributor) upon investors requesting conversion of their Shares, within the limits set out in the chart above.

The members of the Think Tank Committee will be remunerated with fixed annual fees, which shall not exceed 1% of the net assets of the sub-fund, paid by the Management Company out of its management fee.

In addition, outperformance fees will be paid to the Management Company in respect of the sub-funds OFI FUND – RS Global Convertible Bond, OFI FUND – Euro Breakeven Inflation, OFI FUND – RS Act4 Social Impact, and OFI FUND – RS Act4 Positive Economy.

#### A) OFI FUND - RS GLOBAL CONVERTIBLE BOND

An outperformance fee is charged above the performance of the benchmark Refinitiv Convertible Bond Global Focus Hedged (EUR) in respect of R, RF EUR H and I EUR H class shares of the Sub-Fund, and above the performance of the benchmark Refinitiv Convertible Bond Global Focus Hedged (CHF) in respect of I CHF H class shares of the Sub-Fund.

#### Introduction:

The Management Company will charge an outperformance fee when there is a positive return compared to the benchmark; then the fee is calculated as follows:

For each valuation period during which the calculated return is greater than that of the benchmark, a fee equal to 15% of the outperformance is deducted as set out in the chart above.

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

When calculating this return, by "valuation period" the sub-fund's fiscal year is taken into consideration. The calculation is reset to zero at the beginning of each fiscal year.

Investors should note that the Management Company has implemented a swing price mechanism and that the performance fee will be charged on the basis of the unswung NAV. For further details on the sub-fund's swing price mechanism please refer to Chapter 16 "How to Subscribe for, Convert, Transfer and Redeem Shares".

#### Outperformance calculation:

The outperformance in the reference currency represents the difference between:

- the Net Asset Value per Share (NAVPS) on a particular day, including fixed fees (management fees, administration fees, subscription fees, etc. as listed in the sub-fund's description), but not including any provisions for cumulated previous outperformance fees; noted by NAVex and

- the theoretical benchmarked NAVPS on that same day including the benchmark's performance and the effects of subscriptions and redemptions; noted by NAVind.

Therefore, the outperformance in the reference currency is determined on each NAVPS calculation day as follows:

Pf(i) = NAVex(i) - NAVind(i)

Where:

*Pf* (*i*) = the difference in the fund's return on day i between *NAVex* (*i*) and *NAVind* (*i*), in the reference currency *NAVex* (*i*) = *NAVex* on day i *NAVind* (*i*) = *NAVind* on day i

#### Outperformance fee:

The outperformance fee is provisioned for on each NAVPS calculation date. Accounting for outperformance fee provisions includes both allocations and reversals, as a reversal could occur if the return difference calculated on a particular day, *Pf (i)*, is negative. Provisions are limited at zero (no negative provisions). When performance since the start of the Valuation Period is negative, provisions for outperformance fees are limited to a maximum of 1% of the NAV.

For partial redemptions made during the fiscal year, the amount of the provisions for the daily outperformance fee that is retained by the Management Company is proportional to the number of shares redeemed. This retained fee will then become a definitive charge in the NAVPS on the day following the redemption.

When accounting for outperformance fees retained on partial redemptions during the fiscal year, the NAVind is also reduced by this retained outperformance fee.

Apart from partial redemptions occurring during the fiscal year, the outperformance fee is collected by the Management Company on the fiscal year closing date. The final value of this fee, deducted at the end of the fiscal year, is the cumulated provision prevailing on the last day of the fiscal year, denominated in the reference currency.

#### B) OFI FUND – EURO BREAKEVEN INFLATION

An outperformance fee is charged above the performance of Markit iBox Eur Breakeven Euro-Inflation France, Germany and Italy 7-15 Index -ticker IBXXBK13 in respect of this Sub-Fund.

#### Introduction:

The Management Company will charge an outperformance fee when there is a positive return compared to the composite index; then the fee is calculated as follows:

For each valuation period during which the calculated return is greater than that of the benchmark, a fee equal to 20% of the outperformance is deducted as set out in the chart above.

When calculating this return, by "valuation period" the sub-fund's fiscal year is taken into consideration. The calculation is reset to zero at the beginning of each fiscal year.

#### Outperformance calculation:

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

The outperformance in the reference currency represents the difference between:

- the Net Asset Value per Share (NAVPS) on a particular day, including fixed fees (management fees, administration fees, subscription fees, etc. as listed in the Sub-Fund's description), but not including any provisions for cumulated previous outperformance fees; noted by NAVex and

- the theoretical composite indexed NAVPS on that same day including the composite index's performance and the effects of subscriptions and redemptions; noted by NAVind.

Therefore, the outperformance in the reference currency is determined on each NAVPS calculation day as follows:

Pf(i) = NAVex(i) - NAVind(i)

Where:

*Pf* (*i*) = the difference in the fund's return on day *i* between *NAVex* (*i*) and *NAVind* (*i*), in the reference currency *NAVex* (*i*) = *NAVex* on day *i NAVind* (*i*) = *NAVind* on day *i* 

#### Outperformance fee:

The outperformance fee is provisioned for on each NAVPS calculation date. Accounting for outperformance fee provisions includes both allocations and reversals, as a reversal could occur if the return difference calculated on a particular day, *Pf (i)*, is negative. Provisions are limited at zero (no negative provisions).

When performance since the start of the Valuation Period is negative, provisions for outperformance fees are limited to a maximum of 0,50% of the NAV.

For partial redemptions made during the fiscal year, the amount of the provisions for the daily outperformance fee that is retained by the Management Company is proportional to the number of shares redeemed. This retained fee will then become a definitive charge in the NAVPS on the day following the redemption.

When accounting for outperformance fees retained on partial redemptions during the fiscal year, the NAVind is also reduced by this retained outperformance fee.

A majorant fee is the maximum fee that could be deducted or provisioned for, such that the NAVPS is not less than its minimal reference value (i.e., the NAVPS at the start of the fiscal year) after deducting these fees.

Apart from partial redemptions occurring during the fiscal year, the outperformance fee is collected by the Management Company on the fiscal year closing date. The final value of this fee, deducted at the end of the fiscal year, is the cumulated provision prevailing on the last day of the fiscal year, denominated in the reference currency.

### C) OFI FUND -RS ACT4 SOCIAL IMPACT

An outperformance fee is charged above the performance of Benchmark Index in respect of this Sub-Fund.

Benchmark Index means a rate set at the value equal to the Stoxx Europe 600 Net Return - ticker SXXR in respect of each valuation period.

#### Introduction:

The Management Company will charge an outperformance fee when there is a positive return compared to the Benchmark Index; then the fee is calculated as follows:

For each valuation period during which the calculated return is greater than that of the Benchmark Index, a fee equal to 20% of the outperformance is deducted as set out in the chart above.

When calculating this return, by "valuation period" the sub-fund's fiscal year is taken into consideration. The calculation is reset to zero at the beginning of each fiscal year. As an exception, to the extent the Sub-Fund is newly created, the first valuation period begins on the Sub-Fund's first NAV calculation date, and ends on the last day of the fiscal year in progress.

#### Outperformance calculation:

The outperformance in the reference currency represents the difference between:

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

- the Net Asset Value (NAV) on a particular day, including fixed fees (management fees, administration fees, subscription fees, etc. as listed in the sub-fund's description), but not including any provisions for cumulated previous outperformance fees; noted by NAVex and

- the theoretical benchmarked NAV on that same day including the Benchmark Index's performance and the effects of subscriptions and redemptions; noted by NAVind.

Therefore, the outperformance in the reference currency is determined on each NAV calculation day as follows:

Pf(i) = NAVex(i) - NAVind(i)

Where:

*Pf* (*i*) = the difference in the fund's return on day *i* between *NAVex* (*i*) and *NAVind* (*i*), in the reference currency *NAVex* (*i*) = *NAVex* on day *i NAVind* (*i*) = *NAVind* on day *i* 

#### Outperformance fee:

The outperformance fee is provisioned for on each NAV calculation date. Accounting for outperformance fee provisions includes both allocations and reversals, as a reversal could occur if the return difference calculated on a particular day, *Pf (i)*, is negative. Provisions are limited at zero (no negative provisions).

When performance since the start of the Valuation Period is negative, provisions for outperformance fees are limited to a maximum of 1% of the NAV.

For partial redemptions made during the fiscal year, the amount of the provisions for the daily outperformance fee that is retained by the Management Company is proportional to the number of shares redeemed. This retained fee will then become a definitive charge in the NAV on the day following the redemption.

When accounting for outperformance fees retained on partial redemptions during the fiscal year, the NAVind is also reduced by this retained outperformance fee.

Apart from partial redemptions occurring during the fiscal year, the outperformance fee is collected by the Management Company on the fiscal year closing date. The final value of this fee, deducted at the end of the fiscal year, is the cumulated provision prevailing on the last day of the fiscal year, denominated in the reference currency.

For the avoidance of doubt, any reference to a benchmark in relation to the performance fee calculation should under no circumstances be considered indicative of a specific investment style. It should be noted that as the total Net Asset Value may differ between Classes, separate performance fee calculations will be carried out for separate Classes, which therefore may become subject to different amounts of performance fees.

#### D) OFI FUND - RS ACT4 POSITIVE ECONOMY

An outperformance fee is charged above the performance of Benchmark Index in respect of this Sub-Fund.

Benchmark Index means a rate set at the value equal to the Stoxx Europe 600 Net Return - ticker SXXR in respect of each valuation period.

#### Introduction:

The Management Company will charge an outperformance fee when there is a positive return compared to the Benchmark Index; then the fee is calculated as follows:

For each valuation period during which the calculated return is greater than that of the Benchmark Index, a fee equal to 20% of the outperformance is deducted as set out in the chart above.

When calculating this return, by "valuation period" the sub-fund's fiscal year is taken into consideration. The calculation is reset to zero at the beginning of each fiscal year. As an exception, to the extent the Sub-Fund is newly created, the first valuation period begins on the Sub-Fund's first NAV calculation date, and ends on the last day of the fiscal year in progress.

#### Outperformance calculation:

The outperformance in the reference currency represents the difference between:

- the Net Asset Value (NAV) on a particular day, including fixed fees (management fees, administration fees, subscription fees, etc. as listed in the sub-fund's description), but not including any provisions for cumulated previous outperformance fees; noted by NAVex and

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

- the theoretical benchmarked NAV on that same day including the Benchmark Index's performance and the effects of subscriptions and redemptions; noted by NAVind.

Therefore, the outperformance in the reference currency is determined on each NAV calculation day as follows:

Pf(i) = NAVex(i) - NAVind(i)

Where:

*Pf* (*i*) = the difference in the fund's return on day *i* between *NAVex* (*i*) and *NAVind* (*i*), in the reference currency *NAVex* (*i*) = *NAVex* on day *i NAVind* (*i*) = *NAVind* on day *i* 

#### Outperformance fee:

The outperformance fee is provisioned for on each NAV calculation date. Accounting for outperformance fee provisions includes both allocations and reversals, as a reversal could occur if the return difference calculated on a particular day, *Pf (i)*, is negative. Provisions are limited at zero (no negative provisions).

When performance since the start of the Valuation Period is negative, provisions for outperformance fees are limited to a maximum of 1% of the NAV.

For partial redemptions made during the fiscal year, the amount of the provisions for the daily outperformance fee that is retained by the Management Company is proportional to the number of shares redeemed. This retained fee will then become a definitive charge in the NAV on the day following the redemption.

When accounting for outperformance fees retained on partial redemptions during the fiscal year, the NAVind is also reduced by this retained outperformance fee.

Apart from partial redemptions occurring during the fiscal year, the outperformance fee is collected by the Management Company on the fiscal year closing date. The final value of this fee, deducted at the end of the fiscal year, is the cumulated provision prevailing on the last day of the fiscal year, denominated in the reference currency.

For the avoidance of doubt, any reference to a benchmark in relation to the performance fee calculation should under no circumstances be considered indicative of a specific investment style. It should be noted that as the total Net Asset Value may differ between Classes, separate performance fee calculations will be carried out for separate Classes, which therefore may become subject to different amounts of performance fees.

#### **16.** How to subscribe for, convert, transfer and redeem shares

#### INITIAL SUBSCRIPTION

Class F Shares were offered for sale until 31 December 2015 in the Sub-Funds OFI FUND – RS Act4 Social Impact (at that time: Euro Small Cap) and OFI FUND – RS Act4 Positive Economy (at that time: SSP – Euro Smaller Companies and SSP – European Smaller Companies) at the applicable Net Asset Value and are currently not offered for new subscriptions. Holders of Class F Shares will be however allowed to subscribe to Class F Shares only when such subscription follows a redemption that has taken place the same dealing day and only for the same number of shares.

#### **How to Subscribe**

Application for Shares must be made to the Administration, Registrar & Transfer Agent, the Principal Distributor or a Sub-Distributor on the application form enclosed with this Prospectus. Subsequent applications for Shares may be made in writing or, by fax.

Subscriptions are dealt with at an unknown Net Asset Value per Share.

The Directors or the Principal Distributor, as the case may be, may refuse subscriptions at their sole discretion.

Settlement for any application must be made within two Business Days following the applicable Dealing Day. For the Sub-Fund OFI FUND – RS Global Convertible Bond, settlements for any application must be made within four Business Days following the applicable Dealing Day. The Directors retain the right to request that investment monies receive bank clearance prior to the application being accepted.

After the Initial Subscription Period, applications for Shares received by the Company up to 12.00 CET on any Dealing Day, will if accepted, be dealt at the price fixed by reference to the Net Asset Value per Share of the relevant class calculated on the following Valuation Day on the basis of the last available price being the closing price of the Dealing Day, plus the sales charges if applicable. For OFI FUND – RS Global Convertible Bond, applications for Shares received by the Company up to 12.00 CET on any Dealing Day will, if accepted, be dealt at the price fixed by reference to the Net

Asset Value per Share of the relevant class of the following Valuation Day calculated on two days following that Valuation Day on the basis of the last available price being the closing price on that Valuation Day, plus the sales charges if applicable.

Applications which are received after 12.00 CET will be dealt with as if received the following Dealing Day.

For OFI FUND – RS Actions Européennes, applications for Shares received by the Company up to 10.00 CET on any Dealing Day, will if accepted, be dealt at the price fixed by reference to the Net Asset Value per Share of the relevant class calculated on the following Valuation Day on the basis of the last available price being the closing price of the Dealing Day, plus the sales charges if applicable. Applications which are received after 10.00 CET will be dealt with as if received the following Dealing Day.

Applications must include the following information:

- 1) Name of the Sub-Fund(s) and the class and number of Shares applied for in the Sub-Fund(s).
- 2) Indicate how payment has been or will be made.
- 3) The investor must acknowledge receipt of the Prospectus and confirm that the application being made is based on an understanding of the information contained in the documentation provided.
- 4) The investor must provide appropriate personal details.

By way of derogation from the definition of business day, are not considered as business days, the public holidays in the countries listed in the below table:

| Sub-Fund                              | Luxembourg | France | USA |
|---------------------------------------|------------|--------|-----|
| OFI FUND – EURO BREAKEVEN INFLATION   | Х          | Х      |     |
| OFI FUND – RS GLOBAL CONVERTIBLE BOND | Х          | Х      |     |
| OFI FUND – RS ACT4 SOCIAL IMPACT      | Х          | Х      |     |
| OFI FUND – RS ACT4 POSITIVE ECONOMY   | Х          | Х      |     |
| OFI FUND – RS ACTIONS EUROPEENNES     | Х          | Х      |     |

#### **Swing Price**

Sub-Funds may suffer a reduction of their Net Asset Value ("NAV") as a result of estimated bid-offer spread of the assets in which a Sub-Fund invests, tax, direct and indirect transaction costs, and related expenses incurred due to the purchase and selling of underlying securities caused by the investors' subscriptions and redemptions requests. This is known as dilution.

To reduce the impact of such dilution and protect the interests of existing shareholders, the SICAV has implemented a partial swing pricing mechanism where a Sub-Fund's NAV price is adjusted downwards or upwards in order to ensure that the cost of the underlying portfolio activity is borne only by those investors who ask the respective subscriptions / redemptions and not by the rest of the existing shareholders.

If one day of a NAV calculation the net amount of subscription / redemptions orders on all share classes exceeds a preset threshold, which is determined by the Management Company upon objective criteria and expressed as a percentage of a sub-fund's NAV, the NAV may be adjusted upwards or downwards respectively in order to take into account the costs of the adjustment attributable respectively to the orders for subscriptions / redemptions.

The NAV of each class of shares will be calculated separately however any adjustment will have, in percent, the same impact on the total NAV of the Sub-Fund. The Management Company shall determine the costs and thresholds on the base of, amongst others, transactions costs, buy-sell spreads as well as any taxes applicable to the Company. Under normal circumstances, the adjustment will not exceed two percent (2%) of the total NAV of the Sub-Fund. A periodical review will be undertaken by the Directors in order to verify the appropriateness of the adjustment in view of market conditions.

However, whilst the adjustment is normally not expected to exceed two percent (2%) of the total NAV of the Sub-Fund, the Management Company may decide to temporarily increase this limit in exceptional circumstances (*e.g.*, higher market volatility, liquidity issues, geopolitical events, health and environmental crises), although it is not possible to accurately predict whether it will occur at any future point in time and consequently how frequently it will need to be made. The CSSF shall be notified of any increase of the adjustment above the level disclosed in this Prospectus. The Company shall serve a notice to the Shareholders of the relevant Sub-Fund prior to applying the increased adjustment. Such information, as well as the moment when the market conditions no longer require that the adjustment limit exceeds the level disclosed in the Prospectus, shall be made available to Shareholders free of charge upon request.

To the extent that this adjustment is related to the net balance of subscriptions / redemptions in the Sub-Fund, it is not possible to accurately predict whether such swing pricing will apply at some point in the future. Therefore, it is not possible to accurately predict how frequently the Management Company will make such adjustments. Investors should note that the volatility of the NAV may not only reflect that of the securities in the portfolio due to the implementation of swing pricing as explained before.

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

The Management Company may decide on exceptional cases (*e.g.* mergers, liquidations, launch of new sub-funds) to suspend the application of the swing price mechanism.

The policy for the determination of the Swing Pricing mechanisms is available on request from the Management Company.

Investors should note that the Management Company has implemented a swing price mechanism and that the performance fee will be charged on the basis of the unswung NAV.

List of Sub-Funds to which the swing price policy will apply:

- OFI FUND – RS Global Convertible Bond.

#### MONEY LAUNDERING PREVENTION

In order to contribute to the fight against money laundering of funds, subscription requests must include a certified copy (by one of the following authorities: embassy, consulate, notary, police, commissioner) of (i) the subscriber's identity card in the case of individuals, (ii) the articles of incorporation as well as an extract of the register of commerce for corporate entities in the following cases:

- 1. direct subscription addressed to the Registrar and Transfer Agent,
- 2. subscription via a professional of the financial sector who is domiciled in a country which is not legally compelled to an identification procedure equal to the Luxembourg standards in the fight against laundering monies through the financial system.

Moreover, the Registrar & Transfer Agent is responsible for identifying the origin of funds/wealth of the subscriber. Subscriptions may be temporarily suspended until such funds have been correctly identified. Further to the CSSF Regulation 12-02 of 14 December 2012 and the CSSF Circular 13/556 on money laundering, the Registrar and Transfer Agent may require any documentation it deems necessary for the purposes of the above identification.

It is generally accepted that professionals of the financial sector subject to supervision residing in (i) a member state of the European Economic Area or (ii) of the EU are considered to be subject to an identification procedure equal to that required by Luxembourg law.

The Registrar & Transfer Agent may require at any time additional documentation relating to an application for Shares. If an applicant is in any doubt with regard to this legislation, the Registrar & Transfer Agent will provide them with a money laundering checklist. Failure to provide additional information may result in an application not being processed. Also should documentation not be forthcoming with regard to the redemption of Shares then such redemption may not proceed.

#### **CONTRIBUTIONS IN KIND**

The Company may, if a prospective shareholder requests and the Directors so agree, satisfy any application for subscription of Shares which is proposed to be made by way of contribution in kind. The nature and type of assets to be accepted in any such case shall be determined by the Directors and must correspond to the investment policy and restrictions of the Sub-Fund being invested in. A valuation report relating to the contributed assets must be delivered to the Directors by the authorised Auditor of the Company. The costs of any such transfer, including the costs of production of any necessary valuation report, shall be borne by the prospective shareholder requesting the transfer.

#### **REDEMPTION OF SHARES**

Shareholders may redeem all or any of their Shares they hold in a class. Where a redemption causes a Shareholder's position to fall below the minimum level of investment specified in Chapter 15 "Shares", the Shareholder may be requested to make an additional investment sufficient to meet or exceed the relevant limit. Where the Shareholder does not act on this request within five Business Days a full redemption of the outstanding Share position will be effected by the Company.

Redemptions are dealt with at an unknown Net Asset Value.

The redemption price is the relevant Net Asset Value per Share of the relevant Class of Shares calculated on the applicable Valuation Day, as set out below.

In addition, if on a Dealing Day, requests for redemption and requests for conversion would exceed 10% of the net assets of Shares in any Sub-Fund/class, the Directors may decide that the redemption of all or part of such Shares be postponed to the following Dealing Day considering the same limit of 10% described here above. These redemption requests shall be dealt with on the following Dealing Day, in priority to any other redemptions or conversions requested and received after such Dealing Day.

Requests for the redemption of Shares should be made by completing the redemption form which accompanied the initial contract note, additional copies of which are available from the Registrar & Transfer Agent. Redemption applications may also be made by fax provided that the notification is followed by confirmation in writing. An application for redemption should indicate the number, the class and the name of the Sub-Fund of the Shares to be redeemed, and full settlement instructions. The redemption proceeds will normally be paid within two Business Days following the Dealing Day. For the Sub-Fund OFI FUND – RS Global Convertible Bond, redemption proceeds will be paid within four Business Days following the applicable

Dealing Day. Payment will be made in the reference currency of the Sub-Fund or class by wire transfer to an account specified by the shareholder or upon request by cheque to an address specified by the Shareholder less the cost of such transfer or cheque. On written request to the Registrar & Transfer Agent payment may be made in such other currency as may be freely purchased by the Registrar & Transfer Agent. Such currency exchange will be effected by the Registrar & Transfer Agent at the Shareholder's cost.

Requests for redemptions received by the Company up to 12.00 CET on any Dealing Day, will if accepted, be dealt with at the price fixed by reference to the Net Asset Value per Share of the relevant class calculated on the following Valuation Day on the basis of the last available price being the closing price of the Dealing Day. For OFI FUND – RS Global Convertible Bond, requests for redemptions received by the Company up to 12.00 CET on any Dealing Day will, if accepted, be dealt at the price fixed by reference to the Net Asset Value per Share of the relevant class of the following Valuation Day calculated on two days following that Valuation Day on the basis of the last available price being the closing price on that Valuation Day, plus the sales charges if applicable. Applications which are received after 12.00 CET will be dealt with as if received the following Day.

Applications which are received after 12.00 CET will be dealt with as if received the following Dealing Day.

For OFI FUND – RS Actions Européennes, requests for redemptions received by the Company up to 10.00 CET on any Dealing Day, will if accepted, be dealt with at the price fixed by reference to the Net Asset Value per Share of the relevant class calculated on the following Valuation Day on the basis of the last available price being the closing price of the Dealing Day. Applications which are received after 10.00 CET will be dealt with as if received the following Dealing Day.

### **How to convert Shares**

Shareholders may request the conversion of Shares from one Sub-Fund to another Sub-Fund on the basis of the relevant Net Asset Value per Share of the classes and/or Sub-Funds concerned. However, shareholders should note that they cannot convert Shares of one class in a Sub-Fund to Shares of another class in the same or a different Sub-Fund without the prior approval of the Company.

Conversions are dealt with at an unknown Net Asset Value.

In addition, if on a Dealing Day, requests for conversion and requests for redemption would exceed 10% of the net assets of any one class of Shares/Sub-Fund, the Directors may decide that the conversion of all or part of such Shares be postponed to the following Dealing Day considering the same limit of 10% described here above. These conversion requests shall be dealt with on the following Dealing Day, in priority to any other redemptions or conversions requested and received after such Dealing Day.

Instructions for the conversion of Shares should normally be made by providing the appropriate form which accompanies the contract note and is also available from the Registrar & Transfer Agent. Instructions may also be provided by fax provided that the notification is followed by confirmation in writing. Information provided must include full name and address of the holder, the name and class of Shares of the Sub-Fund and number of Shares to be converted and the Sub-Fund and class to be converted into before conversion is undertaken.

Requests for conversion received by the Company up to 12.00 CET on any Dealing Day, will if accepted, be dealt with at the price fixed by reference to the Net Asset Value per Share of the relevant class calculated on the following Valuation Day on the basis of the last available price is the closing price of the Dealing Day. For OFI FUND – RS Global Convertible Bond, requests for conversion received by the Company up to 12.00 CET on any Dealing Day will, if accepted, be dealt at the price fixed by reference to the Net Asset Value per Share of the relevant class of the following Valuation Day calculated on two days following that Valuation Day on the basis of the last available price being the closing price on that Valuation Day, plus the sales charges if applicable.

Applications which are received after 12.00 CET will be dealt with as if received on the following Dealing Day.

For OFI FUND – RS Actions Européennes, requests for conversion received by the Company up to 10.00 CET on any Dealing Day, will if accepted, be dealt with at the price fixed by reference to the Net Asset Value per Share of the relevant class calculated on the following Valuation Day on the basis of the last available price is the closing price of the Dealing Day. Applications which are received after 10.00 CET will be dealt with as if received on the following Dealing Day.

The Principal Distributor may at its discretion authorise a Conversion Charge in respect of class R Shares, which shall not exceed 1% of the Net Asset Value per Share of the Shares being requested for conversion i.e. such fee being taken into account in order to determine the conversion ratio of the shares to be converted. The Conversion Charge shall be paid to the Principal Distributor or to the relevant Sub-Distributor.

Conversion between Shares of one Sub-Fund into Shares of another Sub-Fund will not be available if it is not possible to determine the Net Asset Value per Share of either Sub-Fund due to temporary suspension of calculation of that Sub-Fund. Requests for conversion once made may not be withdrawn except in the event of any such suspension or deferral.

In some jurisdictions a conversion of Shares of one Sub-Fund for Shares of another Sub-Fund may be a disposal of Shares of the original class for the purposes of taxation (generally, capital gains taxation).

Where Shares are registered in the names of joint holders, the Company will accept instructions only from the attorney designated to represent such Shares towards the Company.

#### SUSPENSION OF ISSUE, CONVERSION AND REDEMPTION

There are circumstances under which the issue, conversion and redemption may be suspended. Details of these are given in the Appendix 1, Section V. "Net Asset Value per Share Calculation".

#### **REPORTING**

On acceptance of the application or request, all subscriptions, conversions and redemptions will be confirmed to the Shareholder by contract note, providing full details of the transaction.

## **How to transfer Shares**

Shareholders wishing to transfer some or all of the Shares registered in their names should submit to the Registrar & Transfer Agent a share transfer agreement or other appropriate documentation. No stamp duty is payable in Luxembourg on transfer.

### > MINIMUM HOLDING

Except as otherwise agreed by the Company, no redemption, transfer or conversion may be made which would result in any Shareholder remaining or being registered as the holder of Shares in a Sub-Fund or class where the net assets of such holding would be below the minimum subscription level.

If as a result of any request for redemption, transfer or conversion, the aggregate net assets of the Shares held by any Shareholder would fall below the minimum subscription level specified in Chapter 15 "Shares", the shareholder may be requested to make an additional investment sufficient to meet or exceed the relevant limit. Where the shareholder does not act on this request, a full redemption of the outstanding Share position will be effected by the Company.

### MARKET TIMING

Subscriptions, redemptions and conversions of Shares should be made for investment purposes only. The Company does not permit market-timing or other excessive trading practices. Excessive, short-term (market-timing) trading practices may disrupt portfolio management strategies and harm fund performance. To minimize harm to the Company and the Shareholders, the Directors, the Management Company or the Administration, Registrar and Transfer Agent on its behalf have the right to reject any subscription or conversion order, or levy a fee of up to 2% of the value of the order for the benefit of the Company from any investor who is engaging in excessive trading or has a history of excessive trading or if an investor's trading, in the opinion of the Directors, has been or may be disruptive to the Company or any of the Sub-Funds. In making this judgment, the Directors may consider trading done in multiple accounts under common ownership or control. The Directors also have the power to redeem all Shares held by a Shareholder who is or has been engaged in excessive trading. Neither the Directors nor the Management Company or the Company will be held liable for any loss resulting from rejected orders or mandatory redemptions.

### COMPULSORY REPURCHASE OF SHARES HELD BY NON-ELIGIBLE INVESTORS

The Articles of Incorporation provide that, when the Company believes any of its Shares are held by any US Person, either alone or in conjunction with any other person, it may compulsorily repurchase all such Shares at the price defined in the Articles of Incorporation. In addition, the Articles of Incorporation provide that, the Company may restrict or prevent the ownership of Shares in the Company by any legal person, firm or corporate body, if in the opinion of the Company such holding may be detrimental to the Company. Accordingly, the Company will compulsorily repurchase all Class I Shares held by investors who are not Institutional Investors at the price defined in the Articles of Incorporation.

# **DATA PROTECTION**

In accordance with the Luxembourg data protection law of 1 August 2018 organizing the National Commission for data protection and the general system on data protection and the Regulation n° 2016/679 of 27 April 2016 on the protection of natural persons with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data (the "GDPR", altogether the "Data Protection Law"), the Company and the Management Company, being legal entities, will process, as joint data controllers, personal data, as provided by the Shareholders and/or prospective Shareholders, concerning representatives, contact persons and ultimate beneficial owners of the Shareholders and/or prospective Shareholders and personal data concerning Shareholders and/or prospective Shareholders who are natural persons. All the natural persons mentioned above are hereinafter referred to as "Data Subjects". Shareholders and prospective Shareholders are advised to please consult our General Data Protection Regulation Policy which is available at the registered office of the Company and of the Management Company, and which is also available at the following address: http://www.ofilux.lu/index\_uk.php for more information on why and how such personal data is processed, and on the rights data subjects may exercise over their personal data. Kindly note that a copy of our General Data Protection Regulation form.

Data controllers are obliged to inform data subjects in accordance with the Data Protection Law but in the case when the Shareholders and prospective Shareholders are legal entities the Company will process personal data of their representatives or/and ultimate beneficial owners but are not in direct contact with those persons. Hence, there is a need to oblige the Shareholders to inform those physical persons about the processing of their personal data. Shareholders and prospective Shareholders which are legal persons undertake and guarantee to process Personal Data and to supply such Personal Data to the joint data controllers in compliance with the Data Protection Law, including, where appropriate, informing the Data Subjects,

being representatives of such Shareholders or prospective Shareholders of the contents of the General Data Protection Regulation Notice, in accordance with Articles 12, 13 and/or 14 of the GDPR.

# **17. PRICE INFORMATION**

Prices of Shares will be available on the Internet site of OFI Asset Management (www.ofi-am.fr) and from the registered office of the Company in Luxembourg. Such prices shall relate to the Net Asset Value per Share for the previous Valuation Day and are published for information only. It is not an invitation to subscribe for, redeem or convert Shares at that Net Asset Value per Share. Neither the Company nor the distributors accept responsibility for any error in publication or for non-publication of prices provided that correct information and instructions have been given to the entities/persons in charge of such publications.

# **18.** DIVIDENDS

The Directors intend to declare dividends with respect to certain classes of Shares of certain Sub-Funds so that the Shares of the Sub-Funds will have one of the distribution policies set out below. A complete list of shares, together with the ISIN codes and the dividend policy which will be applicable to the Shares of each Sub-Fund is provided below:

| OFI FUND – RS Global Convertible Bond                     |              |  |  |
|---|--------------|--|--|
| Class I-C EUR H capitalization shares                     | LU0336374540 |  |  |
| Class I-D EUR H distribution shares                       | LU1032517705 |  |  |
| Class I-C CHF H capitalization shares                     | LU0594071630 |  |  |
| Class R-C EUR H capitalization shares                     | LU1688373130 |  |  |
| Class RF EUR H-C capitalization shares                    | LU1800172675 |  |  |
| Class GI-C EUR capitalization shares                      | LU2075187869 |  |  |
| OFI FUND – Euro Breakeven Inflation                       | •            |  |  |
| Class I-C EUR capitalization shares                       | LU0648429354 |  |  |
| Class I-XL-C EUR capitalization shares                    | LU0648430014 |  |  |
| Class RF EUR-C capitalization shares                      | LU1800172915 |  |  |
| OFI FUND – RS Act4 Social Impact                          | •            |  |  |
| Class R-C EUR capitalization shares                       | LU1209226700 |  |  |
| Class I-C EUR capitalization shares                       | LU1209226882 |  |  |
| Class I-D EUR distribution shares                         | LU1209226965 |  |  |
| Class F-C EUR capitalization shares                       | LU1209227344 |  |  |
| OFI FUND – RS Actions Européennes                         | •            |  |  |
| Class I-C EUR capitalization shares                       | LU1209227690 |  |  |
| Class I-D EUR distribution shares                         | LU1209227773 |  |  |
| Class I-XL-C EUR capitalization shares                    | LU1209227856 |  |  |
| Class I-XL-D EUR distribution shares                      | LU1209227930 |  |  |
| OFI FUND – RS Act4 Positive Economy                       | •            |  |  |
| Class R-C EUR capitalization shares                       | LU1209226023 |  |  |
| Class I-C EUR capitalization shares                       | LU1209226296 |  |  |
| Class I-D EUR distribution shares                         | LU1209226379 |  |  |
| Class F-C EUR capitalization shares                       | LU1209226619 |  |  |
| Class GR-C EUR capitalization shares                      | LU1753039368 |  |  |
| Class GI-C EUR capitalization shares                      | LU1753039285 |  |  |
| Class RF EUR-C capitalization shares                      | LU1800172758 |  |  |
| Class I-C EUR H capitalization shares                     | LU1956898065 |  |  |
| Class OFI Actions Economie Positive capital- LU1983381689 |              |  |  |
| ization shares  |              |  |  |
| Class N-D EUR distribution shares                         | LU2243251266 |  |  |

Capitalization: the net income of the assets of the Company attributable to the Shares of the Sub-Fund will not be distributed to Shareholders but will be reflected in the Net Asset Value of the Shares of the Sub-Fund.

Distribution: dividends will be declared on Shares and the net income of the assets of the Company attributable to the Shares of the Sub-Fund will be distributed to shareholders. The Directors may in the case of distribution shares decide to declare interim dividends. No dividend distribution which may result in the Company's net assets being below EUR 1,250,000.- can be made. Dividends not claimed within 5 years following their payment are liable to be forfeited in accordance with the provisions of Luxembourg laws and will accrue for the benefit of the relevant Sub-Fund.

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

**Dividend reinvestment:** dividends will be declared on Shares but automatically reinvested and will be reflected in the Net Asset Value per Share of the Shares of the Sub-Fund. Dividends will be declared to the extent necessary to enable the Company to pursue a full distribution policy in relation to the Shares of the Sub-Fund in respect of each of the Company's accounting periods in accordance with the current tax legislation of the United Kingdom. Shareholders resident in the United Kingdom should note that reinvested dividends are likely to be subject to income tax in the United Kingdom.

The Directors may declare such dividends on the Shares of any Sub-Fund with a dividend reinvestment policy as appears to them to be justified out of the profits of the Shares of the relevant Sub-Fund. Dividends may not be declared out of profits from the realisation of investments or unrealised gains, except that realised profits on investments may be applied to the extent necessary to enable the Company to pursue a full distribution policy in respect of each of the Company's accounting periods in accordance with the current tax legislation of the United Kingdom.

Reinvested dividends may be treated as taxable income in certain jurisdictions. Shareholders should seek their own professional tax advice. Reflected in dealing prices of Shares will be an income equalisation amount representing

- in the case of dividend reinvestment and distribution, the value of any income attributable to the Shares accrued since the last ex-dividend date;
- in the case of capitalization, the value of any income attributable to the Shares accrued since the end of the last accounting year.

On the first dividend declaration/capitalization after the issue of the Shares (or on the redemption of the Shares if redeemed before a dividend is declared), included in the payment will be a sum equal to the income equalisation amounts reflected in the dealing prices at which the Shares were issued.

#### **Declaration of dividends**

Dividends in respect of the Shares of a Sub-Fund with dividend reinvestment or dividend distribution policies will normally be declared annually within 6 weeks of the financial year end.

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

# **19. TAXATION**

## **LUXEMBOURG TAXATION**

The following information is of a general nature only and is based on the Company's understanding of certain aspects of the laws and practice in force in Luxembourg as of the date of this Prospectus. It does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all of the tax considerations that might be relevant to an investment decision. It is included herein solely for preliminary information purposes. It is not intended to be, nor should it be construed to be, legal or tax advice. It is a description of the essential material Luxembourg tax consequences with respect to the Shares and may not include tax considerations that arise from rules of general application or that are generally assumed to be known to shareholders. This summary is based on the laws in force in Luxembourg on the date of this Prospectus and is subject to any change in law that may take effect after such date. Prospective shareholders should consult their professional advisors with respect to particular circumstances, the effects of state, local or foreign laws to which they may be subject and as to their tax position.

Under current Luxembourg law, there are no Luxembourg ordinary income, capital gains, estate or inheritance taxes payable by the Company or its shareholders in respect of their Shares in the Company, except by shareholders who are domiciled in, residents of, or having a permanent establishment or a permanent representative in the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg. Class R Shares, Class RF EUR Shares and Class RF EUR H Shares of the Company are subject to the taxes on Luxembourg undertakings for collective investment at the rate of 0.05% per annum of the value of the total net assets of such class on the last day of each calendar quarter. Class I Shares, Class I-XL Shares, Class F and Class OFI ACTIONS ECONOMIE POSITIVE Shares of the Company are subject to the taxes on Luxembourg undertakings for collective investment at the rate of 0.01% per annum of the value of the value of the total net assets of such class on the last day of each calendar quarter.

No stamp duty or other tax is payable in Luxembourg on the issue of Shares in the Company against cash, except a fixed registration duty of EUR 75.- if the articles of incorporation of the Company are amended.

# > GENERAL

The Company will use its best efforts to conduct its operations in such a manner that it will not be subject to taxation in any jurisdiction other than Luxembourg and to invest primarily in investments not subject to any withholding tax on interest or discounts.

# Income derived from the Company's investments in securities held in certain Sub-Funds may be subject to withholding taxes withheld at source in the countries of the issuers of such securities and which may not always be recoverable.

It is expected that shareholders in the Company will be resident for tax purposes in many different countries. Consequently, no attempt is made in this Prospectus to summarize the taxation consequences for each investor of subscribing, converting, holding or redeeming or otherwise acquiring or disposing of Shares in the Company. These consequences will vary in accordance with the law and practice currently in force in a shareholder's country of citizenship, residence, domicile or incorporation and with his personal circumstances.

Investors should inform themselves of, and when appropriate consult their professional advisers on, the possible tax consequences of subscribing for, buying, holding, converting, redeeming or otherwise disposing of Shares under the laws of their country of citizenship, residence, domicile or incorporation.

## **Common Reporting Standard**

Capitalized terms used in this section should have the meaning as set forth in the CRS Law (as defined below), unless otherwise provided herein.

On 9 December 2014, the Council of the EU adopted the Directive 2014/107/EU amending the Directive 2011/16/EU of 15 February 2011 on administrative cooperation in the field of taxation which now provides for an automatic exchange of financial account information between EU Member States (the "**DAC Directive**"). The adoption of the aforementioned directive implements the OECD's Common Reporting Standard ("**CRS**") and generalizes the automatic exchange of information within the EU as of 1 January 2016.

In addition, Luxembourg signed the OECD's multilateral competent authority agreement (the "**Multilateral Agreement**") to automatically exchange information under the CRS. Under this Multilateral Agreement, Luxembourg will automatically exchange financial account information with other participating jurisdictions as of 1 January 2016. The amended Luxembourg law of 18 December 2015 (the "**CRS Law**") implements this Multilateral Agreement, jointly with the DAC Directive introducing the CRS in Luxembourg law.

Under the terms of the CRS Law, the Company is likely to be treated as a Luxembourg Reporting Financial Institution.

As such, the Company may be required to annually report to the Luxembourg tax authorities personal and financial information related, *inter alia*, to the identification of (such as, the name, address, Member State(s) of residence, tax identification number(s), as well as the date and place of birth), holdings by and payments made to (i) certain shareholders qualifying as Reportable Persons and (ii) Controlling Persons of Passive Non-Financial Entities ("**NFEs**") which are themselves Reportable Persons. This information, as exhaustively set out in Annex I of the CRS Law (the "**Information**"), will include personal data related to the Reportable Persons.

The Company's ability to satisfy its reporting obligations under the CRS Law will depend on each shareholder providing the Company and the Management Company with the Information along with the required supporting documentary evidence. Upon request of the Company or the Management Company, each shareholder shall agree to provide the Company or the Management Company with such information. In this context, shareholders are hereby informed that, as joint data controllers, the Company and the Management Company will process the Information for the purposes as set out in the CRS Law.

Shareholders qualifying as Passive NFEs undertake to inform their Controlling Persons, if applicable, of the processing of their Information by the Company and the Management Company.

Additionally, the Company and the Management Company, as joint data controllers, are responsible for the processing of personal data and each shareholder has a right to access the data communicated to the Luxembourg tax authorities and to correct such data (if necessary). Any data obtained by the Company and the Management Company are to be processed in accordance with the Data Protection Law.

The shareholders are further informed that the Information related to Reportable Persons will be disclosed to the Luxembourg tax authorities annually for the purposes set out in the CRS Law. The Luxembourg tax authorities will, under their own responsibility, eventually exchange the reported information to the competent authority of the Reportable Jurisdiction(s). In particular, Reportable Persons are informed that certain operations performed by them will be reported to them through the issuance of statements, and that part of this information will serve as a basis for the annual disclosure to the Luxembourg tax authorities.

Similarly, the shareholders undertake to inform the Company and the Management Company within thirty (30) days of receipt of these statements should any included personal data not be accurate. The shareholders further undertake to immediately inform the Company and the Management Company of, and provide the Company and the Management Company with all supporting documentary evidence of any changes related to the Information after occurrence of such changes.

Although the Company will attempt to satisfy any obligation imposed on it to avoid any fines or penalties imposed by the CRS Law, no assurance can be given that the Company will be able to satisfy these obligations. If the Company becomes subject to a fine or penalty as result of the CRS Law, the value of the Shares held by the shareholders may suffer material losses.

Any shareholder that fails to comply with the Company or the Management Company's Information or documentation requests may be charged with any fines and penalties imposed on the Company attributable to such shareholder's failure to provide the Information or subject to disclosure of the Information by the Company to the Luxembourg tax authorities and the Company may, in its sole discretion, redeem the Shares of such shareholder.

Shareholders should consult their own tax advisor or otherwise seek professional advice regarding the impact of the CRS Law on their investment.

#### > TAX IMPLICATION OF THE INVESTMENT INTO A MASTER FUND

To the extent a withholding tax would be levied in the country of origin of a Master Fund on distributions made by such Master Fund to a Feeder Fund or capital gains realized by such Feeder Fund with regard to its investment in a Master Fund, such foreign withholding tax would however not be credited against any corporate income tax ("CIT") liability in Luxembourg, given the Company is not subject to such CIT. There are no other specific Luxembourg tax implications for a Luxembourg Feeder Fund in relation to its investment into a Master Fund.

Prior to investing, prospective investors should consult with their counsel and tax advisers to determine the consequences of such investment and determine if there is any tax implication for them.

# **FATCA**

Capitalized terms used in this section should have the meaning as set forth in the FATCA Law, unless otherwise provided herein.

The Company may be subject to the so-called FATCA legislation which generally requires reporting to the IRS of non-US financial institutions that do not comply with FATCA and direct or indirect ownership by US persons of non-US entities. As part of the process of implementing FATCA, the US government has negotiated intergovernmental agreements with certain foreign jurisdictions which are intended to streamline reporting and compliance requirements for entities established in such foreign jurisdictions and subject to FATCA.

Luxembourg has entered into the IGA implemented by the FATCA Law which requires Financial Institutions located in Luxembourg to report, when required, information on Financial Accounts held by Specified US Persons, if any, to the Luxembourg tax authorities.

Under the terms of the FATCA Law, the Company is likely to be treated as a Luxembourg Reporting Financial Institution.

This status includes the obligation for the Company to regularly obtain and verify information on all of its shareholders. Upon request of the Company or the Management Company, each shareholder shall agree to provide certain information, including, in case of a passive Non-Financial Foreign Entity ("**NFFE**") information on the Controlling Persons, of such NFFE, along with the required supporting documentation. Similarly, each shareholder shall agree to actively provide to the Company and the Management Company within thirty (30) days any information that would affect its status, as for instance a new mailing address or a new residency address.

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

The FATCA Law may result in the obligation for the Company to disclose the name, address and taxpayer identification number (if available) of certain shareholders as well as information such as account balances, income and gross proceeds (non-exhaustive list) to the Luxembourg tax authorities (*Administration des contributions directes*) for the purposes set out in the FATCA Law. Such information will be onward reported by the Luxembourg tax authorities to the IRS.

Shareholders qualifying as passive NFFEs undertake to inform their Controlling Persons, if applicable, of the processing of their information by the Company and the Management Company.

Additionally, the Company and the Management Company, as joint data controllers, are responsible for the processing of personal data and each shareholder has a right to access the data communicated to the Luxembourg tax authorities and to correct such data (if necessary). Any data obtained by the Company and the Management Company are to be processed in accordance with the Luxembourg Data Protection Law.

Although the Company will attempt to satisfy any obligation imposed on it to avoid imposition of FATCA withholding tax, no assurance can be given that the Company will be able to satisfy these obligations. If the Company becomes subject to a withholding tax or penalties as result of the FATCA regime, the value of the Shares held by the shareholder may suffer material losses. A failure for the Company to obtain such information from each shareholder and to transmit it to the Luxembourg tax authorities may trigger the 30% withholding tax to be imposed on payments of US source income and on proceeds from the sale of property or other assets that could give rise to US source interest and dividends as well as penalties.

Any shareholder that fails to comply with the Company or the Management Company's documentation requests may be charged with any taxes and/or penalties imposed on the Company attributable to such shareholder's failure to provide the information and the Company may, in its sole discretion, redeem the Shares of such shareholder.

Shareholders who invest through intermediaries are reminded to check if and how their intermediaries will comply with this US withholding tax and reporting regime.

All prospective investors and shareholders are advised to consult with their own tax advisors regarding the possible implications of FATCA on their investment in the Company.

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

# **APPENDIX** 1

### **I. INVESTMENT GUIDELINES AND RESTRICTIONS**

- A. Investments in the Sub-Funds shall consist solely of:
- (1) Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments listed or dealt in on a Regulated Market;
- (2) Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments dealt in on an Other Regulated Market in a Member State;
- (3) Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments admitted to official listing on a stock exchange in an Other State or dealt in on an Other Regulated Market in an Other State;
- (4) recently issued Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments, provided that:
  - the terms of issue include an undertaking that application will be made for admission to official listing on a Regulated Market or on an Other Regulated Market as described under (1)-(3) above;
  - · such admission is secured within one year of issue.
- (5) units of UCITS authorised according to the Directive and/or other UCIs within the meaning of the Article 1, paragraph (2), points a) and b) of Directive, whether or not established in a Member State or in an Other State, provided that:
  - such other UCIs are authorised under laws which provide that they are subject to supervision considered by the Regulatory Authority to be equivalent to that laid down in EU law, and that cooperation between authorities is sufficiently ensured (currently the United States of America, Canada, Switzerland, Hong Kong and Japan, as well as the United Kingdom);
  - the level of protection for unitholders in such other UCIs is equivalent to that provided for unitholders in a UCITS, and in particular that the rules on
    assets segregation, borrowing, lending, and short sales of Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments are equivalent to the requirements
    of the Directive;
  - the business of the other UCIs is reported in half-yearly and annual reports to enable an assessment of the assets and liabilities, income and operations over the reporting period;
  - no more than 10% of the assets of the UCITS or of the other UCIs, whose acquisition is contemplated, can, according to their constitutional documents, in aggregate be invested in units of other UCITS or other UCIs;
- (6) deposits with credit institutions which are repayable on demand or have the right to be withdrawn, and maturing in no more than 12 months, provided that the credit institution has its registered office in a Member State or, if the registered office of the credit institution is situated in an Other State, provided that it is subject to prudential rules considered by the Regulatory Authority as equivalent to those laid down in EU law;
- (7) financial derivative instruments, i.e. in particular options, futures, including equivalent cash-settled instruments, dealt in on a Regulated Market or on an Other Regulated Market referred to in (1), (2) and (3) above, and/or financial derivative instruments dealt in over-the-counter ("OTC derivatives"), provided that:
- the underlying consists of instruments covered by this Section A, financial indices, interest rates, foreign exchange rates or currencies, in which the Sub-Fund may invest according to its investment objectives;
  - the counterparties to OTC derivative transactions are institutions subject to prudential supervision, and belonging to the categories approved by the Regulatory Authority; and
  - the OTC derivatives are subject to reliable and verifiable valuation on a daily basis and can be sold, liquidated or closed by an offsetting transaction at any time at their fair value at the Company's initiative.
- (ii) Under no circumstances shall these operations cause the Sub-Fund to diverge from its investment objectives.
- (8) Money Market Instruments other than those dealt in on a Regulated Market or on an Other Regulated Market, to the extent that the issue or the issuer of such instruments is itself regulated for the purpose of protecting investors and savings, and provided that such instruments are:
  - issued or guaranteed by a central, regional or local authority or by a central bank of a Member State, the European Central Bank, the EU or the European Investment Bank, an Other State or, in case of a Federal State, by one of the members making up the federation, or by a public international body to which one or more Member States are members; or
  - issued by an undertaking any securities of which are dealt in on Regulated Markets or on Other Regulated Markets referred to in (1), (2) or (3) above; or
  - issued or guaranteed by an establishment subject to prudential supervision, in accordance with criteria defined by EU law, or by an establishment which is subject to and complies with prudential rules considered by the Regulatory Authority to be at least as stringent as those laid down by EU law; or
  - issued by other bodies belonging to the categories approved by the Regulatory Authority provided that investments in such instruments are subject to investor protection equivalent to that laid down in the first, the second or the third indent and provided that the issuer is a company whose capital and reserves amount to at least ten million euro (EUR 10,000,000.-) and which presents and publishes its annual accounts in accordance with directive 78/660/EEC, is an entity which, within a Group of Companies which includes one or several listed companies, is dedicated to the financing of the group or is an entity which is dedicated to the financing of securitisation vehicles which benefit from a banking liquidity line.

### B. Each Sub-Fund may however:

- (1) Invest up to 10% of its net assets in Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments other than those referred to above under A (1) through (4) and (8).
- (2) Hold cash and cash equivalents on an ancillary basis; such restriction may exceptionally and temporarily be exceeded if the Directors consider this to be in the best interest of the shareholders.
- (3) Borrow up to 10% of its net assets, provided that such borrowings are made only on a temporary basis. For the purpose of this restriction back-toback loans are not considered to be borrowings.
- (4) Acquire foreign currency by means of a back-to-back loan.
- C. In addition, the Company shall comply in respect of the net assets of each Sub-Fund with the following investment restrictions per issuer:

## (a) Risk Diversification Rules

For the purpose of calculating the restrictions described in (1) to (5) and (8), (9), (13) and (14) hereunder, companies which are included in the same Group of Companies are regarded as a single issuer.

To the extent an issuer is a legal entity with multiple sub-funds where the assets of a sub-fund are exclusively reserved to the investors in such subfund and to those creditors whose claim has arisen in connection with the creation, operation and liquidation of that sub-fund, each sub-fund is to be considered as a separate issuer for the purpose of the application of the risk spreading rules described under items (1) to (5), (7) to (9) and (12) to (14) hereunder.

#### **Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments**

- (1) No Sub-Fund may purchase additional Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments of any single issuer if:
- (i) upon such purchase more than 10% of its net assets would consist of Transferable Securities or Money Market Instruments of one single issuer; or
- (ii) the total value of all Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments of issuers in each of which it invests more than 5% of its net assets would exceed 40% of the value of its net assets. This limitation does not apply to deposits and OTC derivative transactions made with financial institutions subject to prudential supervision.
- (2) A Sub-Fund may invest on a cumulative basis up to 20% of its net assets in Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments issued by the same Group of Companies.
- (3) The limit of 10% set forth above under (1) (i) is increased to 35% in respect of Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments issued or guaranteed by a Member State, by its local authorities, by any Other State or by a public international body of which one or more Member State(s) are member(s).
- (4) The limit of 10% set forth above under (1) (i) is increased up to 25% in respect of qualifying debt securities issued by a credit institution which has its registered office in a Member State or in the United Kingdom and which, under applicable law, is submitted to specific public supervision in order to protect the holders of such qualifying debt securities. For the purposes hereof, "qualifying debt securities" are securities the proceeds of which are invested in accordance with applicable law in assets providing a return which will cover the debt service through to the maturity date of the securities and which will be applied on a priority basis to the payment of principal and interest in the event of a default by the issuer. To the extent that a relevant Sub-Fund invests more than 5% of its net assets in qualifying debt securities issued by such an issuer, the total value of such investments may not exceed 80% of the net assets of such Sub-Fund.
- (5) The securities specified above under (3) and (4) are not to be included for purposes of computing the ceiling of 40% set forth above under (1) (ii).
- (6) Notwithstanding the ceilings set forth above, each Sub-Fund is authorized to invest, in accordance with the principle of risk spreading, up to 100% of its net assets in Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments issued or guaranteed by a Member State, by one or more of its local authorities, by a member state of the OECD or the Group of Twenty (G20) such as the United States of America, by the Republic of Singapore, or by a public international body of which one or more Member State(s) are member(s), provided that (i) such securities are part of at least six different issues and (ii) the securities from any such issue do not account for more than 30% of the net assets of such Sub-Fund.
- (7) Without prejudice to the limits set forth hereunder under (b), the limits set forth in (1) are raised to a maximum of 20% for investments in shares and/or bonds issued by the same body when the aim of the Sub-Fund's investment policy is to replicate the composition of a certain stock or bond index which is recognised by the Regulatory Authority, on the following basis:
   the composition of the index is sufficiently diversified,

- the index represents an adequate benchmark for the market to which it refers,
- it is published in an appropriate manner.

The limit of 20% is raised to 35% where that proves to be justified by exceptional market conditions in particular in Regulated Markets where certain Transferable Securities or Money Market Instruments are highly dominant. The investment up to this limit is only permitted for a single issuer.

### **Bank Deposits**

(8) A Sub-Fund may not invest more than 20% of its net assets in deposits made with the same body.

## **Financial Derivative Instruments**

- (9) The risk exposure to a counterparty in an OTC derivative transaction may not exceed 10% of the Sub-Fund's net assets when the counterparty is a credit institution referred to in A (6) above or 5% of its net assets in other cases.
- (10) Investment in financial derivative instruments shall only be made, and within the limits set forth in (2), (5) and (14), provided that the exposure of the underlying assets does not exceed in aggregate the investment limits set forth in (1) to (5), (8), (9), (13) and (14). When the Sub-Fund invests in index-based financial derivative instruments, these investments do not necessarily have to be combined to the limits set forth in (1) to (5), (8), (9), (13) and (14).
- (11) When a Transferable Security or Money Market Instrument embeds a financial derivative, the latter must be taken into account when complying with the requirements of (A) (7) (ii) above, (C) (a) (10) and (D) hereunder as well as with the risk exposure and information requirements laid down in the present Prospectus. When a Sub-Fund invests in diversified indices within the limits laid down in A (7), the exposure to the individual indices will comply with the limits laid down in (C) (a) (7). Transferable securities or money market instruments backed by other assets are not deemed to embed a financial derivative instrument.

To the extent the Sub-Funds do not have for main strategy to use total return swaps or other financial derivative instruments with the same characteristics, no information on the underlying strategy and composition of the investment portfolio or index has been disclosed. However, should one or several Sub-Funds contemplate to use primarily such instruments, appropriate disclosures will be added according to the ESMA Guidelines 2014/937 on ETFs and other UCITS.

The Company, the Management Company or the Investment Managers have OTC derivatives relationships with several counterparties. A list of these counterparties may be obtained free of charge from the Company or the Management Company.

None of these counterparties has a discretionary power over the composition or the management of the Sub-Funds' portfolios. To the best of the Company and the Management Company's knowledge and belief, none of these counterparties has a discretionary power over the underlying assets of the financial derivative instruments traded by the Sub-Funds. None of these counterparties has to approve any transaction relating to the Sub-Funds' portfolios. None of these counterparties as an investment manager.

#### Units of Open-Ended Funds

(12) No Sub-Fund may invest more than 10% of its net assets in the units of a single UCITS or other UCI unless otherwise determined by the board of directors and disclosed in this Prospectus for a specific sub-fund. For the purpose of the application of this investment limit, each compartment of a UCI with multiple compartments within the meaning of Article 181 of the 2010 Law is to be considered as a separate issuer provided that the principle of segregation of the obligations of the various compartments vis-à-vis third parties is ensured. Investments made in units of UCIs other than UCITS may not in aggregate exceed 30% of the net assets of a Sub-Fund.

When a Sub-Fund has acquired units of UCITS and/or other UCIs, the assets of the respective UCITS or other UCIs do not have to be combined for the purposes of the limits laid down in (1) to (5), (8), (9), (13) and (14).

When a Sub-Fund invests in the units of other UCITS and/or other UCIs that are managed, directly or by delegation, by the same management company or by any other company with which the management company is linked by common management or control, or by a direct or indirect holding of more than 10% of the shares or voting rights, that management company or other company may not charge subscription or redemption fees on account of the Sub-Fund's investment in the units of such other UCITS and/or UCIs.

A Sub-Fund that invests in the units of other UCITS and/or other UCIs according to the previous paragraph, the management company or any other company may only charge a reduced management fee of up to 0,25% for the investment of the Sub-Fund in the units of these other UCITS and/or other UCIs. If a Sub-Fund invests in the units of other linked UCITS or UCIs whose management fee is lower than the Sub-Fund's management fee, the Sub-Fund may charge the difference between its management fee's percentages and the one of the other linked UCITS or UCIs. The Sub-Fund shall disclose in this prospectus the maximum level of the management fees that may be charged both to the Sub-Fund itself and to the other UCITS and/or other UCIs in which it intends to invest. In its annual report the Company shall indicate the maximum proportion of management fees charged both to the Sub-Fund itself and to the UCITS and/or other UCIs in which it invests.

## **Combined limits**

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

- (13) Notwithstanding the individual limits laid down in (1), (8) and (9) above, a Sub-Fund may not combine:
  - · investments in Transferable Securities or Money Market Instruments issued by,
  - deposits made with, and/or
  - exposures arising from OTC derivative transactions undertaken with a single body in excess of 20% of its net assets.
- (14) The limits set out in (1), (3), (4), (8), (9) and (13) above may not be combined, and thus investments in Transferable Securities or Money Market Instruments issued by the same body, in deposits or derivative instruments made with this body carried out in accordance with (1), (3), (4), (8), (9) and (13) above may not exceed a total of 35% of the net assets of a Sub-Fund.

# (b) Limitations on Control

- (15) No Sub-Fund may acquire such amount of shares carrying voting rights which would enable the Company to exercise a significant influence over the management of the issuer.
- (16) The Company may not acquire (i) more than 10% of the outstanding non-voting shares of any one issuer; (ii) more than 10% of the outstanding debt securities of any one issuer; (iii) more than 10% of the Money Market Instruments of any one issuer; or (iv) more than 25% of the outstanding shares or units of any one UCITS and/or other UCI.

The limits set forth in (ii) to (iv) may be disregarded at the time of acquisition if at that time the gross amount of bonds or of the Money Market Instruments or the net amount of the instruments in issue cannot be calculated.

- The ceilings set forth above under (15) and (16) do not apply in respect of:
- Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments issued or guaranteed by a Member State or by its local authorities;
- Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments issued or guaranteed by any Other State;
- Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments issued by a public international body of which one or more Member State(s) are member(s);
- shares in the capital of a company which is incorporated under or organized pursuant to the laws of an Other State provided that (i) such company invests its assets principally in securities issued by issuers of that State, (ii) pursuant to the laws of that State a participation by the relevant Sub-Fund in the equity of such company constitutes the only possible way to purchase securities of issuers of that State, and (iii) such company observes in its investment policy the restrictions set forth under C, items (1) to (5), (8), (9) and (12) to (16); and
- shares in the capital of subsidiary companies which, exclusively on behalf of the Company carry on only the business of management, advice
  or marketing in the country where the subsidiary is located, in regard to the redemption of shares at the request of shareholders.

#### Master-Feeder structure

Each Sub-Fund may act as a feeder fund (the "Feeder Fund") of a master fund. In such case, the relevant Sub-Fund will invest at least 85% of its assets in shares/units of another UCITS or of a sub-fund of such UCITS (the "Master Fund"), which is not itself a Feeder Fund nor holds units/shares of a Feeder Fund. The Sub-Fund, as Feeder Fund, may not invest more than 15% of its assets in one or more of the following:

- ancillary liquid assets in accordance with Article 41 second indent of second paragraph of the 2010 Law;
- financial derivative instruments, which may be used only for hedging purposes, in accordance with Article 41 first indent, point g) and Article 42 second and third indents of the 2010 Law;
- movable and immovable property which is essential for the direct pursuit of the Company's business.

When a Sub-Fund invests in the shares/units of a Master Fund which is managed, directly or by delegation, by the same management company or by any other company with which the management company is linked by common management or control, or by a substantial direct or indirect holding, that management company or other company may not charge subscription or redemption fees on account of the Sub-Fund's investment in the shares/units of the Master Fund.

A Feeder Fund that invests into a Master Fund will disclose in the portion of the Prospectus relating to such Sub-Fund the maximum level of the management fees that may be charged both to the Feeder Fund itself and to the Master Fund in which it intends to invest. In its annual report, the Company will indicate the maximum proportion of management fees charged both to the Sub-Fund itself and to the Master Fund. The Master Fund will not charge subscription or redemption fees for the investment of the Feeder Fund into its shares/units or the divestment thereof.

# D. In addition, the Company shall comply in respect of its net assets with the following investment restrictions per instrument:

Each Sub-Fund shall ensure that its global risk exposure relating to derivative instruments does not exceed the total net value of its portfolio.

The exposure is calculated taking into account the current value of the underlying assets, the counterparty risk, foreseeable market movements and the time available to liquidate the positions.

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

### E. Finally, the Company shall comply in respect of the assets of each Sub-Fund with the following investment restrictions:

- (1) No Sub-Fund may acquire precious metals or certificates representative thereof.
- (2) No Sub-Fund may invest in real estate provided that investments may be made in securities secured by real estate or interests therein or issued by companies which invest in real estate or interests therein.
- (3) No Sub-Fund may use its assets to underwrite any securities.
- (4) No Sub-Fund may issue warrants or other rights to subscribe for Shares in such Sub-Fund.
- (5) A Sub-Fund may not grant loans or guarantees in favour of a third party, provided that such restriction shall not prevent each Sub-Fund from investing in non-fully paid-up Transferable Securities, Money Market Instruments or other financial instruments, as mentioned under A, items (5), (7) and (8).
- (6) The Company may not enter into short sales of Transferable Securities, Money Market Instruments or other financial instruments as listed under A, items (5), (7) and (8).

#### F. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein contained:

- (1) The ceilings set forth above may be disregarded by each Sub-Fund when exercising subscription rights attaching to transferable securities or money market instruments in such Sub-Fund's portfolio. While ensuring observance of the principle of risk-spreading, recently authorized UCITS may derogate from the limits under items C (a) (1)-(5), C (a) (6), C (a) (7) and C (a) (12) for a period of six months following the date of their authorization.
- (2) If such ceilings are exceeded for reasons beyond the control of a Sub-Fund or as a result of the exercise of subscription rights, such Sub-Fund must adopt as its priority objective in its sale transactions the remedying of such situation, taking due account of the interests of its shareholders.

The Directors have the right to determine additional investment restrictions to the extent that those restrictions are necessary to comply with the laws and regulations of countries where Shares of the Company are offered or sold.

#### Investments from one Sub-Fund into another Sub-Fund:

A Sub-Fund may subscribe, acquire and/or hold units to be issued or issued by one or more Sub-Funds of the Company under the conditions that:

- the target Sub-Fund does not, in turn, invest in the Sub-Fund Invested in this target Sub-Fund; and
- no more than 10% of the assets of the target Sub-Funds whose acquisition is contemplated, may be invested in aggregate in units of other UCIs; and
- voting rights, if any, attaching to the instruments in the target Sub-Fund are suspended for as long as they are held by the Sub-Fund concerned, but without prejudice to the appropriate processing in the accounts and the periodic reports; and
- in any event, for as long as interests in one Sub-Fund are held by another, their value will not be taken into consideration for the calculation of the net assets of the Company for the purposes of verifying the minimum threshold of the net assets imposed by the 2010 Law.

## **II. INVESTMENT TECHNIQUES AND INSTRUMENTS**

The Sub-Funds must comply with the requirements of ESMA Guidelines 2014/937 on ETFs and other UCITS.

#### A. General

The Company may employ techniques and instruments relating to Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments provided that such techniques and instruments are used for the purposes of efficient portfolio management within the meaning of, and under the conditions set out in, applicable laws, regulations and circulars issued by the CSSF from time to time. In particular, those techniques and instruments should not result in a change of the declared investment objective of the Sub-Fund or add substantial supplementary risks in comparison to the stated risk profile of the Sub-Fund.

The risk exposure to a counterparty generated through efficient portfolio management techniques and OTC financial derivatives must be combined when calculating counterparty risk limits referred to under the above Section I. "Investment Guidelines and Restrictions".

All revenues arising from efficient portfolio management techniques, net of direct and indirect operational costs and fees, will be returned to the Sub-Fund. In particular, fees and cost may be paid to agents of the Company and other intermediaries providing services in connection with efficient portfolio management techniques as normal compensation of their services. Such fees may be calculated as a percentage of gross revenues earned

by the Sub-Fund through the use of such techniques. Such fees are allocated as follows: (i) 55% shall revert to the Sub-Fund, (ii) 30% to the agent or other intermediaries and (iii) 15% shall revert to the Management Company. Information on direct and indirect operational costs and fees that may be incurred in this respect as well as the identity of the entities to which such costs and fees are paid – as well as any relationship they may have with the Depositary or the Management Company – will also be available in the annual report of the Company.

# **B.** Securities lending transaction

Securities lending transactions consist in transactions whereby a lender transfers securities or instruments to a borrower, subject to a commitment that the borrower will return equivalent securities or instruments on a future date or when requested to do so by the lender, such transaction being considered as securities lending for the party transferring the securities or instruments and being considered as securities borrowing for the counterparty to which they are transferred.

The Company may more specifically enter into securities lending transactions provided that the following rules are complied with in addition to the above mentioned conditions:

- (i) The borrower in a securities lending transaction must be subject to prudential supervision rules considered by the CSSF as equivalent to those prescribed by EU law;
- (ii) The Company may only lend securities to a borrower either directly or through a standardised system organised by a recognised clearing institution or through a lending system organised by a financial institution subject to prudential supervision rules considered by the CSSF as equivalent to those provided by EU law and specialised in this type of transaction;
- (iii) The Company may only enter into securities lending transactions provided that it is entitled at any time under the terms of the agreement to request the return of the securities lent or to terminate the agreement.

## C. Repurchase and reverse repurchase transactions

Repurchase agreements consist of transactions governed by an agreement whereby a party sells securities or instruments to a counterparty, subject to a commitment to repurchase them, or substituted securities or instruments of the same description, from the counterparty at a specified price on a future date specified, or to be specified, by the transferor. Such transactions are commonly referred to as repurchase agreements for the party selling the securities or instruments, and reverse repurchase agreements for the counterparty buying them.

The Company may enter into repurchase agreements that consist of forward transactions at the maturity of which the Company (seller) has the obligation to repurchase the assets sold and the counterparty (buyer) the obligation to return the assets purchased under the transactions. The Company may further enter into reverse repurchase agreements that consist of forward transactions at the maturity of which the counterparty (seller) has the obligation to repurchase the assets sold and the Company (buyer) the obligation to return the assets purchased under the transactions. The Company may also enter into transactions that consist of the purchase/sale of securities with a clause reserving for the counterparty/Company the right to repurchase the securities from the Company/counterparty at a price and term specified by the parties in their contractual arrangements.

The Company's involvement in such transactions is, however, subject to the additional following rules:

(i) The counterparty to these transactions must be subject to prudential supervision rules considered by the CSSF as equivalent to those prescribed by EU law;

(ii) The Company may only enter into reverse repurchase agreement and/or repurchase agreement transactions provided that it is able at any time (a) to recall the full amount of cash in a reverse repurchase agreement or any securities subject to a repurchase agreement or (b) to terminate the agreement in accordance with applicable regulations. However, fixed-term transactions that do not exceed seven days should be considered as arrangements on terms that allow the assets to be recalled at any time by the Company.

#### Management of collateral and collateral policy

#### General

In the context of OTC financial derivatives transactions and efficient portfolio management techniques, each Sub-Fund may receive collateral with a view to reduce its counterparty risk. This section sets out the collateral policy applied by the Company in such case. All assets received by a Sub-Fund in the context of efficient portfolio management techniques (securities lending, repurchase or reverse repurchase agreements) shall be considered as collateral for the purposes of this section. All collateral received by the Sub-Funds will be held in segregated accounts opened with the Depositary.

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

#### Eligible collateral

Collateral received by the relevant Sub-Fund may be used to reduce its counterparty risk exposure if it complies with the criteria set out in applicable laws, regulations and circulars issued by the CSSF from time to time notably in terms of liquidity, valuation, issuer credit quality, correlation, risks linked to the management of collateral and enforceability. In particular, collateral should comply with the following conditions:

- (a) Any collateral received other than cash should be of high quality, highly liquid and traded on a regulated market or multilateral trading facility with transparent pricing in order that it can be sold quickly at a price that is close to pre-sale valuation;
- (b) It should be valued on at least a daily basis and assets that exhibit high price volatility should not be accepted as collateral unless suitably conservative haircuts are in place;
- (c) It should be issued by an entity that is independent from the counterparty and is expected not to display a high correlation with the performance of the counterparty;
- (d) It should be sufficiently diversified in terms of country, markets and issuers with a maximum exposure of 20% of the Sub-Fund's net asset value to any single issuer on an aggregate basis, taking into account all collateral received;
- (e) It should be capable of being fully enforced by the relevant Sub-Fund at any time without reference to or approval from the counterparty.

Subject to the abovementioned conditions, collateral received by the Sub-Funds may consist of:

- (a) Cash and cash equivalents, including short-term bank certificates and Money Market Instruments;
- (b) Bonds issued or guaranteed by a Member State of the OECD or by their local public authorities or by supranational institutions and undertakings with EU, regional or worldwide scope;
- (c) Shares or units issued by money market UCIs calculating a daily net asset value and being assigned a rating of AAA or its equivalent;
- (d) Shares or units issued by UCITS investing mainly in bonds/shares mentioned in (e) and (f) below;
- (e) Bonds issued or guaranteed by first class issuers offering adequate liquidity;
- (f) Shares admitted to or dealt in on a regulated market of a Member State or on a stock exchange of a Member State of the OECD, on the condition that these shares are included in a main index.

#### Level of collateral

Each Sub-Fund will determine the required level of collateral for OTC financial derivatives transactions and efficient portfolio management techniques by reference to the applicable counterparty risk limits set out in this Prospectus and taking into account the nature and characteristics of transactions, the creditworthiness and identity of counterparties and prevailing market conditions.

With respect to securities lending, the relevant Sub-Fund will generally require the borrower to post collateral representing, at any time during the lifetime of the agreement, at least 100% of the total value of the securities lent. Repurchase agreement and reverse repurchase agreements will generally be collateralised, at any time during the lifetime of the agreement, at a minimum of 100% of their notional amount.

OTC financial derivative transactions: the Company may require the counterparty to an OTC derivative to post collateral in favour of the Sub-Fund representing, at any time during the lifetime of the agreement, at least 100% of the Sub-Fund's exposure under the transaction.

#### Haircut Policy applicable for OTC derivatives

The following haircuts are in place, if applied, in respect of collateral received in the context of OTC derivative transactions:

| Collateral Instrument Type                         | Valuation Percentage |  |
|--|----------------------|--|
| Cash   | 100%                 |  |
| Government Bonds (less than one year maturity)     | 98% - 100%           |  |
| Government Bonds (with maturity from 1 to 5 years) | 97% - 99%            |  |
| Government Bonds (with maturity above 5 years)     | 92% - 98%            |  |
| Others   | Not Applicable       |  |

Furthermore, the currency exchange contracts are generally not collateralized.

#### Haircut Policy applicable to the securities lending

Collateral will be valued, on a daily basis, using available market prices and taking into account appropriate discounts which will be determined by the Company for each asset class based on its haircut policy. The policy takes into account a variety of factors, depending on the nature of the collateral received, such as the issuer's credit standing, the maturity, currency, price volatility of the assets and, where applicable, the outcome of liquidity stress tests carried out by the Company under normal and exceptional liquidity conditions.

| Collateral Instrument Type                | Haircut applicable to Collateral Require-<br>ment |
|---|---|
| Cash for same currency loans              | Minimum 2%  |
| Cash for cross-currency loans             | Minimum 5%  |
| Government Bonds for same currency loans  | Minimum 2%  |
| Government Bonds for cross-currency loans | Minimum 5%  |
| Other                                     | Not Applicable                                    |

The level of haircut can slightly vary due to operational aspects including:

- Impact of transaction settlement cycles usually 2 days -;
- De minimis level of cash that can be applied in order to avoid inefficient daily adjustments.

Due to the nature of the collateral received (having a low volatility) and the level of haircuts applied, the daily valuations of the collateral are not expected to be adversely impacted.

#### Reinvestment of collateral

Non-cash collateral received by the Sub-Funds may not be sold, re-invested or pledged.

Cash collateral received by the Sub-Funds can only be:

- (a) placed on deposit with credit institutions which have their registered office in an EU Member State or, if their registered office is located in a third-country, are subject to prudential rules considered by the CSSF as equivalent to those laid down in EU law;
- (b) invested in high-quality government bonds;
- (c) used for the purpose of reverse repo transactions provided the transactions are with credit institutions subject to prudential supervision and the relevant Sub-Fund is able to recall at any time the full amount of cash on accrued basis; and/or
- (d) invested in short-term money market funds as defined in the Guidelines on a Common Definition of European Money Market Funds.

Re-invested cash collateral should be diversified in accordance with the diversification requirements applicable to non-cash collateral as set out above.

The Sub-Funds may incur a loss in reinvesting the cash collateral it receives. Such a loss may arise due to a decline in the value of the investment made with cash collateral received. A decline in the value of such investment of the cash collateral would reduce the amount of collateral available to be returned by the relevant Sub-Fund to the counterparty at the conclusion of the transaction. The relevant Sub-Fund would be required to cover the difference in value between the collateral originally received and the amount available to be returned to the counterparty, thereby resulting in a loss to this Sub-Fund.

## D. Securities Financing transactions

| Sub-Funds                                | Type of SFTR Technique/Assets*  | Maximum | Expected |
|--|---------------------------------|---------|----------|
| OFI Fund – RS Global<br>Convertible Bond | securities lending transactions | 15%     | 0-15%    |
| OFI Fund – Euro<br>Breakeven Inflation   | securities lending transactions | 15%     | 0-15%    |

\*In each case as a percentage of the Net Asset Value of the relevant Sub-Fund. SFTR refers to the Regulation (EU) 2015/2365 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 November 2015 on transparency of securities financing transactions and of reuse and amending Regulation (EU) No 648/2012.

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

# **III. RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS**

In accordance with the law of 17 December 2010 on undertakings for collective investment and other applicable regulations, in particular CSSF Circular 11/512, the Company uses a risk management process which enables it to assess the exposure of the Company to market, liquidity and counterparty risks, and to all other risks, including operation risks, which are material for the Company.

In relation to financial derivative instruments the Company must employ a process for accurate and independent assessment of the value of OTC derivatives and the Company ensures for each Sub-Fund that its global risk exposure relating to financial derivative instruments does not exceed the total net value of its portfolio.

The global risk exposure is calculated taking into account the current value of the underlying assets, the counterparty risk, future market movements and the time available to liquidate the positions.

Each Sub-Fund may invest, according to its investment policy and within the limits laid down in Section I "Investment Guidelines and Restrictions" and Section II "Investment Techniques and Instruments" (i.e. for the time being for hedging efficient portfolio management and investment purposes), in financial derivative instruments.

When a Sub-Fund invests in index-based financial derivative instruments, these investments do not necessarily have to be combined to the limits laid down in Section I "Investment Guidelines and Restrictions", item C (a) (1)-(5), (8), (9), (13) and (14).

When a Transferable Security or Money Market Instrument embeds a financial derivative instrument, the latter must be taken into account when complying with the requirements of this Section.

# **IV. POOLING**

For the purpose of an efficient management of its portfolios, the Company may manage all or part of the assets in two or more Sub-Funds on the basis of pooling, in compliance with the investment policy of each participating Sub-Fund. Each Sub-Fund may in this way participate in pools in proportion to the assets which they contribute to them.

Such pools may not, under any circumstances, be considered as separate legal entities and any notional units of account of a pool are not to be considered as Shares. Shares in the Company are not issued in relation to such pools but solely in relation to each Sub-Fund concerned which may participate in that pool with certain of its assets, for the purpose referred to above.

Pooling may have the effect of reducing as well as increasing the net assets of a Sub-Fund which participates in a pool: losses as well as gains attributable to a pool will be attributed proportionally to Sub-Funds holding notional units of account in that pool, thereby altering the net assets of a participating Sub-Fund even if the value of the assets contributed by that Sub-Fund to the pool has not fluctuated.

Pools will be created by the transfer from time to time of transferable securities, liquid assets and other permitted assets from participating Sub-Funds to such pools (subject to such assets being suitable in terms of the objectives and investment policies of the participating Sub-Funds). The Directors of the Company or the Investment Manager may then make additional transfers to each pool from time to time. Assets may also be withdrawn from a pool and transferred back to the participating Sub-Fund to the extent of its participation in the pool. Such participation will be calculated with reference to notional units of account in the pool or pools.

Upon creation of a pool these notional units of account will be currently expressed in either USD or EUR or such other currency as the Directors of the Company shall consider appropriate in the future and shall be attributed to each Sub-Fund participating in the pool, to a value equal to that of the transferable securities, liquid assets and/or other permitted assets contributed to it. The value of the notional units of account of a pool will be calculated each Valuation Day (as more specifically defined under Section V. "Net Asset Value per Share Calculation" hereinafter) by dividing its net assets by the number of notional units of account issued and/or outstanding.

When additional liquid assets or other assets are transferred to or withdrawn from a pool, the allocation of units made to the participating Sub-Fund in question will be increased or decreased, as the case may be, by a proportionate number of units which is calculated by dividing the amount of the liquid assets or the value of the assets transferred or withdrawn by the current value of one unit. A contribution in kind will be treated for the purposes of these calculations as being reduced by such amount as the Directors of the Company consider appropriate to reflect the tax liabilities or transaction and investment costs likely to be incurred on the investment of those liquid or other assets. When liquid or other assets are withdrawn, the withdrawal will also include any amounts corresponding to the costs likely to be incurred on the realisation of such liquid and other assets in the pool. The entitlements of each Sub-Fund participating in the pool apply to each and every line of the investments of the pool.

Dividends, interest and other distributions of an income nature received in relation to the assets in a pool shall be credited to the Sub-Funds participating in that pool in proportion to their respective interests in the pool at the time they are credited. Upon dissolution of the Company, assets in a pool will (subject to the rights of creditors) be attributed to the participating Sub-Funds in proportion to their respective interests in the pool.

# V. NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE CALCULATION

The reporting currency of the Company is Euro. The financial statements of the Company will be prepared in relation to each Sub-Fund in the denominated currency of such Sub-Fund.

## Calculation of NAV per Share

Pursuant to Article 13 of the Articles of Incorporation, the Net Asset Value per Share shall be calculated as follows. The Net Asset Value per Share of each class of Shares shall be determined as of any Valuation Day by dividing the net assets of the Company attributable to each class of Shares, being the value of the portion of assets less the portion of liabilities attributable to such class, on any such Valuation Day, by the number of Shares in the relevant class then outstanding, in accordance with the valuation rules set forth below. The Net Asset Value per Share of each class may be rounded up or down to the nearest unit of the relevant currency as the Directors shall determine. If since the time of determination of the Net Asset Value per Share there has been a material change in the quotations in the markets on which a substantial portion of the investments attributable to the relevant class of Shares are dealt in or quoted, the Company may, in order to safeguard the interests of the shareholders and the Company, cancel the first valuation and carry out a second valuation. In such a case, instructions for subscription, redemption or conversion of Shares shall be executed on the basis of the second Net Asset Value per Share calculation.

For a Share class which is expressed in a currency other than the reference currency of the relevant Sub-Fund, the Net Asset Value per Share of that class shall be the net assets attributable to the Shares of the class of that Sub-Fund calculated in the reference currency of the Sub-Fund and converted into the other relevant currency at the current currency exchange rate between the reference currency and such other currency. The costs associated with the conversion of monies in connection with the purchase, redemption and exchange of Shares of a Sub-Fund denominated in one currency but also stated in another currency will be borne by the relevant class and will be reflected in the Net Asset Value per Share of such class of Shares. Consequently, the Net Asset Value per Share of each Sub-Fund and of different classes of a single Sub-Fund, if appropriate, is expected to differ.

The valuation of the net assets of the different classes of Shares shall be made in the following manner:

#### I. The assets of the Company shall include:

- 1) all cash on hand or on deposit, including any interest accrued thereon;
- 2) all bills and demand notes payable and accounts receivable (including proceeds of securities sold but not delivered);
- 3) all bonds, time notes, shares, stock, debenture stocks, subscription rights, warrants, options and other investments and securities owned or contracted for by the Company;
- all stock dividends, cash dividends and cash distributions receivable by the Company to the extent information thereon is reasonably available to the Company;
- 5) all interest accrued on any interest-bearing securities owned by the Company except to the extent that the same is included or reflected in the principal amount of such securities;
- 6) the primary expenses of the Company insofar as the same have not been written off;
- 7) all other assets of any kind and nature including pre-paid expenses.

#### The value of such assets shall be determined as follows:

- (a) The value of any cash on hand or on deposit, bills and demand notes and accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, cash dividends and interest declared or accrued as aforesaid and not yet received is deemed to be the full amount thereof, unless in any case the same is unlikely to be paid or received in full, in which case the value thereof is arrived at after making such discount as may be considered appropriate in such case to reflect the true value thereof.
- (b) The value of assets listed or dealt in on any Regulated Market and/or Other Regulated Market is based on the last available price.
- (c) The value of assets which are listed or dealt in on any stock exchange in an Other State is based on the last available price on the stock exchange which is normally the principal market for such assets.
- (d) In the event that any assets are not listed or dealt in on any Regulated Market, any stock exchange in an Other State or on any Other Regulated Market, or if, with respect to assets listed or dealt in on any such stock exchange, or Other Regulated Market and/or Regulated Market as aforesaid, the price as determined pursuant to sub-paragraphs (b) or (c) is not representative of the fair market value of the relevant assets, the value of such assets will be based on the reasonably foreseeable sales price determined prudently and in good faith.
- (e) The liquidating value of options contracts not traded on exchanges or on Other Regulated Markets and/or Regulated Markets shall mean their net liquidating value determined, pursuant to the policies established in good faith by the Directors, on a basis consistently applied for each different variety

of contracts. The liquidating value of futures, forward and options contracts traded on exchanges or on Other Regulated Markets and/or Regulated Markets shall be based upon the last available settlement prices of these contracts on exchanges and Regulated Markets and/or Other Regulated Markets on which the particular futures, forward or options contracts are traded by the Company; provided that if a futures, forward or options contract could not be liquidated on the day with respect to which net assets are being determined, the basis for determining the liquidating value of such contract shall be such value as the Directors may deem fair and reasonable. Swaps will be valued at their market value.

- (f) The value of Money Market Instruments not listed or dealt in on any stock exchange or any Other Regulated Market and/or Regulated Market and with remaining maturity of less than 12 months and of more than 90 days is deemed to be the nominal value thereof, increased by any interest accrued thereon. Money Market Instruments with a remaining maturity of 90 days or less will be valued by the amortized cost method, which approximates market value.
- (g) Units or shares of open-ended UCI will be valued at their last determined and available net asset value or, if such price is not representative of the fair market value of such assets, then the price shall be determined by the Directors on a fair and equitable basis. Units or shares of a closed-ended UCI will be valued at their last available stock market value.
- (h) All other securities and other assets will be valued at fair market value, as determined in good faith pursuant to procedures established by the Directors. The value of all assets and liabilities not expressed in the Reference Currency of a Class or Sub-Fund will be converted into the Reference Currency of such Class or Sub-Fund at rates last quoted by major banks. If such quotations are not available, the rate of exchange will be determined in good faith by or under procedures established by the Directors.

The Directors, in their discretion, may permit some other method of valuation to be used if it considers that such valuation better reflects the fair value of any asset of the Company.

The Net Asset Value per Share and the issue, redemption and conversion prices per Share of each Class within each Sub-Fund may be obtained during business hours at the Registered Office.

## II. The liabilities of the Company shall include:

- 1) all loans, bills and accounts payable;
- 2) all accrued or payable administrative expenses, including investment advisory and management fees, Depositary fees, and corporate agent fees;
- all known liabilities, present and future, including all matured contractual obligation for payments of money or property, including the amount of any unpaid dividends declared by the Company where the Valuation Day falls on the record Day for determination of the person entitled thereto or is subsequent thereto;
- 4) an appropriate provision for future taxes based on capital and income to the Valuation Day, as determined from time to time by the Company, and other reserves, if any, authorised and approved by the Directors; and
- 5) all other liabilities of the Company of whatsoever kind and nature except liabilities represented by shares in the Company. In determining the amount of such liabilities the Company shall take into account all expenses payable by the Company which shall comprise of formation expenses, fees payable to its Management Company, its Investment Advisor, to its Investment Manager(s), accountants, Depositary and correspondents, administration, domiciliary, registrar and transfer agents and paying agents, its Distributor(s) and permanent representatives in places of registration and any other agent employed by the Company, fees for legal and auditing services, promotion, printing, reporting and publishing expenses, including the cost of advertising or preparing and printing of prospectuses, explanatory memoranda, key investor information documents or registration statements, annual and semi-annual reports, taxes or governmental charges, and all other operating expenses, including the cost of buying and selling assets, interest, bank charges and brokerage, postage, telephone and telex. The Company may calculate administrative and other expenses of a regular or recurring nature on an estimated figure for yearly or other periods in advance and may accrue the same in equal proportions over any such period.

#### III. The assets shall be allocated as follows:

The Directors shall establish a Sub-Fund in respect of each class of Shares and may establish a Sub-Fund in respect of two or more classes of Shares in the following manner:

- a) If two or more classes of Shares relate to one Sub-Fund, the assets attributable to such classes shall be commonly invested pursuant to the specific investment policy of the Sub-Fund concerned. Within a Sub-Fund, classes of Shares may be defined from time to time by the Directors so as to correspond to (i) a specific distribution policy, such as entitling to distributions ("distribution shares") or not entitling to distributions ("capitalization shares") and/or (ii) a specific sales and redemption charge structure and/or (iii) a specific management or advisory fee structure, and/or (iv) a specific assignment of distribution, shareholder services or other fees; and/or (v) a specific type of investor; (vi) the currency or currency unit in which the class may be quoted and based on the rate of exchange between such currency or currency unit and the reference currency of the relevant Sub-Fund and/or (vii) such other features as may be determined by the Directors from time to time in compliance with applicable law;
- b) The proceeds to be received from the issue of Shares of a class shall be applied in the books of the Company to the Sub-Fund corresponding to that class of Shares, provided that if several classes of Shares are outstanding in such Sub-Fund, the relevant amount shall increase the proportion of the net assets of such Sub-Fund attributable to the class of Shares to be issued;

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

- c) The assets and liabilities and income and expenditure applied to a Sub-Fund shall be attributable to the class or classes of Shares corresponding to such Sub-Fund;
- d) Where any asset is derived from another asset, such derivative asset shall be applied in the books of the Company to the same Sub-Fund as the assets from which it was derived and on each revaluation of an asset, the increase or decrease in value shall be applied to the relevant Sub-Fund;
- e) Where the Company incurs a liability which relates to any asset of a particular Sub-Fund or to any action taken in connection with an asset of a particular Sub-Fund, such liability shall be allocated to the relevant Sub-Fund;
- f) In the case where any asset or liability of the Company cannot be considered as being attributable to a particular Sub-Fund, such asset or liability shall be allocated to all the Sub-Funds prorata to the Net Asset of the relevant classes of Shares or in such other manner as determined by the Directors acting in good faith; and
- g) Upon the payment of distributions to the holders of any class of Shares, the net assets of such class of Shares shall be reduced by the amount of such distributions.

All valuation regulations and determinations shall be interpreted and made in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

In the absence of bad faith, gross negligence or manifest error, every decision in calculating the Net Asset Value per Share taken by the Directors or by any bank, company or other organization which the Directors may appoint for the purpose of calculating the Net Asset Value per Share, shall be final and binding on the Company and present, past or future shareholders.

### Suspension of NAV per Share Calculation

The Company may suspend temporarily the issue and redemption of any class of Shares relating to all or any of the Sub-Funds as well as the right to convert Shares of a Sub-Fund (or a class, if applicable) into Shares of another Sub-Fund (or of another class, if applicable) and the calculation of the Net Asset Value per Share of any class relating to any Sub-Fund:

- i) during any period any of the principal Stock Exchanges on which a substantial proportion of the investments of the Company attributable to such Sub-Fund are quoted are closed otherwise then for ordinary holidays, or during which dealings thereon are restricted or suspended; or
- ii) during the existence of any state of affairs which constitutes an emergency as a result of which disposals or valuation of assets owned by the Company attributable to such Sub-Fund would be impractical; or
- iii) during any breakdown in the means of communication normally employed in determining the price or value of any of the investments attributable to any particular Sub-Fund or the currency price or values on any such stock exchange; or
- iv) during any period when the Company is unable to repatriate funds for the purpose of making repayments due to large requests for the redemption of such Shares or during which any transfer of funds involved in the realisation or acquisition of investments or payments due to the redemption of such Shares cannot in the opinion of the Directors be effected at normal rates of exchange;
- v) during any period when for any other reason the prices of any investments owned by the Company attributable to such Sub-Fund cannot promptly or accurately be ascertained;
- vi) from the time of publication of a notice convening an extraordinary general meeting of shareholders for the purpose of winding up the Company, any Sub-Funds, or informing the shareholders of the decision of the Directors to terminate Sub-Funds; or
- vii) following the suspension of the calculation of the net asset value per share / unit at the level of a Master Fund in which a Feeder Fund invests, to the extent applicable.

The Company may suspend the issue and redemption of its shares from its shareholders as well as the conversion from and to shares of each class following the suspension of the issue, redemption and/or the conversion at the level of a Master Fund in which the Feeder Fund invests, to the extent applicable.

Any such suspension shall be published, if appropriate, by the Company and shall be notified to shareholders having made an application for subscription, redemption and conversion of Shares for which the calculation of the Net Asset Value per Share has been suspended.

Such suspension as to any class or Sub-Fund shall have no effect on the calculation of the Net Asset Value per Share, the issue, redemption and conversion of Shares of any other class or Sub-Fund.

Any request for subscription, redemption or conversion shall be irrevocable except in the event of a suspension of the calculation of the Net Asset Value.

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

# **APPENDIX 2**

# **A. GENERAL INFORMATION**

The Company is incorporated in Luxembourg under the laws of the Grand-Duchy of Luxembourg in the form of a *société anonyme* and qualifies as a *société d'investissement à capital variable*. It was incorporated on 14 December 2016 for an unlimited duration. The initial subscribed share capital of the Company was EUR 30,000.-. The Articles of Incorporation of the Company have been published in RESA on 19 December 2016. The Company is registered with the *Registre de Commerce*, Luxembourg, under number B211144. Copies of the Articles of Incorporation are available for inspection upon request.

The minimum capital of the Company, which must be attained within six months of its authorisation, is EUR 1,250,000.

The Company may at any time be dissolved by a resolution of an extraordinary general meeting of its shareholders.

In the event of a dissolution of the Company, liquidation shall be carried out by one or several liquidators, who may be physical persons or legal entities represented by physical persons, designated by the general meeting of shareholders which shall determine their powers and their compensations.

If the capital of the Company falls below two thirds of the minimum legal capital, the Directors must submit the question of the dissolution of the Company to the general meeting for which no quorum shall be prescribed and which shall decide by simple majority of the Shares present or represented at the meeting. If the capital falls below one fourth of the minimum legal capital, no quorum shall be prescribed but the dissolution may be resolved by shareholders holding one fourth of the Shares presented at the meeting.

The meeting must be convened so that it is held within a period of forty days from ascertainment that the net assets have fallen below respectively two thirds or one fourth of the minimum capital.

The net proceeds of liquidation shall be distributed by the liquidators to the holders of Shares of each Sub-Fund in proportion of the rights attributable to the relevant class of Shares.

## Termination and liquidation of Sub-Funds or classes of Shares

In the event that for any reason the value of the total net assets in any Sub-Fund or class of Shares has decreased to, or has not reached, an amount determined by the Directors to be the minimum level for such Sub-Fund or class of Shares to be operated in an economically efficient manner, which amount shall not exceed 10 million EUR for a Sub-Fund, or in case of a substantial modification in the political, economic or monetary situation or as a matter of economic rationalization, the Directors may decide to terminate such Sub-Fund or class of Shares and redeem compulsorily all the Shares of the relevant Sub-Fund or class of Shares at the Net Asset Value per Share (taking into account actual realization prices of investments and realization expenses) calculated on the Valuation Day at which such decision shall take effect. The Company shall serve a notice to the holders of the relevant Shares prior to the effective date for the compulsory redemption, which will indicate the reasons of and the procedure for the redemption operations: registered holders shall be notified in writing. Unless it is otherwise decided in the interests of, or to keep equal treatment between, the shareholders, the shareholders of the Sub-Fund or class of Shares concerned may continue to request redemption of their Shares free of charge (but taking into account actual realization prices of investments and realization expenses) prior to the date effective for the compulsory redemption.

Notwithstanding the powers conferred to the Directors by the preceding paragraph, the general meeting of shareholders of any one or all classes of shares issued in any Sub-Fund will, in any other circumstances, have the power, upon proposal from the Directors, to redeem all the shares of the relevant class or classes and refund to the shareholders the Net Asset Value per Share of their shares (taking into account actual realization prices of investments and realization expenses) calculated on the Valuation Day at which such decision shall take effect. There shall be no quorum requirements for such general meeting of shareholders which shall decide by resolution taken by simple majority of the votes validly cast at such meeting.

Assets which may not be distributed to the relevant beneficiaries upon the implementation of the redemption will be deposited with the Caisse de Consignation on behalf of the persons entitled thereto.

The liquidation of a Sub-Fund shall have no influence on any other Sub-Fund. The liquidation of the last remaining Sub-Fund will result in the Company's liquidation.

All redeemed Shares shall be cancelled.

In addition, a Feeder Fund shall be terminated and its Shares compulsory redeemed pursuant to the procedure set forth above in the event of the liquidation, division or merger of the Master Fund, except to the extent permitted, and in compliance with the conditions set out under the 2010 Law and the CSSF Regulation 10-05 transposing Commission Directive 2010/44/EU of 1 July 2010 implementing the Directive as regards certain provisions concerning fund mergers, master-feeder structures and notification procedure.

## Mergers

## (i) Mergers decided by the board of directors

### a) The Company

The Directors may decide to proceed with a merger (within the meaning of the 2010 Law) of the Company, either as receiving or absorbed UCITS, with: - another Luxembourg or foreign UCITS (the "**New UCITS**"); or

a sub-fund thereof.

and, as appropriate, to redesignate the shares of the Company concerned as shares of this New UCITS, or of the relevant sub-fund thereof as applicable.

In case the Company involved in a merger is the receiving UCITS (within the meaning of the 2010 Law), solely the Directors will decide on the merger and effective date thereof.

In the case the Company involved in a merger is the absorbed UCITS (within the meaning of the 2010 Law), and hence ceases to exist, the general meeting of the shareholders, rather than the Directors, has to approve, and decide on the effective date of, such merger by a resolution adopted with no quorum requirement and at a simple majority of the votes validly cast at such meeting.

Such a merger shall be subject to the conditions and procedures imposed by the 2010 Law, in particular concerning the merger project and the information to be provided to the shareholders.

### b) The Sub-Funds

The Directors may decide to proceed with a merger (within the meaning of the 2010 Law) of any Sub-Fund, either as receiving or absorbed Sub-Fund, with:

- another existing or new Sub-Fund within the Company or another sub-fund within a New UCITS (the "New Sub-Fund"); or
   a New UCITS,
- and, as appropriate, to redesignate the shares of the Sub-Fund concerned as shares of the New UCITS, or of the New Sub-Fund as applicable.

Such a merger shall be subject to the conditions and procedures imposed by the 2010 Law, in particular concerning the merger project and the information to be provided to the shareholders.

## (ii) Mergers decided by the shareholders

## a) The Company

Notwithstanding the powers conferred to the Directors by the preceding section, a merger (within the meaning of the 2010 Law) of the Company, either as receiving or absorbed UCITS, with:

- a New UCITS; or
- a sub-fund thereof,

may be decided by a general meeting of the shareholders for which there shall be no quorum requirement and which will decide on such a merger and its effective date by a resolution adopted at a simple majority of the votes validly cast at such meeting.

Such a merger shall be subject to the conditions and procedures imposed by the 2010 Law, in particular concerning the merger project and the information to be provided to the shareholders.

### b) The Sub-Funds

The general meeting of the shareholders of a Sub-Fund may also decide a merger (within the meaning of the 2010 Law) of the relevant Sub-Fund, either as receiving or absorbed Sub-Fund, with:

- any New UCITS; or
- a New Sub-Fund,

by a resolution adopted with no quorum requirement at a simple majority of the votes validly cast at such meeting.

Such a merger shall be subject to the conditions and procedures imposed by the 2010 Law, in particular concerning the merger project and the information to be provided to the shareholders.

## General

-

Shareholders will in any case be entitled to request, without any charge other than those retained by the Company or the Sub-Fund to meet disinvestment costs, the repurchase or redemption of their Shares, in accordance with the provisions of the 2010 Law.

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

### Amalgamation of classes of Shares

In the event that for any reason the Net Asset Value of a class of Shares has decreased to, or has not reached an amount determined by the Directors (in the interest of the Shareholders) to be the minimum level for such class to be operated in an efficient manner, the Directors may decide to re-allocate the assets and liabilities of that class to those of one or several other classes within the Company and to re-designate the Shares of the class(es) concerned as Shares of such other Share class or Share classes (following a split or consolidation, if necessary, and the payment to Shareholders of the amount corresponding to any fractional entitlement); the Shareholders of the class of Shares concerned will be informed of the reorganisation by way of a notice and/or in any other way as required or permitted by applicable laws and regulations.

Notwithstanding the powers conferred on the Directors by the preceding paragraph, the Shareholders may decide on such reorganisation by resolution taken by the general meeting of Shareholders of the Share class concerned. The convening notice to the general meeting of Shareholders will indicate the reasons for and the process of the reorganisation.

# **B. DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION**

#### Prospectus, Articles of Incorporation, Agreements and Periodical Reports

The following documents are available for inspection at the registered office of the Company as well as on OFI Asset Management's website at www.ofiam.fr:

1. the Articles of Incorporation, and any amendments thereto;

- 2. the following Agreements:
- the Management Company Services Agreement between the Company and the Management Company;
- the Amended and Restated Advisory Agreement between the Management Company and OFI Asset Management;
- the Amended and Restated Principal Distribution Agreement between the Management Company and OFI Asset Management, as Principal Distributor;
- the Depositary Agreement between the Company, the Management Company and Société Générale Bank & Trust Luxembourg, as Depositary;
- the Administration, Registrar and Transfer Agent Agreement between the Management Company and Société Générale Bank & Trust Luxembourg;
- the Investment Management Agreements between the Management Company and the selected Investment Managers listed in Appendix 3 of this Prospectus.

The Management Company adopted a remuneration policy compliant with the remuneration rules and regulations in force which shall be applicable as from 1 January 2017.

The Management Company adopted internal conduct of business rules so as to ensure that a Master Fund shall provide the relevant Feeder Fund with all documents and information necessary for the latter to meet the requirements laid down in the 2010 Law. These rules include, in particular, the appropriate measures to mitigate conflicts of interest that may arise between the Feeder Fund and the Master Fund, the basis of investment and divestment by the Feeder Fund, standard dealing arrangements, events affecting dealing arrangements and standard arrangements for the audit report.

The Agreements referred to above may be amended from time to time by mutual consent of the parties thereto.

A copy of the Articles of Incorporation, of the KIIDs, and of the most recent annual or semi-annual report of the Company may be obtained free of charge from the Company and are also available free of charge in English at the following website: <u>www.ofi-am.fr</u>.

#### **Complaints Handling**

A person having a complaint to make about the operation of the Company may submit such complaint in writing to Mr. Arnaud Hirsch, at AHIRSCH@ofilux.lu, Grand-Duchy of Luxembourg. The details of the Company's complaint handling procedures may be obtained free of charge during normal office hours at the registered office of the Company in Luxembourg.

#### **Best Execution**

The Company's best execution policy sets out the basis upon which the Company will effect transactions and place orders in relation to the Company whilst complying with its obligations under the CSSF Regulation No. 10-4 and the CSSF Circular 18/698 to obtain the best possible result for the Company and its Shareholders. Details of the Company's best execution policy may be obtained free of charge during normal office hours at the registered office of the Company in Luxembourg.

## Strategy for the Exercise of Voting Rights

The Company has a strategy for determining when and how voting rights attached to ownership of the Company's investments are to be exercised for the exclusive benefit of the Company. A summary of this strategy as well as the details of the actions taken on the basis of this strategy in relation to each Sub-Fund may be obtained free of charge during normal office hours at the registered office of the Company in Luxembourg and is available on OFI Asset Management's website at www.ofi-am.fr.

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

# **C. MEETINGS OF, AND REPORTS TO SHAREHOLDERS**

The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders shall be held each year in the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg at the registered office of the Company in Luxembourg or at such other place in the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg as may be specified in the notice of such meeting. The shareholders of any class or Sub-Fund may hold, at any time, general meetings to decide on any matters which relate exclusively to such class or Sub-Fund. Notice to shareholders will be given in accordance with Luxembourg law. The notice will specify the place and time of the meeting, the conditions of admission, the agenda, the quorum and the voting requirements. The accounting year of the Company will end on the last day of December. The consolidated financial accounts of the Company will be expressed in the denominated currency of the relevant Sub-Fund.

The Company draws the investors' attention to the fact that any investor will only be able to fully exercise his/her/its investor rights directly against the Company, notably the right to participate in general shareholders' meetings, if the investor is registered himself/herself/itself and in his/her/its own name in the Shareholders' register of the Company. In cases where an investor invests in the Company through an intermediary investing into the Company in his/her/its own name but on behalf of the investor, it may not always be possible for the investor to exercise certain Shareholder rights directly against the Company. Investors are advised to take advice on their rights.

The annual report containing the audited financial accounts of the Company and of each of the Sub-Funds in respect of the preceding financial period will be sent to shareholders at their address appearing on the register, at least 8 days before the Annual General Meeting. An unaudited half yearly report will be kept at shareholders' disposal upon request within two months of the end of the relevant half year. Annual reports will also be kept at shareholders' disposal upon request within four months of the end of the relevant year. In case of an extraordinary general meeting called to amend the articles of incorporation of the Company, the proposed amendments to the articles of incorporation as well as the draft of the coordinated articles of incorporation shall be made available to the shareholders at the registered office of the Company at least 8 days before such general meeting.

Any other information intended for the shareholders will be provided to them by notice.

## **D. CHARGES AND EXPENSES**

The Principal Distributor is entitled to receive in respect of class R, I, I-XL and F Shares the sales charge as specified for the Share classes in Chapter 15 "Shares". The charge shall in no case exceed the maximum permitted by the laws and regulations of any country where the Shares are sold. The Principal Distributor may in conjunction with Sub-Distributors agree the proportion of the sales charge to be retained by the Sub-Distributor.

The Management Company will receive from the Company a total fee, the management charge, payable in arrears at the end of each calendar month, calculated and accrued on each Valuation Day at the appropriate rate for the class concerned. This fee shall be equal to a percentage of the average Net Asset Value per Share per class. The Directors retain the right to agree an appropriate management charge dependant on the class of Shares and the particular Sub-Fund concerned. The aggregate of the agreed management charges will not exceed the Maximum Management Charge specified in Chapter 15 "Shares" in this Prospectus.

The Management Company shall be responsible for paying the remuneration due to the Investment Advisors out of its fees.

The Depositary will be entitled to an annual fee equal to a percentage of the assets of each sub-fund or share class consistent with market practice in Luxembourg, subject to a minimum flat fee per sub-fund of 3,000.- EUR and a variable annual rate expected up to a maximum of two percent (2.0%) per annum. The Depositary fee will accrue on each Valuation Day and will be payable quarterly in arrears out of the assets of the Company and allocated to each sub-fund and share class. The Depositary will also be entitled to transaction fees charged on the basis of the investments made by each sub-fund consistent with market practice in Luxembourg. Fees paid to the Depositary may vary depending on the nature of the investments of each sub-fund and the countries and/or markets in which the investments are made. The Depositary will also be entitled to reimbursement of reasonable out-of-pocket expenses properly incurred in carrying out its duties or for any additional service that the Company might subscribe.

The Administration, Registrar and Transfer Agent will be entitled to an annual fee equal to a percentage of the net asset value of each sub-fund or share class consistent with market practice in Luxembourg, subject to a minimum flat fee per sub-fund of 10,000.- EUR and a variable annual rate expected up to a maximum of two percent (2.0%) per annum. The Administration, Registrar and Transfer Agent fee will accrue on each Valuation Day and will be payable quarterly in arrears out of the assets of the Company and allocated to each sub-fund and share class. The Administration, Registrar and Transfer Agent will also be entitled to reimbursement of reasonable out-of-pocket expenses properly incurred in carrying out its duties or the payment for any additional service that the Company might subscribe.

The Company bears its other operational costs not already mentioned here above as described in Appendix 1, V. Net Asset Value per Share Calculation, sub-section II. 5.

Any translation costs which might be incurred in relation to the registration and/or listing of the Company, of a Sub-Fund or of a Share Class, and the distribution of the Shares in Luxembourg or abroad shall be borne by the relevant Sub-Fund.

The Company will bear the costs and expenses of its formation and the initial issue of its Shares which do not exceed EUR 50,000.- in total and will be amortised over the first five years. In addition, each new Sub-Fund will bear its own formation costs and expenses which will be amortised over five years.

# E. TOTAL EXPENSE RATIO

The "Total Expense Ratio" is the ratio between the aggregate expenses to be charged to the assets of each class of Shares of a Sub-Fund of the Company and the average net assets of each class of Shares of a Sub-Fund of the Company exclusive of any due transaction costs. The final Total Expense Ratio per class of Shares per Sub-Fund (exclusive of any subscription, redemption or conversion fee) will be calculated at a later stage and will be published in the annual, and the semi-annual reports of the Company.

# **F. BENCHMARKS REGULATION**

Shareholders and prospective investors should note that, in accordance with the requirements of Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 of the European Parliament and Council of 6 June 2016 on indices used as benchmarks in financial instruments and financial contracts or to measure the performance of investment funds (the "**Benchmarks Regulation**"), the Management Company has adopted and maintains a benchmark contingency plan to set out the actions which the Company would take in the event that a benchmark used by a Sub-Fund materially changes or ceases to be provided (the BMR procedures which include the "**Benchmark Contingency Plan**"). The Benchmark Contingency Plan is available free of charge to all Shareholders and prospective investors upon request to the Management Company.

The Company is required under the Benchmarks Regulation to use only benchmarks which are provided by authorised benchmark administrators that are present in the register of administrators maintained by ESMA, pursuant to article 36 of the Benchmarks Regulation.

| Sub-Fund Name                            | Benchmark  | Benchmark Administra-<br>tor                     | Benchmark Administra-<br>tor Registered* | Use of the Benchmark             |
|--|--|--|--|----------------------------------|
| OFI FUND – RS Global<br>Convertible Bond | Refinitiv Convertible Bond<br>Global Focus Hedged<br>(EUR) (UCBIFX14 Index)<br>and                   | Refinitiv Benchmark Ser-<br>vices (UK) Limited   | No                                       | Performance fee calcula-<br>tion |
|  | Refinitiv Convertible Bond<br>Global Focus Hedged<br>(CHF) (UCBIFX28 Index)                          | Refinitiv Benchmark Ser-<br>vices (UK) Limited   | No                                       |                                  |
| OFI FUND – Euro Break-<br>even Inflation | Markit iBox Eur Breakeven<br>Euro-Inflation France, Ger-<br>many and Italy 7-15 (ticker<br>IBXXBK13) | IHS Markit Benchmark Ad-<br>ministration Limited | No                                       | Performance fee calcula-<br>tion |
| OFI FUND – RS Act4 So-<br>cial Impact    | Stoxx Europe 600 Net Re-<br>turn (ticker SXXR)   | STOXX Limited                                    | Yes                                      | Performance fee calcula-<br>tion |
| OFI FUND – RS Act4<br>Positive Economy   | Stoxx Europe 600 Net Re-<br>turn (ticker SXXR)   | STOXX Limited                                    | Yes                                      | Performance fee calcula-<br>tion |

\* As of 10 March 2021 from https://registers.esma.europa.eu/publication/searchRegister?core=esma\_registers\_bench\_entities

The abovementioned benchmark administrators which are not yet registered may benefit from a transition period to register as administrators. This prospectus shall be updated once the relevant administrator has been included in ESMA's register.

# **G. "ARTICLE 8" DISCLOSURE ANNEX**

# > OFI FUND – RS GLOBAL CONVERTIBLE BOND

It is product promotes environmental or social characteristics, but the aim of this product is not to achieve sustainable investment.

The aim of this product is to achieve sustainable investment. Sustainable investment means an investment in an economic activity that contributes to an environmental or social objective, provided that such investments do not significantly harm any of those objectives and that the investee companies follow good governance practices.

### 1/ How Sustainability Risks are integrated into investment decisions

In order to integrate all these Sustainability Risks into the investment process of this UCI, the Company has different methods at its disposal: In terms of our ESG analysis,

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

An analysis of the following three criteria is carried out on the basis of an internal methodology:

- Environmental: Climate Change Natural Resources Project Financing Toxic Waste Green Products
- Social: Human Capital Supply Chain Goods and Services
- Governance: Governance Structure Behaviour

Each issuer is therefore given an ESG score which makes it possible to assess its non-financial practices and to classify it within each sector of the investment universe.

20% of issuers with the poorest scores are removed from the investment universe.

Issuers are selected from among those with the best ESG practices in their sector.

Controversies that may affect the relationship or impact on one of the issuer's stakeholders are monitored and analysed. They may concern: customers, investors, regulators, suppliers, civil society, employees or the issuer's environment. Details can be found in the Transparency Code. Controversies shall be assessed, at five levels, in relation to their intensity and their dissemination (over time and/in or space) and the measures taken, where appropriate, by the company to remedy this: Negligible, Low, Medium, High, Very High. No position will be initiated in the securities of an issuer with controversies rated "high or "very high".

#### 2/ The results of the assessment of the likely impacts of Sustainability Risks on the returns of the financial products

Sustainability Risks are primarily related to climate events resulting from climate change (known as physical risks), the ability of companies to respond to climate change (known as transition risks) and which may result in unanticipated losses affecting the Sub-Fund's investments and financial performance. Social events (inequalities, labour relations, investment in human capital, accident prevention, changes in consumer behaviour, etc.) or governance gaps (recurrent and significant breach of international agreements, corruption, product quality and safety and sales practices) can also translate into Sustainability Risks.

#### 3/ Information on how environmental and/or social characteristics are respected

To ensure that the environmental and/or social characteristics are respected, OFI carries out two further analyses: the quarterly ESG analysis of each issuer within its sector, which produces a rating and enables an assessment of all ESG characteristics concerning the issuer.

Between two ratings, it monitors controversies as indicated previously.

The objective of OFI FUND – RS GLOBAL CONVERTIBLE BOND is to outperform its benchmark, the Refinitiv Convertible Bond Global Focus Index, by investing mainly in convertible bonds and synthetic convertible bonds listed or traded on Regulated Markets or Other Regulated Markets around the world.

OFI's ESG analysis of issuers making up the investment universe is a means of identifying securities which, according to OFI, present the best investment vehicle.

20% of issuers with the lowest scores in their sector, as well as companies directly or indirectly holding thermal coal mines or developing new charcoalbased electricity generation capacities, present, according to OFI, a non-financial risk that may impact their economic outlook, and are excluded from the investment universe. For the same reason, OFI will gradually reduce investments in non-conventional gas and oil extraction companies.

For each Issuer, an analysis is carried out both in terms of its governance structure: Respect for the rights of minority shareholders – Composition and functioning of Boards or Committees, Remuneration of Executives, Accounts, Audit and Taxation, as well as in terms of its Market Behaviour: Business Practices, Market Impact, Business Ethics and Risk Control.

The results of these analyses ensure the keeping or disposal of an issuer in the Sub-Fund's portfolio.

And lastly, companies that do not benefit from an ESG analysis may not exceed 10% of the net assets of the portfolio.

4/ If a benchmark index is identified, information on how this index is adapted to the environmental and/or social characteristics of the Sub-Fund or mandate

The Sub-Fund does not have an ESG benchmark index.

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

# H. "ARTICLE 9" DISCLOSURE ANNEX

# > OFI FUND - RS ACT4 SOCIAL IMPACT

This product promotes environmental or social characteristics, but the aim of this product is not to achieve sustainable investment.

The aim of this product is to achieve sustainable investment. Sustainable investment means an investment in an economic activity that contributes to an environmental or social objective, provided that such investments do not significantly harm any of those objectives and that the investee companies follow good governance practices.

#### 1/ How Sustainability Risks are integrated into product investment decisions

In order to integrate all Sustainability Risks into this UCI's investment process, the Company has different methods at its disposal:

#### In terms of our ESG analysis

An analysis of the following three criteria is carried out on the basis of an internal methodology:

- Environmental: Climate Change Natural Resources Project Financing Toxic Waste Green Products
- Social: Human Capital Supply Chain Goods and Services
- Governance: Governance Structure Behaviour

Each issuer is therefore given an ESG score which makes it possible to assess its non-financial practices and to classify it within each sector of the investment universe.

For each Issuer, an analysis is carried out both in terms of its governance structure: Respect for the rights of minority shareholders – Composition and functioning of Boards or Committees, Remuneration of Executives, Accounts, Audit and Taxation, as well as in terms of its Market Behaviour: Business Practices, Market Impact, Business Ethics and Risk Control.

The results of these analyses ensure the keeping or disposal of an issuer in the Sub-Fund's portfolio.

For each sector of the investment universe, 20% of issuers with the poorest scores are removed.

Issuers are selected from among those with the best ESG practices in their sector.

Controversies that may affect the relationship or impact on one of the issuer's stakeholders are monitored and analysed. They may concern: customers, investors, regulators, suppliers, civil society, employees or the issuer's environment. Details can be found in the Transparency Code. Controversies shall be assessed, at five levels, in relation to their intensity and their dissemination (over time and/in or space) and the measures taken, where appropriate, by the company to remedy this: Negligible, Low, Medium, High, Very High. No position will be initiated in the securities of an issuer with controversies rated "high or "very high".

Companies that do not benefit from an ESG analysis may not exceed 10% of the net assets of the portfolio.

#### In terms of analysis of companies' social contribution

Consideration of ESG criteria is also implemented through a social impact and responsible practices score; the management team seeks to select companies that contribute positively to achieving the Sustainable Development Goals in the social sphere.

Thus, the management team will only select equity securities of companies aiming for a positive social impact measured using a social impact score based on 5 criteria: the company's intention and mission, work value, social progress, value sharing and social inclusion.

The investment team will exclude from the Sub-Fund's Eligible Investment Universe, 20% of the equity securities with the lowest scores in terms of social impact.

#### 2/ The results of the assessment of the likely impacts of Sustainability Risks on the returns of the financial products

Sustainability Risks are primarily related to climate events resulting from climate change (known as physical risks), the ability of companies to respond to climate change (known as transition risks) and which may result in unanticipated losses affecting the Sub-Fund's investments and financial performance. Social events (inequalities, labour relations, investment in human capital, accident prevention, changes in consumer behaviour, etc.) or governance gaps (recurrent and significant breach of international agreements, corruption, product quality and safety and sales practices) can also translate into Sustainability Risks.

3/If a benchmark index is identified, information on how this index is aligned with the Sub-Fund's sustainable investment objective

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

The Sub-Fund's benchmark index is not aligned with its sustainable investment objective as there is currently no index constructed with the specific objectives of the Sub-Fund.

4/ Information on why and how the designated index differs from a broad market index

#### Not applicable

5/ Information on where to find the methodology used to calculate indices:

The methodology used to calculate the index is available at: https://www.stoxx.com

6/ In the absence of a benchmark index, information on how the Sub-Fund's sustainable investment objective must be achieved

Although the Sub-Fund does not currently have an index aligned with the sustainable investment objective, it nevertheless pursues a strategy to promote private issuers with a positive social impact.

To demonstrate the various aspects of the company's social ambition, the management team developed a proprietary social impact assessment, based on a score of the social impact of the securities in the investable universe.

The Investment Manager shall only select stocks targeting positive social impact. Social impact shall be measured using a social impact score based on 5 criteria:

- The company's "intention and mission" criterion aims to identify whether the company has set itself a social mission and whether, in terms of
  economic and profit performance, it also combines a general interest purpose,
- The "work value" criterion focuses primarily on job creation, but also takes into account the quality of employment, climate and labour relations,
- The "social advancement" criterion focuses on equal opportunities, gender equality, job structure and skills development.
- The "sharing value added" criterion takes into account remunerations of production factors including the tax aspect (fair payment of taxes where production/activity is located),
- The "social inclusion" criterion analyses whether the company allows excluded populations to have access to certain essential goods and services, or provides them with better (economic, financial, material) means of subsistence.

To this end, the management team shall exclude from the Sub-Fund's Eligible Investment Universe, 20% of the equity securities with the lowest scores in terms of social impact, compared to the other equity securities that have been selected.

According to the Management Company's analysis, the Sub-Fund's total investments do not significantly impair any of its environmental and social objectives.

## OFI FUND – RS ACT4 POSITIVE ECONOMY IMPACT

This product promotes environmental or social characteristics, but the aim of this product is not to achieve sustainable investment.

The aim of this product is to achieve sustainable investment. Sustainable investment means an investment in an economic activity that contributes to an environmental or social objective, provided that such investments do not significantly harm any of those objectives and that the investee companies follow good governance practices.

#### 1/ How Sustainability Risks are integrated into product investment decisions

In order to integrate all Sustainability Risks into this UCI's investment process, the Company has different methods at its disposal:

An analysis of the following three criteria is carried out on the basis of an internal methodology:

- Environmental: Climate Change Natural Resources Project Financing Toxic Waste Green Products
- Social: Human Capital Supply Chain Goods and Services
- Governance: Governance Structure Behaviour

Each issuer is therefore given an ESG score which makes it possible to assess its non-financial practices and to classify it within each sector of the investment universe.

For each Issuer, an analysis is carried out both in terms of its governance structure: Respect for the rights of minority shareholders – Composition and functioning of Boards or Committees, Remuneration of Executives, Accounts, Audit and Taxation, as well as in terms of its Market Behaviour: Business Practices, Market Impact, Business Ethics and Risk Control.

The results of these analyses ensure the keeping or disposal of an issuer in the Sub-Fund's portfolio.

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

For each sector of the investment universe, 20% of issuers with the poorest scores are removed.

Issuers are selected from among those with the best ESG practices in their sector.

Controversies that may affect the relationship or impact on one of the issuer's stakeholders are monitored and analysed. They may concern: customers, investors, regulators, suppliers, civil society, employees or the issuer's environment. Details can be found in the Transparency Code. Controversies shall be assessed, at five levels, in relation to their intensity and their dissemination (over time and/in or space) and the measures taken, where appropriate, by the company to remedy this: Negligible, Low, Medium, High, Very High. No position will be initiated in the securities of an issuer with controversies rated "high or "very high".

Companies that do not benefit from an ESG analysis may not exceed 10% of the net assets of the portfolio.

#### 2/ The results of the assessment of the likely impacts of Sustainability Risks on the returns of the financial products

Sustainability Risks are primarily related to climate events resulting from climate change (known as physical risks), the ability of companies to respond to climate change (known as transition risks) and which may result in unanticipated losses affecting the Sub-Fund's investments and financial performance. Social events (inequalities, labour relations, investment in human capital, accident prevention, changes in consumer behaviour, etc.) or governance gaps (recurrent and significant breach of international agreements, corruption, product quality and safety and sales practices) can also translate into Sustainability Risks.

3/ If a benchmark index is identified, information on how this index is aligned with the Sub-Fund's sustainable investment objective

To date, the Sub-Fund's benchmark index is not aligned with its sustainable investment objective.

4/ Information on why and how the designated index differs from a broad market index

#### Not applicable

5/ Information on where to find the methodology used to calculate indices:

The methodology used to calculate the index is available at: https://www.stoxx.com

#### 6/ In the absence of a benchmark index, information on how the Sub-Fund's sustainable investment objective must be achieved

Although the Sub-Fund does not currently have an index aligned with the sustainable investment objective, it is nevertheless pursuing a strategy to promote private issuers engaged in virtuous growth by selecting responsible companies committed to the positive economy.

The Sub-Fund will select companies with good potential performance and contributing to "the positive economy" through the SDGs set by the United Nations in 2015.

Companies' contribution to the positive economy is assessed based on the proportion of turnover generated on activities targeting the four themes of the positive economy (energy transition, conservation of natural resources, health and safety, well-being and social inclusion), with a view to contributing to the SDGs. Around 60 activities are listed, grouped around four key themes of the positive economy, in order to target a social and environmental impact.

The Investment Manager shall only invest in equity securities of companies which generate at least 20% of their turnover based on one of the four themes listed above, in order to generate a positive social and environmental impact.

In order to accurately quantify the positive contribution of companies to the SDGs and the assessment of impacts, each value is subject to a thorough analysis of its activity in relation to the indicators provided by the SDGs.

All values that can be selected after a fundamental analysis will therefore respond to:

- One of the 4 main targeted themes of the positive economy
- A positive contribution to the SDGs, mainly seen in terms of turnover contribution and impact indicator that allow an assessment of the positive impact of this activity
- A level of engagement formalised through a committed "mission/intention" and/or strong referencing of the SDGs in their strategy.

The Sub-Fund promotes engagement and dialogue with companies concerning their social engagement, both in terms of the impact of activities on society and the environment and also concerning their CSR performance and how they take ESG criteria into account in their practices.

The following are also excluded:

- Companies carrying out excluded activities, such as activities relating to controversial weapons (producers of controversial weapons and/or their essential components, turnover of €1), conventional weapons (producers of conventional weapons and/or their essential components > 5% turnover), uranium extraction (turnover > 5%), nuclear power plant operators and/or manufacturers of essential components for nuclear power plants (turnover > 5%), nuclear power plants (turnover of €1), coal generation (turnover > 25%), Oil sands (> 5% turnover), Fracking (> 5% turnover).

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

- As well as companies carrying out activities that do not comply with the theme, such as tobacco production (turnover of €1), gambling (products or services >10% turnover) and alcohol production (> 10% turnover).

According to the Management Company's analysis, the Sub-Fund's total investments do not significantly impair any of its environmental and social objectives.

# > OFI FUND – RS ACTIONS EUROPÉENNES

As the Sub-Fund OFI FUND – RS ACTIONS EUROPEENNES is the Feeder of the Master Sub-Fund OFI FUND – RS ACT 4 POSITIVE ECONOMY, it has the same sustainable investment objective as its Master Sub-Fund.

This product promotes environmental or social characteristics, but the aim of this product is not to achieve sustainable investment.

The aim of this product is to achieve sustainable investment. Sustainable investment means an investment in an economic activity that contributes to an environmental or social objective, provided that such investments do not significantly harm any of those objectives and that the investee companies follow good governance practices.

# 1/ How Sustainability Risks are integrated into product investment decisions

In order to integrate all Sustainability Risks into this UCI's investment process, the Company has different methods at its disposal:

An analysis of the following three criteria is carried out on the basis of an internal methodology:

- Environmental: Climate Change Natural Resources Project Financing Toxic Waste Green Products
- Social: Human Capital Supply Chain Goods and Services
- Governance: Governance Structure Behaviour

Each issuer is therefore given an ESG score which makes it possible to assess its non-financial practices and to classify it within each sector of the investment universe.

For each Issuer, an analysis is carried out both in terms of its governance structure: Respect for the rights of minority shareholders – Composition and functioning of Boards or Committees, Remuneration of Executives, Accounts, Audit and Taxation, as well as in terms of its Market Behaviour: Business Practices, Market Impact, Business Ethics and Risk Control.

The results of these analyses ensure the keeping or disposal of an issuer in the Sub-Fund's portfolio.

For each sector of the investment universe, 20% of issuers with the poorest scores are removed.

Issuers are selected from among those with the best ESG practices in their sector.

Controversies that may affect the relationship or impact on one of the issuer's stakeholders are monitored and analysed. They may concern: customers, investors, regulators, suppliers, civil society, employees or the issuer's environment. Details can be found in the Transparency Code. Controversies shall be assessed, at five levels, in relation to their intensity and their dissemination (over time and/in or space) and the measures taken, where appropriate, by the company to remedy this: Negligible, Low, Medium, High, Very High. No position will be initiated in the securities of an issuer with controversies rated "high or "very high".

Companies that do not benefit from an ESG analysis may not exceed 10% of the net assets of the portfolio.

### 2/ The results of the assessment of the likely impacts of Sustainability Risks on the returns of the financial products

Sustainability Risks are primarily related to climate events resulting from climate change (known as physical risks), the ability of companies to respond to climate change (known as transition risks) and which may result in unanticipated losses affecting the Sub-Fund's investments and financial performance. Social events (inequalities, labour relations, investment in human capital, accident prevention, changes in consumer behaviour, etc.) or governance gaps (recurrent and significant breach of international agreements, corruption, product quality and safety and sales practices) can also translate into Sustainability Risks.

#### 3/ If a benchmark index is identified, information on how this index is aligned with the Sub-Fund's sustainable investment objective

To date, the Sub-Fund's benchmark index is not aligned with its sustainable investment objective.

#### 4/ Information on why and how the designated index differs from a broad market index

#### Not applicable

5/ Information on where to find the methodology used to calculate indices:

The methodology used to calculate the index is available at: https://www.stoxx.com

### 6/ In the absence of a benchmark index, information on how the Sub-Fund's sustainable investment objective must be achieved

Although the Sub-Fund does not currently have an index aligned with the sustainable investment objective, it is nevertheless pursuing a strategy to promote private issuers engaged in virtuous growth by selecting responsible companies committed to the positive economy.

The Sub-Fund will select companies with good potential performance and contributing to "the positive economy" through the SDGs set by the United Nations in 2015.

Companies' contribution to the positive economy is assessed based on the proportion of turnover generated on activities targeting the four themes of the positive economy (energy transition, conservation of natural resources, health and safety, well-being and social inclusion), with a view to contributing to the SDGs. Around 60 activities are listed, grouped around four key themes of the positive economy, in order to target a social and environmental impact.

The Investment Manager shall only invest in equity securities of companies which generate at least 20% of their turnover based on one of the four themes listed above, in order to generate a positive social and environmental impact.

In order to accurately quantify the positive contribution of companies to the SDGs and the assessment of impacts, each value is subject to a thorough analysis of its activity in relation to the indicators provided by the SDGs.

All values that can be selected after a fundamental analysis will therefore respond to:

- One of the 4 main targeted themes of the positive economy
- A positive contribution to the SDGs, mainly seen in terms of turnover contribution and impact indicator that allow an assessment of the positive impact of this activity
- A level of engagement formalised through a committed "mission/intention" and/or strong referencing of the SDGs in their strategy.

The Sub-Fund promotes engagement and dialogue with companies concerning their social engagement, both in terms of the impact of activities on society and the environment and also concerning their CSR performance and how they take ESG criteria into account in their practices.

The following are also excluded:

- Companies carrying out excluded activities, such as activities relating to controversial weapons (producers of controversial weapons and/or their essential components, turnover of €1), conventional weapons (producers of conventional weapons and/or their essential components > 5% turnover), uranium extraction (turnover > 5%), nuclear power plant operators and/or manufacturers of essential components for nuclear power plants (turnover > 5%), nuclear power plant operators (turnover of €1), coal generation (turnover > 25%), Oil sands (> 5% turnover), Fracking (> 5% turnover).
- As well as companies carrying out activities that do not comply with the theme, such as tobacco production (turnover of €1), gambling (products or services >10% turnover) and alcohol production (> 10% turnover).

According to the Management Company's analysis, the Sub-Fund's total investments do not significantly impair any of its environmental and social objectives.

# I. "ARTICLE 6" DISCLOSURE ANNEX

#### 1/ How Sustainability Risks are integrated into investment decisions

The Sub-Fund does not promote any particular environmental and/or social characteristics, nor does it pursue a specific sustainability objective (environmental and/or social).

In respect of OFI FUND – Euro Breakeven Inflation, the investment process takes into account the solvency risk of three sovereign issuers, which are Germany, France and Italy, and selects bond issues for their inflation related characteristics. Therefore, Sustainability Risks are not taken into account in the investment decisions nor in the risk monitoring because an extra-financial analysis based on sectoral exclusion and/or the reduction of the investment universe on the basis of an ESG analysis has no impact on the potential reduction of Sustainability Risks that the strategy may generate.

2/ The results of the assessment of the likely impacts of Sustainability Risks on the returns of the financial products, if Sustainability Risks are integrated into investment decisions

Sustainability Risks are primarily related to climate events resulting from climate change (known as physical risks), the ability of companies to respond to climate change (known as transition risks) and which may result in unanticipated losses affecting the Sub-Fund's investments and financial performance. Social events (inequalities, labour relations, investment in human capital, accident prevention, changes in consumer behaviour, etc.) or governance gaps (recurrent and significant breach of international agreements, corruption, product quality and safety and sales practices) can also translate into Sustainability Risks.

In respect of OFI FUND – Euro Breakeven Inflation, since Sustainability Risks are not integrated into investment decisions, no assessment of the likely impacts of Sustainability Risks on its returns has been made.

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

# **APPENDIX 3**

# **INVESTMENT MANAGERS**

# OFI FUND – RS Global Convertible Bond

OFI Asset Management 20-22, rue Vernier 75017 Paris - France

# **OFI FUND – Euro Breakeven Inflation**

OFI Asset Management 20-22, rue Vernier 75017 Paris - France

# OFI FUND - RS Act4 Social Impact

OFI Asset Management 20-22, rue Vernier 75017 Paris - France

# OFI FUND – RS Act4 Positive Economy

OFI Asset Management 20-22, rue Vernier 75017 Paris - France

### OFI FUND – RS Actions Européennes OFI Asset Management

20-22, rue Vernier 75017 Paris - France

# PROSPECTUS – MARCH 2021 OFI FUND

# **APPENDIX 4**

**APPLICATION FORM**